# EFFECTS OF TELOMERASE ACTIVATORS ON MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY-PRODUCING CELL LINES AND STEM CELLS, AND THEIR UTILIZATION IN INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTIONS

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate School of Engineering and Sciences of İzmir Institute of Technology in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

### **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY**

in Biotechnology and Bioengineering

by Gülten KURU

January 2024 İZMİR We approve the thesis of Gülten KURU

#### **Examining Committee Members**

**Prof. Dr. Erdal BEDİR** Department of Bioengineering İzmir Institute of Technology

**Prof. Dr. Engin ÖZÇİVİCİ** Department of Bioengineering İzmir Institute of Technology

**Prof. Dr. Pinar AKAN** Department of Medical Biochemistry Dokuz Eylül University

## Prof. Dr. Petek BALLAR KIRMIZIBAYRAK

Department of Pharmacy Ege University

#### Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ozan KARAMAN

Department of Biomedical Engineering İzmir Kâtip Çelebi University

19 January 2024

**Prof. Dr. Erdal BEDİR** Supervisor, Department of Bioengineering İzmir Institute of Technology

#### Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sinan GÜVEN

Co-advisor, İzmir Biomedicine and Genome Center Dokuz Eylül University

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ali Oğuz BÜYÜKKİLECİ Head of the Department of Biotechnology and Bioengineering

**Prof. Dr. Mehtap EANES** Dean of the Graduate School of Engineering and Sciences

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis would not have been completed without the guidance, encouragement, and support of several individuals who have contributed in various ways to complete this study; it is a pleasure to thank those who made it possible.

First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude to my advisor, Prof. Dr. Erdal BEDİR, for his continuous guidance and support. I also wish to thank my co-advisor, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sinan GÜVEN for all his valuable contributions. Besides, I offer my sincere appreciation to the rest of my thesis committee: Prof. Dr. Engin ÖZÇİVİCİ, Prof. Dr. Pinar AKAN, Prof. Dr. Petek BALLAR KIRMIZIBAYRAK, and Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ozan KARAMAN for their encouragement, insightful comments, and immense knowledge.

I would like to express my gratitude to all BEDIR Group members, particularly Dr. Melis KÜÇÜKSOLAK, Dr. Sinem YILMAZ, and Göklem ÜNER, and KARAMAN Group members Dr. Günnur PULAT and Dr. Ziyşan Buse YARALI ÇEVİK for sharing their knowledge and experiences. I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Çiğdem BİLGİ and Gamze DOĞAN for their excellent collaboration on a side project in which I gained valuable experience. I want to extend special thanks to my colleagues whom I feel supported all these years, Dr. Eyüp BİLGİ, Alper ŞAHİN, Ekin KESTEVUR DOĞRU, Gamze DOĞAN, M. Semih BAŞLAR, Öykü SARIGİL, and Tuğçe SAKALLI. Additionally, I would like to thank all the other research groups in the Bioengineering Department, particularly SÜRMELİ Group, ÖKSEL Group, ÇİVİCİ Group, and BULMUŞ Group, for all their help, sharing, and friendship.

I express my deepest gratitude to my beloved brother, M. Raşit KURU, and my parents, Tülin KURU and Orhan KURU, for their understanding, love, and support. Without your support, this thesis would not have been completed.

I want to acknowledge the support of the Council of Higher Education PhD Scholarship 100/2000 program in Biotechnology. The financial support provided by The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (119Z870 and 122M190) and İzmir Institute of Technology Research Fund (2021IYTE-1-0086) are gratefully acknowledged. I thank The Biotechnology and Bioengineering Research Center (İzmir Institute of Technology) and the Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center (Ege University) for equipment support.

## ABSTRACT

### EFFECTS OF TELOMERASE ACTIVATORS ON MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY-PRODUCING CELL LINES AND STEM CELLS, AND THEIR UTILIZATION IN INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTIONS

Aging is a physiological and multifactorial biological process of functional decline in any living organism. Telomere shortening, high levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and cellular senescence are the primary physiological changes that accompany aging. While there has been an increase in human life expectancy in recent decades, there has not been a concomitant increase in healthy aging. Degenerative diseases, including musculoskeletal disorders such as osteoporosis and osteoarthritis, have been found to be directly linked to aging. Age-related degenerative diseases are devastating diseases that cause millions of deaths worldwide each year and place an economic and psychological burden on society. Due to the ever-increasing number of patients, there is a huge demand for novel therapeutic approaches to treat degenerative diseases. Two main approaches are at the forefront of technology for the treatment of degenerative diseases: stem cell transplantation (regenerative medicine) and monoclonal antibody-based therapy. Indeed, it is well known that there is a strong correlation between disease pathology and telomeres. In fact, the possible therapeutic effects of telomerase activation have been evaluated in diverse backgrounds to cure and prevent various diseases. Within the scope of this thesis, we aim to investigate the effects of telomerase activator novel molecules from Astragalus sp., obtained in our previous studies by biotransformation of cycloastragenol (CG) via the plant's endophytic fungi on the health span/lifespan of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) during in vitro expansion and their osteogenic differentiation. Additionally, the efficacy of these compounds was investigated in the monoclonal antibody (mAb) production process in terms of mAb productivity. Based on the outcomes of the study, novel telomerase activators deriving from natural resources of our country have significant potential in stem cell research, thus regenerative medicine, since promising results were obtained for the clinical use of these novel molecules. Our data also suggest that molecules simultaneously promote osteogenic differentiation and telomerase activation.

## ÖZET

## TELOMERAZ AKTİVATÖRLERİNİN ENDÜSTRİYEL ÜRETİMLERDE KULLANIMLARI, MONOKLONAL ANTİKOR ÜRETEN HÜCRE HATLARI VE KÖK HÜCRELER ÜZERİNE ETKİLERİ

Yaşlanma, fonksiyonel gerilemenin yaşandığı fizyolojik ve çok faktörlü biyolojik bir süreç olup her canlı organizmayı etkilemektedir. Telomer kısalması, yüksek düzeyde reaktif oksijen türleri (ROS) ve hücresel yaşlanma, yaşlanmaya eşlik eden başlıca fizyolojik değişikliklerdir. Son yıllarda insan ömrü beklentisinde bir artış olmasına rağmen, sağlıklı yaşlanmada eş zamanlı bir artış olmadığı görülmektedir. Osteoporoz ve osteoartrit gibi kas-iskelet sistemi rahatsızlıkları da dahil olmak üzere dejeneratif hastalıkların yaşlanmayla doğrudan bağlantılı olduğu tespit edilmiştir. Yaşa bağlı dejeneratif hastalıklar, her yıl dünya çapında milyonlarca kişinin ölümüne neden olan ve toplum üzerinde ekonomik ve psikolojik bir yük oluşturan yıkıcı hastalıklardır. Giderek artan hasta sayısı, dejeneratif hastalıkları tedavi etmek için yeni terapötik yaklaşımlara büyük bir talep oluşturmaktadır. Dejeneratif hastalıkların tedavisi için uygulanan güncel teknolojide iki ana yaklaşım ön plana çıkmaktadır: kök hücre nakli (rejeneratif tıp) ve monoklonal antikor bazlı tedavi. Diğer yandan, hastalık patolojisi ile telomerler arasında güçlü bir korelasyon olduğu bilinmektedir. Bu nedenle, telomeraz aktivasyonunun olası terapötik etkileri, çeşitli hastalıkları iyileştirmek ve önlemek için birçok hastalık için değerlendirilmiştir. Bu tez kapsamında, daha önceki çalışmalarımızda sikloastragenolün (CG) bitkinin kendi endofitik fungusları ile biyotransformasyonu ile elde edilen Astragalus sp. kaynaklı telomeraz aktivatörü yeni moleküllerin mezenkimal kök hücrelerin (MKH) in vitro çoğalma ve osteojenik farklılaşmaları sırasında sağlık süreleri/yaşam süreleri üzerindeki etkilerinin araştırılması amaçlanmıştır. Ayrıca, bu bileşiklerin monoklonal antikor (mAb) üretim sürecindeki etkinliği mAb verimliliği açısından araştırılmıştır. Çalışmalar kapsamında elde edilen sonuçlar, ülkemizin doğal kaynaklarından elde edilen yeni telomeraz aktivatörlerinin, osteojenik farklılaşmayı ve telomeraz aktivasyonunu eş zamanlı olarak desteklediğini göstermekte, kök hücre araştırmalarında ve dolayısıyla rejeneratif tıpta önemli bir potansiyele sahip olduğu gösterilmiştir.

Dedicated to my family, with love.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIST OF FIGURES x
LIST OF TABLES
ABBREVIATIONS
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION 1
1.1. Aging and Degenerative Diseases1
1.2. Bone Tissue: Structure and Function
1.2.1. Bone Cells
1.2.2. Bone Extracellular Matrix
1.2.2.1. Inorganic Matrix
1.2.2.2. Organic Matrix
1.2.3. Bone Remodeling and Homeostasis10
1.3. Therapeutic Treatment Approaches16
1.3.1. Stem Cells
1.3.2. Monoclonal Antibodies19
1.3.2.1. Monoclonal Antibody Production
1.4. Telomere and Telomerase
1.4.1. Telomere-Independent (non-canonical) Functions of Telomerase
and Telomere-Related Proteins
1.4.2. Relation Between Telomere/Telomerase and Degenerative
Diseases27
1.4.3. Telomerase Activator: Small Molecules from Natural Sources 29
1.5. Aim of The Thesis
CHAPTER 2. SELF-RENEWAL, SENESCENCE CONDITION AND THE
OSTEOGENIC POTENTIAL OF HUMAN ADIPOSE-DERIVED
MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS DURING EXTENSIVE SUB-
CULTIVATION
2.1. Background
2.2. Materials and Methods

	2.2.1. Cell Culture	. 38
	2.2.2. Molecules and Treatment	. 39
	2.2.3. Cell Viability	. 39
	2.2.4. Wound Repair (in vitro Scratch Assay)	. 40
	2.2.5. Growth Kinetics	.41
	2.2.6. Population Doubling Level	. 42
	2.2.7. β-Galactosidase Staining	. 42
	2.2.8. Osteogenic Differentiation	. 43
	2.2.9. Immunoblotting	. 43
	2.2.10. Statistical Analysis	. 44
	2.3. Results	. 45
	2.3.1. The Effects on the Proliferation of MSCs	. 45
	2.3.2. Wound Healing	. 46
	2.3.3. Growth Kinetics and Senescence Condition of MSCs	. 49
	2.3.4. Population Doubling Length	. 50
	2.3.5. β-Galactosidase Staining	. 54
	2.3.6. Osteogenic Differentiation	. 59
	2.4. Discussion	. 60
	2.5. Conclusion	. 64
CHAPTER 3.	. EVALUATION OF THE EFFECTS OF TELOMERASE ACTIVATOR	S
	ON OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION OF HUMAN ADIPOSE	3-
	DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS	. 65
	3.1. Background	. 65
	3.2. Materials and Methods	. 67
	3.2.1. Osteogenic Differentiation	. 67
	3.2.1.1. Alizarin Red S Staining and Quantification	. 67
	3.2.1.2. Calcium Assay	. 68
	3.2.1.3. Alkaline Phosphatase Activity Assay	. 69
	3.2.1.4. Immunofluorescence	. 69
	3.2.1.5 Telomerase Activity Assay	. 70
	3.2.2. Statistical Analysis	. 70
	3.3. Results	.71

3.3.1. Alizarin Red S Staining71
3.3.2. DNA Amount, ALP Activity and Total Calcium Content
3.3.3. Immunofluorescence
3.3.4. Telomerase Activity
3.4. Discussion
3.5. Conclusion
CHAPTER 4. EVALUATION OF THE EFFECT OF CYCLOASTRAGENOL ON THE
PRODUCTIVITY OF MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY PRODUCING
CHINESE HAMSTER OVARY CELLS
4.1. Background88
4.2. Materials and Methods90
4.2.1. Cell line and Culture90
4.2.2. Growth Kinetics of CHO-K190
4.2.3. Monoclonal Antibody Production
4.2.4. The enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)
4.2.5. Statistical Analysis
4.3. Results
4.3.1. Growth Kinetics of CHO-K192
4.3.2. mAb Production
4.4. Discussion
4.5. Conclusion
CHAPTER 5. CONCLUDING REMARKS 101
REFERENCES

# LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figure</u> Page
Figure 1.1. The schematic illustration of human skeleton parts
Figure 1.2. The simplified schematic representation of bone cell types
Figure 1.3. The schematic illustration of human long bone cross section
Figure 1.4. The structural components of bone micro- to nano-scale
Figure 1.5. The extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins involved in bone formation,
remodeling and homeostasis. ECM proteins modulating osteoblast and
osteocyte (a), and osteoclast (b) formation, maturation and
transformation through various signaling pathways9
Figure 1.6. The schematic illustration of the bone remodeling 11
Figure 1.7. The stages of osteoporosis
Figure 1.8. The RANK/RANKL/OPG signaling pathway in bone remodeling cycle $^{80}$ 13 $$
Figure 1.9. The RANK/RANKL/OPG signaling pathway in bone remodeling cycle
through osteoimmunology14
Figure 1.10. The BMP, Wnt, FGF, PTHrP and TGF- $\beta$ signaling pathways and crosstalk
between these during skeletal development and bone remodeling
Figure 1.11. The chart of common CHO lineages
Figure 1.12. The illustration of the telomere and telomere loop
Figure 1.13. The main components of the human telomerase (hTERT, hTERC,
Dyskerin, NOP10, NHP2, GAR1, TCAB1); and functional regions of
hTERC (template, pseudoknot, CR4-CR5, Box H/ACA, and CR7)24
Figure 1.14. The simplified illustration of the human telomere, the shelterin complex
proteins (RAP1, TIN2, POT1, TPP1, TRF1, TRF2) and hexamer26
Figure 1.15. Dysfunctional telomerase causes telomere-induced senescence and
contributes to cancer and/or degenerative diseases due to genomic
instability

## **Figure**

## <u>Page</u>

Figure 1.16. The telomere shortening continues lifelong and may accelerate due to
genetic or environmental factors (upper left). The supplementation of
telomerase activator small molecules can restore/ameliorate telomerase
function by targeting aging hallmarks (lower left), protecting tissues and
organs and providing healthy aging (upper right) and longer life span
(lower right)
Figure 1.17. The chemical structures of cycloastragenol and astragaloside IV31
Figure 1.18. The chemical structure of trans-resveratrol
Figure 1.19. The chemical structure of curcumin
Figure 1.20. The chemical structure of oleanolic acid
Figure 1.21. The chemical structure of quercetin
Figure 2.1. Chemical structures of the telomerase activator molecules used in the
studies
Figure 2.2. Effect of CG and E-CG-01 molecules on cell proliferation (concentration
range 0.5 - 1000 nM, 48 h treatment). Error bars mean $\pm$ standard
deviation $(n = 3)$ (significant differences were determined by one-way
analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's test) and significance
levels are presented as *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ***p < 0.0001
compared to vehicle control, DMSO45
Figure 2.3. Effect of E-AG-01 and E-AG-02 molecules on cell proliferation
(concentration range 0.5 - 1000 nM, 48 h treatment). Error bars mean $\pm$
standard deviation $(n = 3)$ (significant differences were determined by
one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's test) and
significance levels are presented as $p < 0.05$ , $p < 0.01$ , $p < 0.001$ , $p < 0.001$ ,
***p < 0.0001 compared to vehicle control, DMSO
Figure 2.4. Effects of CG on in vitro wound healing. Error bars mean ± standard
deviation $(n = 3)$ (significant differences were determined by one-way
ANOVA, Tukey's test, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ***p<0.0001

#### Figure

Figure 2.6. Effects of E-AG-01 on in vitro wound healing. Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3) (significant differences were determined by one-way ANOVA, Tukey's test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.001</p>

- Figure 2.7. Effects of E-AG-02 on in vitro wound healing. Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3) (significant differences were determined by one-way ANOVA, Tukey's test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.001 ns: not statistically significant compared to vehicle control, DMSO....... 48</p>

#### Page

Figure 2.16.	Light microscopy images of $\beta$ -gal stained MSCs at P15 via sub-cultivation	
	with continuous CG treatment. Micrographs represent randomly selected	
	3 replicates for each condition	5

- Figure 2.21. The images of AR-S stained MSCs at P15 via sub-cultivation with or without continuous compound treatment for 21 days. Serial passaging without treatment (A) serial passaging with continuous molecule (1 to 1000 nM) treatment (B). Non-diff. and DMSO controls represent undifferentiated control group and vehicle control group, respectively.... 60

- Figure 3.4. Effect of CG on DNA amount (A), ALP activity (B) and calcium content (C) during osteogenic differentiation. Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3) (significant differences were determined by one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA, Sidak test), \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.0001 compared to vehicle control, DMSO .........73</p>

- Figure 3.8. The images of ARS staining of differentiated (left) and non-differentiated (right) MSC at 21 days of incubation for immunofluorescence staining (objective 4x, scale bars left 500 μm and right 200 μm)......77

#### <u>Figure</u>

- Figure 3.12. Immunofluorescence staining images from the third week of differentiation (100 μM treatment). OCN (green) and cell nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue) (20x objective, scale 50 μm).......81

Figure 3.13. Effects of molecules on relative telomerase activity (RTA) during osteogenic differentiation. Error bars mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (n = 3). 82

# LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
Table 2.1. Preparation of resolving and stacking gels	44
Table 3.2. Relative telomerase activity (RTA) during osteogenic differentiation	83

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

AG	Astragenol
ALP	Alkaline Phosphatase
BCA	Bicinchoninic Acid
BMPs	Bone Morphogenetic Proteins
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
BSP	Bone Sialoprotein
Ca	Calcium
CED	Camurati–Engelmann Disease
c-Fms	Colony Stimulating Factor-1 Receptor (CSF-1R)
CG	Cycloastragenol
CHOs	Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells
CMPs	Common myeloid progenitors
COL-1	Collagen Type-I
CPC	Cetylpyridinium Chloride
DAPI	4',6-Diamidino-2-Phenylindole
ddH <sub>2</sub> O	Double Distilled Water
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMP1	Dentin Matrix Protein-1
DMSO	Dimethyl Sulfoxide
DSPP	Dentin Sialophosphoprotein
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
EGF	Epidermal Growth Factor
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay
Erk	Extracellular Signal Regulated Kinase
ESC	Embryonic Stem Cell
EtOH	Ethanol
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum

FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor
FITC	Fluorescein Isothiocyanate
$H_2O_2$	Hydrogen Peroxide
$H_2SO_4$	Sulfuric Acid
НА	Hydroxyapatite
hAD-MSC	Human Adipose Tissue Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cell
HER2	human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HSCs	Hematopoietic stem cells
hTERC	Human Telomerase RNA Component
hTERT	Human Telomerase Reverse Transcriptase
IGFs	Insulin-like Growth Factors
IL	Interleukin
iPSC	Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell
IVD	Intravertebral Disc Degeneration
JAKs	Janus Kinases
KPB	Potassium Phosphate Buffer
LDS	Loeys–Dietz Syndrome
L-Gln	L-Glutamine
mAb	Monoclonal Antibody
МАРК	Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase
M-CSF	Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor
MeOH	Methanol
MEPE	Matrix Extracellular Phosphoglycoprotein
MFS	Marfan Syndrome
MMPs	Matrix Metalloproteinases
MSC	Mesenchymal Stem Cell
mTOR	Mammalian Target of Rapamycin
mtRNA	Mitochondrial RNA
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
NCPs	Non-collagenous Proteins
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa B

OA	Osteoarthritis
OCN	Osteocalcin
OI	Osteogenesis Imperfecta
ON	Osteonectin
OP	Osteoporosis
OPG	Osteoprogerin
OPN	Osteopontin
OPPG	Osteoporosis Pseudoglioma Syndrome
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
<i>p</i> NPP	4-nitrophenyl phosphate
РТН	Parathyroid Hormone
PTHrP	Parathyroid Hormone-related Peptide
RA	Rheumatoid Arthritis
RANKL	Receptor Activator of NF-KB Ligand
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
Runx2	Runt-related Transcription Factor 2
SDS-PAGE	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
SIBLINGs	Small Integrin-binding Ligand N-linked Glycoproteins
Smad	Mothers Against Decapentaplegic Homolog
STAT	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription
TGF-β	Transforming Growth Factor Beta
TL	Telomere Length
TNF-α	Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha
TSP	Thrombospondin
UPW	Ultrapure Water
Wnt	Wingless-type Mouse Mammary Tumor Virus Integration Site
	Family
WST-1	4-[3-(4iodophenyl)-2-(4-nitrophenyl)-2H-5-tetrazolio] 1,3-
	benzene disulfonate
X-gal	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-beta-D-galacto-pyranoside
β-gal	Beta-galactosidase

## **CHAPTER 1**

### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1. Aging and Degenerative Diseases**

Aging is a physiological and multifactorial biological process of declining functions of every living organism. While there has been an increase in human life expectancy over the past few decades, there has not been an increase in healthy aging. Degenerative diseases such as musculoskeletal disorders, including osteoporosis and osteoarthritis, cardiovascular diseases and neurodegenerative diseases, as well as metabolic disease, have been directly linked to age <sup>1-2</sup>. It is possible to increase the number of examples of degenerative diseases, which are devastating diseases causing millions of deaths worldwide every year. Age-related degenerative diseases have become an economic and psychological burden for the community.

In order to identify the potential therapeutic targets for the attenuation of the pathogenesis aging process, numerous research has been carried out. Multiple biochemical and genetic pathways, including epigenetic deregulations, were found to involve aging pathogenesis, and the hallmarks of aging primarily include telomere shortening, genomic instability, mitochondrial dysfunction, loss of proteases, increased senescence, and stem cell exhaustion <sup>3-6</sup>.

Many drug candidates are registered for clinical trials every year for the treatment of degenerative diseases. Still, most of them are discontinued after phase II trials because of a lack of proof between drug and placebo controls <sup>7</sup>. Although there are several outcomes for the treatment of degenerative diseases, even FDA-approved drugs, and other candidates only promise to slow down the disease, but they are still not curative. Obviously, there is still a need for novel methodologies for the treatment of these diseases. Therefore, many studies have focused on understanding the aging process to prevent or treat age-related diseases rather than treatment since the aging process is irreversible. Since it is well known that telomere length (TL) decreases with age, telomere/telomerase has drawn attention as a potential player in these types of disorders. As a result, extensive studies have indeed shown that there is a link between telomere shortening and several age-related diseases.

On the other hand, the human body can regenerate damaged tissues and organs. But endogenous renewal process is limited and almost all degenerative diseases progressively spread to adjacent tissue <sup>8</sup>. Therefore, stem cell therapy for regenerative medicine is a practical approach for contributing to the complete repair of damaged or lost tissues. From this point of view, within the scope of this thesis, we focused on the efficacy of telomerase activator small molecules on the biological characteristics of stem cells and their osteoblastic differentiation to address their potential usage in regenerative medicine along with stem cells for the treatment of osteodegenerative diseases since bone-associated disorders a significant influence on the population worldwide. Indeed, it has been found that there is a strong correlation observed between osteodegeneration and short telomeres/telomerase deficiency <sup>9</sup>.

#### **1.2. Bone Tissue: Structure and Function**

Bone tissue, one of the connective tissues, is a multifunctional tissue which is functioning by coordination with other tissues. The bone is one of the strongest biological materials particularly in bearing weight. The bone is the main supporting tissue in the body that builds the majority of the skeletal system, provides movement of the body, protects soft tissues, and contains blood-producing cells. There are two subgroups of the skeleton: axial skeleton (skull, vertebral column, ribs and sternum) and appendicular skeleton (upper and lower limbs). The skeleton of human infants has 270 bones. However, the number decreases to 206 to 213 bones by adulthood as a result of the fusion of some bones (Figure 1.1) <sup>10</sup>. Bones are usually classified according to their shape and size: flat bone (e.g., clavicle-collarbone), long bone (e.g., femur), sesamoid bone (e.g., patella-kneecap), and short bone (e.g., talus) <sup>11-12</sup>.

The skeletal system is a multifunctional system; beyond its mechanical functions, together with other connective tissues, it orchestrates physiologically critical functions as an endocrine organ; it protects the mineral (mainly calcium and phosphorus) balance, provides nutrient homeostasis and protects from acidosis <sup>13-15</sup>. The adult bones can be divided into two groups as: spongy bones and compact, or cortical, bones according to their porosities and densities <sup>16</sup>. Bone marrow is found primarily in the long bones. It fills spongy bones and is mainly responsible for hemopoiesis (production of blood cells and cell components) by providing the necessary nutrients and growth factors <sup>17-18</sup>. Bones are composed of special cell types embedded in a unique extracellular matrix (ECM), which consists of numerous inorganic and organic components <sup>19</sup>.



Figure 1.1. The schematic illustration of human skeleton parts

#### 1.2.1. Bone Cells

In order to maintain bone homeostasis, the cells of the bone communicate intensely with each other and act in response to the chemical and mechanical changes in their microenvironment. Due to the fact that dysregulation of the functions of these cells results in various bone diseases, a better understanding of defining the mechanisms of bone formation, remodeling, and regeneration is crucial for developing novel therapeutic approaches  $^{20}$ . The primary cells of bone tissue are osteoprogenitor (or osteogenic) cells, osteocytes, osteoblasts, and osteoclasts (Figure 1.2), which are regulated by numerous signaling molecules and work together to form both the organic and inorganic composition of the bone tissue. Bone development and remodeling is a complex process that begins early in embryogenesis and continues throughout lifespan, with compositional changes with age  $^{21-22}$ .



Figure 1.2. The simplified schematic representation of bone cell types

Osteogenic cells are the stem cells that originate from the local periosteum and are capable of self-renewal and differentiate into chondrocytes, osteoblasts, and marrow stromal cells or adipocytes *in vitro* <sup>23-24</sup>. Osteogenic cells form pre-osteoblasts and, eventually, osteoblasts, the primary cell type of bone responsible for bone growth by synthesizing the unique bone ECM. In the human body, osteoblasts have a short lifespan (three months in human bones); therefore, pre-osteoblasts are constantly ready to differentiate into osteoblasts in order to maintain bone tissue <sup>25</sup>.

In addition to osteoblasts, the osteoblastic lineage includes osteocytes and bonelining cells. Osteoblasts secrete an organic matrix of bone (osteoid). Once they complete this function, 50-70% of these cells either become osteocytes by entrapped in the bone matrix or converted into bone-lining cells and remain on the surface of the bone. The remaining osteoblasts undergo apoptosis <sup>26</sup>. Osteocytes -mature bone cells- are osteoblasts that are trapped in the mineralized bone matrix and lose most of the cytoplasmic organelles <sup>27</sup>. The most abundant cell component of mammalian bones (95% of all bone cells) are osteocytes, which are located in special holes called lacuna and communicate with each other and reach blood supply from the haversian canal through the canaliculus (Figure 1.3) <sup>28</sup>. Bone-lining cells are inactive quiescent cells located on the bone surface as a source for active osteoblasts as well as stem cells <sup>29-30</sup>. The primary function of bone-lining cells is to remove demineralized matrix before bone formation by enwrapping and subsequently digesting collagen fibrils on the bone surface <sup>31-32</sup>.



Figure 1.3. The schematic illustration of human long bone cross section <sup>33</sup>

Osteoclasts are multinucleated cells that are responsible for the breakdown of mineralized matrixes for the initiation of bone remodeling. Osteoclasts differ from previously defined bone cells in terms of source lineage since they originate from the precursors belonging to the hematopoietic lineage <sup>34</sup>. Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) transform into multipotent progenitor cells, which further differentiate into oligopotent progenitor cells. Common myeloid progenitors (CMPs) are one of the several types of

these oligopotent progenitor cells and give rise to osteoclast progenitor cells <sup>35</sup>. After the formation of osteoclast precursors in the bone marrow, they circulate in the bloodstream and are activated by primarily RANK (receptor activator of NF- $\kappa$ B) / RANKL (RANK ligand) / OPG (osteoprotegerin) system <sup>36-37</sup>. RANKL is an essential stimulator of osteoclastogenesis and is produced by both osteocytes and osteoblasts. Osteoblasts also synthesize OPG, which inhibits osteoclastogenesis by acting as a decoy receptor for RANKL <sup>38</sup>. Once osteoclast precursors are activated, they attach to the bone surface, where the places tagged by osteocytes for remodeling, and fuse to form multinuclear osteoclast cells. Bone degradation via osteoclastic activity occurs lifelong for resorption of aged or damaged bone <sup>39-40</sup>. Osteoclasts are not only responsible for the breakdown of bone, as numerous studies have shown; they also influence osteoblastic activity and regulate the differentiation of osteoblast precursors <sup>41</sup>. Furthermore, osteoclasts regulate HCS movement between bone marrow and bloodstream <sup>42</sup>.

Each cell type of bone tissue has a specific role during the different stages of bone formation and remodeling process and responds according to the changes in the bone microenvironment. A variety of growth hormones, cytokines, chemokines, and external biomechanical stimuli orchestrate complex activities of bone cells, such as cellular activation, bone resorption, and matrix secretion, in order to maintain skeletal health. Bone homeostasis mainly depends on the balance between bone formation by osteoblasts and bone resorption by osteoclasts in a healthy bone under normal physiological conditions in the case. Disruption of this balance results in abnormal bone architecture and function and eventually leads to bone metabolic diseases such as osteoporosis.

#### **1.2.2. Bone Extracellular Matrix**

The bone matrix is a composite material composed of organic (or protein) and inorganic (or mineral) components. The composition of the bone matrix, including the bone cells, all together determine the mechanical properties of bone. The inorganic matrix provides bone strength and stiffness (the ability to resist deformation), while the organic matrix is responsible for toughness (energy absorption). The cellular part of bone constantly interacts with each other through the surrounding ECM and these interactions regulate cellular function via a variety of signal transduction pathways <sup>43-44</sup>. The structural components of bone matrix micro- to nanoscale are given in Figure 1.4.



Figure 1.4. The structural components of bone micro- to nano-scale <sup>33</sup>

Apart from the cells, the bone matrix is composed principally of collagen in the organic phase and calcium and phosphorus salts in the inorganic phase <sup>45-46</sup>. The hierarchical organization of bone ECM is the primary determinant of bone mechanical and physiological properties, and alterations of different ECM components could lead to impaired bone function and, thereby, various diseases. The overall bone mass, including both organic and inorganic matrix, accounts for 50 to 70% of bone strength. Additionally, mineral density and porosity, trabecular thickness and heterogeneity, type and degree of collagen cross-linking, crystal size, and crystallinity are important parameters determining the mechanical function of bone in terms of elasticity, plasticity, and bone strength (resistance to fracture) <sup>47-48</sup>. The development, maintenance, and function of bone tissue depend on the proper composition and organization of the bone matrix and are enabled by bone remodeling regulated by complex biochemical and physiological signals provided by the ECM. Thus, it is of great importance to consider the complex effects of ECM signaling for designing therapeutic strategies.

#### **1.2.2.1. Inorganic Matrix**

As mentioned previously, the inorganic (or mineral) phase of the bone matrix is composed of calcium and phosphorus salts, mainly hydroxyapatite (HA,  $Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6(OH)_2$  form. Due to its biocompatibility and efficient osteointegration property, HA is widely used as bone filling material and to cover bone and dental implant surfaces <sup>49</sup>. Mineralized matrix has different crystal density and composition according to the mechanical demands of bone. The mineralized matrix formation is regulated by ECM proteins, primarily type I collagen (COL-I) and alkaline phosphatase (ALP). Mineralization occurs as a result of the accumulation of calcium phosphate crystals produced by osteoblasts and deposited in COL-1 fibrils of the matrix. Hydroxyapatite crystals grow and aggregate during bone maturation. Among other matrix proteins, proteoglycans and matrix Gla-protein are also essential for bone mineralization. Furthermore, systemic hormones (e.g., parathyroid hormone (PTH)) and vitamin D are known to be responsible for mineral homeostasis via regulating the release and absorption of calcium and phosphorus from bone <sup>43, 50</sup>. Alterations in ECM components in different physiologic conditions are responsible for those changes for sufficient mechanical strength and stiffness. Inorganic matrix mainly determines the strength of the bone tissue, and systemically impaired mineralization results in bone disorders and increases the risk of fracture.

#### **1.2.2.2. Organic Matrix**

Most of the organic phase of bone ECM is composed of COL-I, corresponding to 85-90% of the total protein content. However, apart from being different from collagen, more than 100 proteins have been identified in bone ECM, including linking proteins such as fibronectin, laminin and nidogen. The amount of these matrix proteins differs and determines the final functional structure of the bone tissue with appropriate tensile strength and viscoelasticity.<sup>51-52</sup>. Furthermore, several growth factors, cytokines, and

proteinases are embedded into the ECM; the controlled release of these components regulates gene expression levels, which modulates cell signaling cascades <sup>53</sup>. Moreover, the intracellular cytoskeleton between cell surface receptors and ECM plays a crucial role in signal transduction to respond to external biomechanical stimuli. Altogether, the organic matrix regulates proliferation, differentiation, migration, survival and many other cellular processes <sup>54</sup>.



Figure 1.5. The extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins involved in bone formation, remodeling and homeostasis. ECM proteins modulating osteoblast and osteocyte (a), and osteoclast (b) formation, maturation and transformation through various signaling pathways <sup>55</sup>

Organic matrix proteins can be divided into collagenous proteins and noncollagenous proteins. The collagens primarily construct a scaffold for bone cells, create nucleation sites for mineralization and provide mechanical support. As mentioned before, approximately 90% of the protein content of organic ECM of bone tissue is COL-I; however, collagen type III and V are also important constituents of bone since they are responsible for the regulation of the fiber diameter and fibrillogenesis. <sup>56</sup>. The tensile strength and viscoelasticity of bone tissue mainly depend on this post-translational modification of collagen, in which enzymatic or nonenzymatic cross-linking in order to assemble the higher-order fibril bundles and fibers <sup>57-58</sup>. Beyond its structural properties, COL-I also promotes BMP-induced osteogenesis and is required for mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) dependent signaling regulation of Runx2, thus maintaining bone formation <sup>59-60</sup>.

Noncollagenous proteins (NPCs) consist of proteoglycans (biglycan, decorin, keratocan, asporin), y-carboxyglutamic acid containing proteins (osteocalcin (OCN), matrix Gla protein (MGP), periostin), glycoproteins (osteonectin (ON), thrombospondins (TSP1, TSP2), R-spondins) and small integrin-binding ligand N-linked glycoproteins (SIBLINGs) (bone sialoprotein (BSP), osteopontin (OPN), dentin matrix protein-1 (DMP1), dentin sialophosphoprotein (DSPP), and matrix extracellular phosphoglycoprotein (MEPE)). NPCs play crucial roles in bone mechanics via reciprocal relationships for the regulation of fundamental cellular processes such as proliferation and differentiation <sup>61-62</sup>. The specific roles of these proteins in bone remodeling and homeostasis were summarized within a schematic illustration in Figure 1.5<sup>55,63</sup>.

#### **1.2.3. Bone Remodeling and Homeostasis**

Bone is a highly vascularized, dynamic and hierarchically organized tissue and bone remodeling is a lifelong process regulated by a complex interplay of various signaling molecules (such as hormones, cytokines, and chemokines) and mechanical stimuli in parallel with the interaction of bone cells, especially the communication between osteoblasts and osteoclasts <sup>64</sup>. The development of novel treatment and prevention strategies, the identification of the key factors involved in bone remodeling and their local and systemic interactions is of great importance. Bone morphogenesis is mainly started by controlled degradation of the bone matrix via proteases <sup>65</sup>. Metalloproteinases (MMPs) are a group of enzymes that have various roles in maintaining bone homeostasis. For example, MMP2 is responsible for ECM degradation in order to form a lacunar-canalicular network, MMP14 regulates osteoblast to osteocyte transition and MSC osteoblast commitment <sup>66-67</sup>. Another key enzyme for bone development and homeostasis is metalloenzyme alkaline phosphatase (ALP), which catalysis the phosphomonoester hydrolysis, R-O-PO<sub>3</sub> and has a crucial role in bone mineralization <sup>68</sup>.



Figure 1.6. The schematic illustration of the bone remodeling

Bone remodeling consists of four main stages: resorption, reversal, formation, and mineralization (Figure 1.6). As mentioned previously, mononuclear cells differentiate into pre-osteoclasts and fuse into multinucleated mature osteoclasts, and bone remodeling begins with the cascade of this event <sup>69</sup>. Once osteoclasts adhere to the bone matrix and

start resorption, quiescent osteoblasts (bone-lining cells) become active, and preosteoclasts differentiate into osteoblasts in order to synthesize bone matrix in the gaps formed by osteoclasts, subsequently become mineralized. Osteoclasts die soon after the resorption phase through apoptosis. In contrast, most of the osteoblasts transform into bone-lining cells and remain quiescent until bone resorption occurs again under the control of the immune and endocrine systems <sup>70-71</sup> (see section 1.2.1).

The remodeling cycle, formation by osteoblasts and resorption by osteoclasts, is a balanced lifelong process that periodically renews older bone with new mechanically and physiologically optimum bone. Remodeling allows the bone architecture to adapt to changing mechanical demands and helps repair micro-damage in the bone matrix, preventing the accumulation of old bone. Furthermore, remodeling is also important in maintaining plasma calcium homeostasis. <sup>70, 72</sup>. The balance of the remodeling cycle is crucial for the maintenance of bone homeostasis; several molecular pathways have been implicated in this process, including MAPK, Wnt, Hedgehog, Notch, PI3K/Akt/mTOR, PDGF, IGF, JAK/STAT and Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling pathways and many others. The disturbance of this balance between bone formation and bone resorption results in metabolic bone disorders such as osteoporosis, in which bone resorption by osteoclasts is greater than formation by osteoblasts. Hence, chronic bone loss leads to reduce in bone density and increased fracture risks <sup>73</sup>.



Figure 1.7. The stages of osteoporosis

In healthy individuals, age-related natural bone loss begins after around age 40 (this mass and density loss is called osteopenia), and one in three women and every one in five men aged over 50 are diagnosed with osteoporosis and osteoporosis-related fractures. Osteoporosis is a widespread disorder (worldwide prevalence of 18.3%) that is called "the silent epidemic of the 21st century" since it poses a significant threat to public health, with over 200 million women. Despite the fact that osteoporosis is often seen in postmenopausal women due to estrogen deficiency-driven bone loss, men also suffer from this disease and osteoporosis <sup>38, 74</sup>. The regulation of bone remodeling is both systemic and local; thus, various biological and physical factors are involved in bone remodeling for maintaining homeostasis and skeletal integrity <sup>75-76</sup>. Hormones such as glucocorticoids, growth hormone, parathyroid hormones (PTH), and sex hormones: cytokines, insulin-like growth factors (IGFs), transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- $\beta$ ), prostaglandins, bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) are the main factors that involved in systemic regulation. On the other hand, the factors affecting bone cell functions and fate are referred to as local regulation factors of bone remodeling. Similarly, a variety of growth factors and cytokines are involved in local regulation. Most of these factors have an impact on the RANK/RANKL/OPG pathway, which has a major role in bone remodeling 77-79.



Figure 1.8. The RANK/RANKL/OPG signaling pathway in bone remodeling cycle <sup>80</sup>

Beyond bone matrix formation, osteoblasts secrete several regulatory factors, including RANKL, its antagonist OPG, and the macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) (Figure 1.8). M-CSF stimulates the proliferation of osteoclast precursors. Osteoclast precursors express the RANK receptor, and the binding of RANKL/RANK triggers the multinucleated osteoclast formation and osteoclast differentiation, whereas OPG/RANKL binding causes the inhibition of osteoclast differentiation and function, 81-82, thus OPG/RANKL protects bone from destruction due to excessive absorption <sup>81</sup>. Furthermore, it has been known that this complex signaling pathway is in relation to muscle and plays crucial roles in the immune system and cancer <sup>82</sup>.

The immune system also regulates bone homeostasis through the RANK/RANKL signaling pathway since T cells and B cells also synthesize RANK, RANKL and OPG, as well as osteogenic cells <sup>83-84</sup>. It can be observed that the immune system modulates the proliferation, differentiation and maturation of both osteoblasts and osteoclasts via not only RANK/RANKL/OPG triad but also cytokines (TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1, IL-11 and IL-17) receptors and transcription factors (Figure 1.9) <sup>80, 85</sup>.



Figure 1.9. The RANK/RANKL/OPG signaling pathway in bone remodeling cycle through osteoimmunology <sup>80</sup>



cartilage formation and bone homeostasis

Figure 1.10. The BMP, Wnt, FGF, PTHrP and TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathways and crosstalk between these during skeletal development and bone remodeling <sup>86</sup>

TGF- $\beta$ s and BMPs, important cytokines belonging to the TGF- $\beta$  superfamily, are crucial for skeletal formation during embryonic development, bone remodeling and homeostasis in adulthood. TGF- $\beta$  is stored in the bone ECM and activated as a result of osteoclastic bone resorption <sup>87</sup>. TGF- $\beta$ /BMP signaling pathway constantly interacts with various signaling pathways, cytokines, and growth factors such as Wnt, Hedgehog, Notch, PTHrP, MAPK, Erk, and FGF (Figure 1.10) to regulate stem cell differentiation, osteogenesis, chondrogenesis, skeletal development, and bone homeostasis. The TGF- $\beta$ /BMP signaling pathway also promotes osteogenic gene expression at transcriptional level <sup>88-89</sup>.

Previously, it has been shown that dysregulated Smad signaling leads to a number of bone diseases in humans. The regulation of Smad-dependent and non-Smad-dependent TGF- $\beta$  signaling and BMP signaling pathways in bone tissue remodeling and crosstalk between TGF- $\beta$ /BMP <sup>90</sup> and other critical signaling pathways have been comprehensibly reviewed by Wu *et al.* <sup>86</sup>.

Due to the fact that several signaling pathways contribute to bone homeostasis, it is possible to increase the number of these signaling pathways. The pathways and each component of which have various physiological functions and regulations in bone via inhibitory, stimulatory, or dual effects on the cells <sup>52</sup>. Most importantly, the disturbance in the balance of these factors may result in bone diseases. For example, TGF- $\beta$  and Wnt signaling pathways primarily regulate bone strength and mutations in TGF-B or Wnt members are known to result in low or high bone disorders such as Marfan (MFS) and Loeys-Dietz (LDS) syndromes and Camurati-Engelmann disease (CED), osteoporosis, osteogenesis imperfecta (OI), and osteoporosis pseudoglioma syndrome (OPPG) <sup>51</sup>. Thus, it could be possible to say that the existing treatment strategies for bone disorders mainly target critical signaling pathways involved in bone homeostasis. However, it should be kept in mind that these signaling pathways are also involved in other tissue and organ systems. For example, it is known that TGF- $\beta$  regulates bone and cartilage formation in a dose- and stage-dependent manner; hence, insufficient or excessive signaling results in dysregulation of bone homeostasis <sup>91</sup>. On the other hand, the RANK/RANKL pathway has been found to be involved in sarcopenia, atherosclerosis, and cardiovascular diseases 92

#### **1.3.** Therapeutic Treatment Approaches

Age-related bone diseases are thought to be caused by the disruption of the balance between bone formation and resorption as the tissue turnover rate decreases with age. Altered expression of specific signaling molecules, apoptosis of certain cell types, reduced number of osteoprogenitors (or MSCs), or differentiation of MSCs into adipocytes <sup>93-94</sup> could be the reason for the imbalance between bone formation and bone resorption. Furthermore, the age-related decline in sex steroids (estrogen in women and testosterone in men) is known to result in reduced bone strength and increased risk of fractures <sup>95-96</sup>. Basically, the deficiency in sex steroid hormones, cellular senescence and glucocorticoid excess can be considered as the most important causes <sup>72</sup>.

The primary goal of potential treatment strategies for bone diseases is to maintain bone homeostasis by modulating the balance between bone resorption and formation for adequate bone strength. For example, targeting the stimulation of osteoblastic bone formation or inhibition of osteoclastogenesis are two main strategies for the treatment of osteoporosis <sup>97</sup>. Based on the current knowledge about the pathophysiology of osteoporosis, there is a wide range of therapeutic approaches to restore bone homeostasis, including biomaterials <sup>98-99</sup>, gene therapy <sup>100</sup>, monoclonal antibody-based drugs <sup>101</sup>, and mesenchymal stem cell transplantation <sup>102</sup>.

#### 1.3.1. Stem Cells

Stem cells are undifferentiated cells that are capable of developing new healthy cells instead of damaged or aged cells in multicellular organisms. Stem cells have attracted the attention of scientists due to their two main characteristics: self-renewal and differentiation. Based on their great potential as therapeutic tools for the treatment of many diseases, understanding stem cell biology is a critical aspect of developing new therapies for primarily degenerative diseases, investigating the early-stage development of an organism, and also for drug screening studies. There are three main types of stem cells: embryonic stem cells (ESCs), non-embryonic (adult or tissue) stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs)<sup>103</sup>.

ESCs are pluripotent stem cells, which means that they can differentiate into all cell types of an individual organism. During embryonic development, after the blastocyst phase, they lose this unlimited differentiation feature and begin to differentiate into specific functional cells to form the tissues, organs, and finally, the entire body <sup>104-105</sup>. Despite their great potential, human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) have been limited in their use. However, the groundbreaking invention of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) in 2005, one year after the application of this procedure into human cells, caused a notable increase in the number of investigations in this area due to ethical concerns <sup>106</sup>. Beyond the ethical issues, studying iPSCs not only prevents immunological responses because of the use of patients' own cells, especially in stem cell-based transplantation
therapies but also provides to develop patient-specific therapy or to investigate illnesses at a patient level. Although iPSCs have unlimited self-renewal and pluripotency like ESCs, there is still a concern about whether iPSCs can totally transform into ESCs<sup>105, 107</sup>.

On the other hand, another promising stem cell type, tissue (or adult) stem cells, are multipotent; stem cell pools in each organ or tissue system are responsible for tissue growth, repair, and renewal. This type of stem cell only generates specific cells of the tissue that belongs to <sup>107</sup>. For example, blood originates from hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), and the nervous system originates from neuronal stem (progenitor) cells throughout the lifespan <sup>108</sup>. Among tissue stem cells, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have an exception by exerting multipotent characteristics, since they can generate bone, cartilage, and muscle. Compared to the other stem cell types, relatively large numbers MSCs can be isolated from bone marrow, adipose tissue, umbilical cord blood, Wharton's jelly, olfactory pulb, etc.). Indeed, they are often preferred for use in stem cell research and regenerative medicine due to their multipotency, sufficient numbers and non-invasive isolation methods <sup>109-110</sup>.

Stem cell maintenance *in vitro* is remarkably based on defining the molecular pathways and the control required to proceed with their self-renewal during cultivation <sup>111</sup>. It has been demonstrated that *in vitro* cultivation time needs to be longer along with the protection of their unlimited self-renewal without incurring chromosomal instability and pluripotency, two principal properties of stem cells for their potential use in scientific and medicinal research <sup>112-113</sup>. However, insufficient telomerase activity in stem cells limits their excessive potential. TL shortening and their limited life span during in vitro cultivation diminish the regenerative ability of stem cells. For this purpose, telomerase activation may provide benefits for the production of sufficient quantities and facilitate stem cell differentiation of desired cell types since tissue stem cells, including mesenchymal <sup>107</sup>, hematopoietic <sup>114-115</sup>, skin <sup>116</sup>, hair follicle <sup>117</sup>, neuronal <sup>118</sup>, pancreatic <sup>119</sup>, liver <sup>120</sup>, etc. show no or low telomerase activity <sup>121</sup>. Furthermore, TL is critical for successful engraftment and better outcomes in stem cell transplantation <sup>122</sup>. Therefore, telomerase activators are promising agents for stem cell-based therapeutic applications.

Stem/progenitor cell transplantation is an effective approach for contributing to the full repair of damaged lesions in degenerative diseases, during which progressive and irreversible loss of cells occurs <sup>123</sup>. However, insufficient telomerase activity in stem cells

limits their excessive potential. The potential use of stem cells mainly depends on providing chromosomal stability during in vitro expansion without losing two main stemness properties: differentiation capacity and unlimited self-renewal <sup>124</sup>. However, TL shortening and their limited life span during in vitro cultivation diminish the regenerative ability of stem cells. Furthermore, TL is critical for successful engraftment and better outcomes in stem cell transplantation <sup>122</sup>. Interestingly, a dramatic decrease in TL of HSCs was reported after transplantation, which increased the risk of clonal disorders in patients <sup>125</sup>. Therefore, telomerase activators are promising agents for stem cell-based therapeutic applications.

#### **1.3.2.** Monoclonal Antibodies

Monoclonal antibodies are defined as identical immunoglobulins that recognize a single epitope on an antigen <sup>126</sup>. Currently, mAbs have a wide range of therapeutic and diagnostic applications, including diagnostic, therapeutic, and analytical/chemical research studies<sup>127</sup>.

The first monoclonal antibody approved for the treatment of cancer: Rituximab (Rituxan®, MabThera®, target: CD20) approved by the U.S. FDA in 1997, is a genetically engineered chimeric murine/human monoclonal antibody used to treat non-Hodgkin's lymphoma <sup>128</sup>, and trastuzumab (Herceptin®, target: HER2, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2) approved by the U.S. FDA in 2011, is a humanized monoclonal antibody used to treat metastatic breast cancer <sup>129</sup>. Soon after this success, the FDA approved many other biosimilars that have entered the market for the treatment of a wide range of diseases of chronic lymphocytic leukemia, Wegener's granulomatosis, pemphigus vulgaris, and rheumatoid arthritis for rituximab; gastroesophageal, and gastric cancers for trastuzumab biosimilars <sup>130</sup>. The steady increase in approved mAb-based therapeutics suggests that mAb-based formulations will continue to be the focus of the biotherapeutics industry.

As mentioned in previous sections, bone cells and immune cell precursors that reside in the bone marrow share the same environment; the study of the interactions between the immune and skeletal systems has revealed the close relationship between these two systems in health and disease. Due to these strong and complex interactions, in 2000, the term 'osteoimmunology' was used by Arron *et al.* for the first time <sup>131</sup>, and Srivastava *et al.* introduced the term 'immunoporosis' in 2018 <sup>132</sup>. The contribution of the immune system for treatment purposes is a distinctive approach for bone diseases such as OA and OP, and this strategy may benefit from the regulation of key immune system factors such as interleukins (e.g., IL-1, IL-6), TNF $\alpha$ , and prostaglandins. Monoclonal antibody (mAb)-based therapy has been incorporated into the treatment of bone disorders such as osteoporosis (OP) and rheumatoid arthritis (OA). Some of the examples of successful mAb-based therapeutics approved: tocilizumab (Actemra®, target: IL-6R) <sup>133-134</sup>, adalimumab (Humira®, target: TNF $\alpha$ ) <sup>135</sup>, sarilumab (Kevzara®, target: IL-6) and golimumab (Simponi®, target: TNF $\alpha$ ) <sup>136-137</sup> for the treatment of OA, while denosumab (Prolia®, target: RANKL) <sup>138-139</sup>, romosozumab (Evenity®, target: sclerostin, an antagonist of the Wnt pathway) <sup>140-141</sup>.

## **1.3.2.1.** Monoclonal Antibody Production

Mammalian cells are used for the production of biologics due to their ability to generate recombinant proteins biocompatible with humans owing to their posttranslational modification capability. The hybridoma cell lines were generated by Kohler and Milstein in 1975 for the production of mAbs, the technology used to fuse splenocytes of immunized mice with immortal myeloma cells in order to generate continuously dividing cell lines <sup>142</sup>. The first approved therapeutic recombinant antibody, Muronomab (Muromonab®, target:CD3) produced with hybridoma technology in 1986, which is used as an immunosuppressive therapy in kidney, heart, and liver transplant patients <sup>143-144</sup>. However, hybridoma technology has some limits and drawbacks since this technology is multi-stage and time-consuming, and hybridomas are genetically unstable <sup>145</sup>. Chinese hamster ovary cells (CHOs) were first isolated in 1958; after the parental isolation of CHO, many subtypes were generated. Three common lineages of CHO were CHO-K1 by Kao and Puck in 1968 <sup>146</sup>, CHO Pro-3 by Flintoff *et al.* in 1976 <sup>147</sup> and CHO-

S by Tobey *et al.* in 1991 <sup>148</sup>, and their subclones were generated in upcoming years (Figure 1.11).



Figure 1.11. The chart of common CHO lineages

The first therapeutic protein, Activase, was produced with the subtype CHO-DG44 isolated in 1983 <sup>149</sup> which is still primary chose for the production of therapeutic proteins including mAbs. The global market of biopharmaceuticals was valued at \$237.2 billion in 2018 and is expected to reach \$389 billion by 2024. Among these high-value therapeutics, adalimumab was the best-selling biotherapeutic, with \$20 billion in sales in 2018. Indeed, it was the first drug that reached \$20 billion and still has commercial dominance in the drug market globally <sup>150-151</sup>.

Although significant improvements have been made in the production, characterization, and stabilization of mAbs, there are still obstacles to overcome to achieve cost-effective production strategies, including genetic engineering approaches to generating new cell lines and expression systems to create more effective and less immunogenic monoclonal antibodies, however on the other hand process optimization for the production of these high-value biotherapeutics still needs to be under consideration in order to decrease overall production costs by increasing the productivity <sup>152-154</sup>. CHOs are the cells that adopted serum-free and suspension cultures. It is known that they undergo genetic changes in culture due to chromosomal instability. This situation leads to disturbance in cell growth and physiology, resulting in the loss of the expression ability, which, over time, in culture <sup>155</sup>. It is known that Chinese hamster cells have telomere repeats (TTAGGG) at the end of chromosomes and pericentromeric regions. The study by Slijepcevic and Bryant exerted that the telomeric sequences are shorter than 1 kb in chromosomes of immortal CHO lines, including CHO-K1 subtypes CHO-K1a, CHO-K1b, CHO-K1c, and also human-hamster hybrid cell line R342A4 carrying human chromosome 10<sup>156</sup>. Therefore, telomerase activation may have some benefits in mAb production in terms of productivity by providing chromosomal stability and improving cell growth and physiology.

#### **1.4. Telomere and Telomerase**

Telomeres are highly regulated, and dynamic nucleoprotein complexes found at each chromosome ends (Figure 1.12), composed of tandemly repeated short nucleotide sequences (e.g., TTAGGG repeats in all vertebrates) and associated protective proteins, capping and protecting the end of the chromosome from deterioration, fusion with neighboring chromosomes, or preventing being recognized as break points due to DNA end-replication problem in which RNA primer long base lose occurs in each DNA replication. The telomere repeat sequence is different in every living species. Its length may differ from cell to cell between different tissues of the same individual and even within the same tissue <sup>157</sup>.

Telomerase is a ribonucleoprotein reverse transcriptase (hTERT), first discovered by Greider *et al.*, responsible for the synthesis of telomere repeat sequences (Figure 1.13). With the presence of telomerase, cells are prevented from losing genetic information and DNA damage responses, and replicative senescence <sup>157-158</sup>. Telomerase maintains telomere homeostasis against aging and environmental stress factors and prevents cells from replicative senescence <sup>159</sup>. It has been known that germ cells and cells in the early development phases of the embryo show high levels of telomerase activity; however, after differentiation into specific tissues and organs, they lose this ability. In other words, somatic cells do not have significant telomerase activity because they lack expression of hTERT, even if they have related sequences in their genome <sup>160</sup>.



Figure 1.12. The illustration of the telomere and telomere loop

In 2009, Elizabeth Blackburn and her co-workers were awarded a Nobel Prize for their groundbreaking discovery of how telomerase's enzyme impacts telomere length. As a result of this discovery, many scientists focused on searching for novel telomerase activators for therapeutic purposes. The possible therapeutic effects of telomerase activation have been evaluated in different cellular backgrounds to cure diseases linked to short telomeres or telomerase deficiencies <sup>161-162</sup>.



Figure 1.13. The main components of the human telomerase (hTERT, hTERC, Dyskerin, NOP10, NHP2, GAR1, TCAB1); and functional regions of hTERC (template, pseudoknot, CR4-CR5, Box H/ACA, and CR7)

The investigations on different cancer types demonstrate that over 90 percent of cancer cells from different origins show high levels of telomerase activity <sup>163</sup>. Although it has been considered that telomerase activation may cause tissue to become cancerous, controversially, low telomerase activities are one of the reasons for cancer because of

chromosomal instability <sup>164</sup>. Besides, oncogenic transformation was not found in both *in vitro* and in vivo studies on whether telomerase activity causes tumor formation <sup>165-166</sup>. It has been proven that the telomerase genes are not oncogene <sup>167</sup>; after these findings, researchers focused on anti-aging approaches to treat age-related diseases.

# **1.4.1. Telomere-Independent (non-canonical) Functions of Telomerase** and Telomere-Related Proteins

For a long time, telomerase has been thought to be responsible for only telomere maintenance at chromosomes in the nucleus and protecting dividing cells from replicative crisis and senescence. However, scientific studies continue to enlighten mechanisms underlying functions of telomere and telomerase complex proteins one by one, which represents additional protective functions more than a catalytic function of telomerase. The investigations on catalytic protein and RNA components (TERT and TERC) of telomerase have demonstrated that their occurrence differs from tissue to tissue, and environmental stress determines their localization and expression in the cell. Based on this, it has been suggested that subunits of telomerase and related proteins might independently operate protective functions even if significant telomerase activity is not observed <sup>168-169</sup>.

The gene sequence of TERT (*tert*) consists of 16 exons and 15 introns <sup>170</sup>. Also, *tert* has a N-terminal leader sequence which is responsible for the transfer of TERT protein by exporting from nucleus and importing it into mitochondria <sup>171-172</sup>. It has been shown that TERT localizes in the nucleus, mitochondria, and cytosol. TERT interacts with messenger RNAs in the cytosol to regulate signaling pathways at the translational level <sup>173</sup>. Moreover, mitochondrial RNAs (mtRNA) represent reverse transcriptase functions in mitochondria <sup>174</sup>. Under stress conditions, for example, dietary restriction causes reduce in mTOR signaling <sup>169, 175</sup> and TERT accumulation in the mitochondrial matrix, which protects cells from apoptosis due to oxidative mitochondrial DNA damage by decreasing the ROS levels and advancing respiration <sup>176-177</sup>.

Furthermore, TERT has also been found to be related also signaling pathways that play essential roles for cellular survival by regulating the expression levels of responsible genes such as proinflammatory cytokines, apoptotic signals (e.g., TNFα, TRIAL) or growth factors (e.g. EGFR, FGF). Telomeric repeat binding factors TRF1 and TRF2, TIN2, POT1, TPP1 and RAP1 are regulatory and protective six core proteins belonging telomerase sheltering complex (Figure 1.14). Telomeric and extratelomeric functions of these proteins were well established by Martinez *et al.* besides telomere protection <sup>178</sup>. Additionally, TNF2 was found to bind in extratelomeric regions of chromosomes and has important functions in the maintenance and differentiation of NPCs into neural lineage <sup>179</sup>. RAP1 is another protein that has been shown to function in inflammatory signaling pathways such as Wnt/β-catenin and NF-κB, as well as TERT protein <sup>180</sup>.



Figure 1.14. The simplified illustration of the human telomere, the shelterin complex proteins (RAP1, TIN2, POT1, TPP1, TRF1, TRF2) and hexamer

As anticipated from the situation, telomere shortening has been found to be related to not only aging and oxidative stress but also inflammation, which is known to take place in several chronic diseases <sup>181</sup>. TERT splice variants are catalytically inactive TERT proteins, which are exon-delated forms of TERT. The most studied splice variants are  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  forms, which have been shown to increase during brain development and to be responsible for the decrease in telomerase activity as the  $\alpha$ -splice variant inhibits activity 184, and they might trigger additional non-canonical functions <sup>182</sup>.

Nassour *et al.* has provided strong evidence that telomeric dysfunction causes autophagic cell death through cGAS–STING pathway which is capable of sensing cytosolic chromosomal-DNA fragments; thus, the cells in replicative crisis are prevented from becoming cancerous <sup>183</sup>. Recently, a study conducted by Yilmaz *et al.* showed that proteasome activation by cycloastragenol is mediated through telomerase activation induced by NRF2. Until today, several studies have given evidence for different extratelomeric functions of the proteins of telomerase complex independently. However, the functions of many proteins belonging to the telomerase complex remain unknown <sup>184</sup>.

# 1.4.2. Relation Between Telomere/Telomerase and Degenerative Diseases

The studies targeting telomerase for drug development studies have been increasing due to the significant correlation between telomere dysfunctions. It has been suggesting that dysfunctional telomeres due to either TERT or TERC mutations in degenerative diseases are the cause more than a symptom of the disease. Some of the telomerase associated disease examples are given in Figure 1.15.

*Osteodegenerative diseases* occur because of disruption of the balance between catabolic and anabolic processes in bone and articular cartilage. The cause of degeneration may occur due to another disease, injury, trauma, or aging. Also, genetic defects and epigenetic alterations are important for disease pathophysiology. Osteoporosis, osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis, and intervertebral disc degeneration are the most common age-related degenerative disorders in skeletal system <sup>185</sup>.

Osteodegenerative diseases linked to short telomeres/telomere abnormalities <sup>9</sup> have been investigated: Osteoporosis (OP) is a metabolic disorder characterized by a decrease in bone density, leading to enhanced bone fragility. OP has become more prevalent in both men and women. Interestingly, shorter TL was observed in people with

OP<sup>9</sup>. Osteoarthritis (OA) and rheumatoid arthritis (RA), two of the most common arthritis types, are chronic degenerative diseases leading to cartilage degradation in all joints <sup>186-187</sup>. Previously, it was demonstrated that patients with arthritis had shorter TL, which might be involved in disease development and progress <sup>188-189</sup>. Intervertebral disc degeneration (IVD) is a complex disease, and oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction plays a key role in IVD degeneration. Consequently, recent interventions mainly aim to decrease oxidative stress in order to protect IVD homeostasis <sup>190</sup>. For this purpose, treatment strategies focus on antioxidative and antiinflammatory approaches to protect NP cells, which are responsible for IVD hemostasis <sup>191-192</sup>. It is known that IVD degeneration associated with telomere deficiency and short telomeres are one of the reasons for disruption of IVD homeostasis that leads to disease pathogenesis <sup>193</sup>.



Figure 1.15. Dysfunctional telomerase causes telomere-induced senescence and contributes to cancer and/or degenerative diseases due to genomic instability

Furthermore, studies demonstrated that bone mineral density correlates with TL and short telomeres increase the risk of osteoporosis, especially in women <sup>194</sup>. Similarly, shorter TL in peripheral blood cells was observed in patients with rheumatoid arthritis <sup>195</sup>. Studies with G3 Terc<sup>-/-</sup> mutant mice demonstrated that the telomere plays a key role in the proliferation and differentiation capacity of osteoprogenitor cells, which are responsible for bone homeostasis <sup>196</sup>. Restoring telomerase activity via gene therapy for the treatment of intervertebral disc degeneration resulted in higher proliferation and matrix production in human nucleus pulposus cells <sup>197-198</sup>. Because of the relation between telomere dysfunction and bone/joint diseases, telomere/telomerase might be an alternative target for the treatment.

## 1.4.3. Telomerase Activator: Small Molecules from Natural Sources

Telomerase activation is mostly provided by genetic interventions. Gene therapy, used in therapeutic applications, especially in regenerative medicine, has problems such as disruption of genetic integrity, inability to transfer the gene to the desired region, the unpredictability of negative interactions between genes, etc., carrying such risks. Although genetic methods can apply telomerase regulation, obtaining the same effect with a bioactive molecule will reduce the risk ratio as it will eliminate many processing steps in genetic studies. For this reason, the necessity of evaluating the potential of using synthetic, semi-synthetic, or natural origin telomerase activator molecules, which is one of the other ways to increase telomerase activation apart from gene therapy, has come to the fore. In recent years, telomerase activator small molecules have been used to treat or prevent from diseases associated with telomere shortening or telomere dysfunction (Figure 1.16)<sup>199-200</sup>.

By the last three decades, telomerase activator small molecules from natural sources have attracted the attention of scientists owing to their great potential as therapeutic tools for healthy aging and preventing age-related degenerative diseases as an alternative methodology to genetic manipulations to control cell fate and also their relatively less toxicity compared to synthetic small molecules. Thus, several research groups keep searching natural sources to discover new small molecules while semisynthesis studies are continuing for the production of their improved derivatives. With this regard, many phytoalexins have been isolated and identified, including phenolics, flavonoids, terpenes, iridoids, alkaloids, and many others <sup>168</sup>.



Figure 1.16. The telomere shortening continues lifelong and may accelerate due to genetic or environmental factors (upper left). The supplementation of telomerase activator small molecules can restore/ameliorate telomerase function by targeting aging hallmarks (lower left), protecting tissues and organs and providing healthy aging (upper right) and longer life span (lower right)

*Cycloastragenol (CG)* is a triterpenoid sapogenin hydrolyzed form of astragalosides such as astragaloside IV (Figure 1.17), the main secondary metabolites of *Astragalus membranaceus* which have been used in Chinese Traditional Medicine for centuries <sup>201</sup>. In 2006, because of long screening efforts by Geron Inc., CG was found to

be a potent telomerase activator. Soon after, in 2007, CG was licensed by TA Sciences and was placed on the market as a dietary supplement with the trade name TA-65, the first telomerase activator on the market <sup>202</sup>.



Figure 1.17. The chemical structures of cycloastragenol and astragaloside IV

Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies showed that CG is a promising anti-aging agent not only for the treatment of age-associated diseases but also for the prevention of those by providing healthy aging <sup>203-206</sup>. Additionally, *astragaloside IV (AST IV)* was also reported as a telomerase activator. Both AST IV and CG were found to activate telomerase and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)/Ras-extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) signaling via phosphorylation of ERK in the cells from different origins <sup>207</sup>.

*Resveratrol* (trans-3,5,4'-trihydroxystilbene) (Figure 1.18) is a phenolic compound, first isolated from the roots of *Veratrum grandiflorum* O. Loes by Takaoka in 1939 <sup>208-209</sup>, and it has been shown that many plants including berries, grapes, and peanuts contain a high amount of resveratrol. Resveratrol is one of the most studied natural products exhibiting several bioactivities, viz. antioxidative, anti-inflammatory, chemopreventive, and neuroprotective effects <sup>210-211</sup>. Telomerase activation is reported as one of its molecular mechanisms of action. Resveratrol was shown to enhance proliferation as well as telomerase activity in EPCs through PI3K-Akt signaling <sup>212-213</sup>.

Moreover, continuous supplementation of resveratrol was shown to repress telomere shortening by 45%. However, the negative effect of resveratrol on TL is also reported in different cancer cell types <sup>214-216</sup>.



Figure 1.18. The chemical structure of trans-resveratrol

*Curcumin* (1,7-bis-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-hepta-1,6-diene-3,5-dione) (Figure 1.19) is a natural phenolic found mainly in *Curcuma longa* (known as turmeric). Turmeric has been consumed as spice or used in traditional medicine for centuries against mainly chronic diseases because of its therapeutic effects such as antioxidative, antiinflammatory, and neuroprotective, attributed to the major bioactive ingredient curcumin (75% of turmeric) <sup>217</sup>. According to Taka *et al.*, curcuminoids activate telomerase in a different manner compared to other activators by directly binding to telomerase itself <sup>218</sup>. Although numerous studies demonstrated that curcumin (50-100  $\mu$ M) had anti-proliferative properties on human cancer cell lines by decreasing hTERT expression and inhibiting telomerase activity <sup>219-220</sup>, relatively lower concentrations of curcumin (0.02  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M) induced telomerase activation <sup>221-222</sup>.

In 2019, Tsoukalas and colleagues screened several natural products for telomerase activation in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Pentacyclic triterpenoids *oleanolic acid (OAC)* (Figure 1.20) and maslinic acid are found as strong telomerase activators, while *Centella asiatica* extract *(CAE)* has superior activity compared to TA-65. At the same time, the CAE caused an approximately 9-fold increase in telomerase activity, only.



Figure 1.19. The chemical structure of curcumin

A 2-fold increase was detected in the case of TA-65 treatment. However, the study did not directly compare TA-65's active constituent CA and CAE towards telomerase activation <sup>223</sup>. Another study proved that CAE repressed TL decrease during aging of HEK293 cells while attenuated reduction in Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1), Sirtuin 2 (SIRT2), CMYC, and KL expressions that are related to aging process. Moreover, CAE increased the survival of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Importantly, CAE did not lead to tumorigenicity in cells <sup>224</sup>. CAE was placed on the market as a dietary supplement with the trade name Reverse<sup>TM</sup>. Recently, it was revealed that Reverse<sup>TM</sup> supplementation for 3 months resulted in increased telomerase activity via restored TERT expression in the brains of naturally aged rats <sup>225</sup>.



Figure 1.20. The chemical structure of oleanolic acid

*Ginkgo biloba*, which belongs to the Ginkgoaceae family, is used in traditional medicine for various purposes, such as improving memory and treating neuronal disorders. Nowadays, Ginkgo biloba products are one of the top-selling phytopharmaceuticals worldwide <sup>226-227</sup>. *Ginkgo biloba* extract (GBE) has been recently reported to increase endothelial progenitor cell (EPC) numbers and functional activity through enhancement of telomerase activity based on the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/ protein kinase B (Akt) signaling pathway <sup>228</sup>. Accordingly, *quercetin* (Figure 1.21), a flavonoid found in *Ginkgo biloba* leaves, is also reported as a telomerase activator. Quercetin was found to protect telomeres from shortening and TRF2 loss <sup>229</sup>. It was reported that quercetin increased the average TL of hMSCs. On the contrary, a higher concentration of quercetin induces apoptosis involving telomerase inhibition in cancer cells <sup>230-232</sup>, suggesting that it has a dose-dependent or cell type-dependent bilateral effect.



Figure 1.21. The chemical structure of quercetin

It is important to note that while these natural small molecules exert promise, their efficacy can be strongly influenced by factors such as dosage, bioavailability, and individual variability. Moreover, most of the evidence comes from preclinical studies, and more rigorous clinical trials are needed to understand their potential fully. Additionally, these natural compounds should be considered as part of a broader treatment strategy.

## 1.5. Aim of The Thesis

The main focus of this thesis is to demonstrate the usage of telomerase activators in stem cell research for regenerative medicine by addressing the issue of cellular aging and senescence, which are significant barriers to tissue regeneration and repair. Additionally, we aimed to investigate the usage of telomerase activators as medium supplements in monoclonal antibody production by CHOs. Based on the scope of the study, the main aims were to (i) enhance the viability and survival of human mesenchymal stem cells, (ii) decrease the number of senescent cells in the population (iii) protect differentiation potential of the cells during continuous passaging (iv) accelerate osteoblastic differentiation (v) enhance viability, productivity and stability of CHO cells and (vi) investigate the role of telomerase activators on the productivity of monoclonal antibody production.

The potential use of the telomerase activator small molecules in regenerative medicine protects from cellular aging and, thus, senescence, which are considered the main obstacles in tissue regeneration and repair. It has been known that telomerase activity in tissue stem cells is insufficient or absent as well as in somatic cells, and the progressive shortening of telomeres with each cell division, eventually, telomeres become critically short, resulting in cellular senescence or leading DNA damage responses (e.g., apoptosis) due to the chromosomal instability.

In the context of regenerative medicine, the activation of telomerase in stem cells may improve genetic stability and is expected to:

 $\rightarrow$  extend the replicative lifespan of stem cells, which is crucial for obtaining the number of cells required for tissue engineering and regenerative therapies.

 $\rightarrow$  prevent cellular senescence by delaying the onset of cellular senescence, which provides to maintain stemness characteristics for tissue repair and regeneration.

 $\rightarrow$  enhance differentiation/tissue regeneration potential.

On the other hand, the usage of telomerase activator small molecules as a medium supplement in monoclonal antibody production with CHO cells may provide benefits in terms of enhancing the longevity of the cells by protecting chromosomal stability from environmental stress factors, thus enhancing productivity and stability instead of preventing cellular aging.

In summary, within the scope of this thesis, we mainly focused on stem cells and monoclonal antibody production in terms of their potential use in regenerative medicine, together with novel telomerase activators for the treatment of osteodegenerative diseases. The usage of telomerase activator small molecules in regenerative medicine offers a promising approach to overcoming the limitations imposed by cellular aging, enhancing the regenerative capacity of stem cells, and improving the outcomes of regenerative therapies. Furthermore, it has potential benefits in the industrial production of valuable biotherapeutics.

# **CHAPTER 2**

# SELF-RENEWAL, SENESCENCE CONDITION AND THE OSTEOGENIC POTENTIAL OF HUMAN ADIPOSE-DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS DURING EXTENSIVE SUB-CULTIVATION

## 2.1. Background

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are defined as adult stem cells that can be obtained from bone marrow, cord blood, and many other tissues and can potentially differentiate into various cell types, such as osteoblasts, chondrocytes, adipocytes, muscle cells, and nerve cells <sup>233-234</sup>. Stem cell applications, which have a high potential for treating diseases that reduce the quality of life, allow tissue regeneration with tissue engineering studies. Stem cells for this purpose can be isolated from the individual's organs or tissues or obtained from compatible/semi-compatible donors to regenerate the specific cells, tissues, or organs <sup>235</sup>. MSCs are frequently preferred in tissue engineering studies. Stem cell isolation from adipose tissue is a faster and simpler method (liposuction/fat removal) compared to bone marrow; it provides advantages for older patients as it is a non-invasive isolation method, and more cells can be obtained <sup>236</sup>.

Based on their great potential as therapeutic tools for the treatment of many diseases, understanding stem cell biology is a critical aspect of developing new therapies for especially degenerative diseases, investigating the early-stage development of an organism, and also for drug screening studies. It is possible to cultivate stem cells *in vitro* for these purposes. Still, it has been demonstrated that the longest cultivation time is approximately six months (over 47 passages) for hESCs with unlimited self-renewal without incurring chromosomal instability and pluripotency <sup>237</sup>, which are two essential properties for the potential use of stem cells in scientific research.

The potential use of these stem cell cultures mainly depends on providing chromosomal stability during unlimited self-renewal also conservation of differentiation capacities at the same time. As mentioned previously, unlike immortal cell lines, stem cells undergo changes with age and cannot be cultured for long-term periods <sup>121, 238</sup>. The aging process of stem cells has not been clearly identified yet, and that is the main challenge in stem cell research <sup>104, 239</sup>. Once the mechanisms and regulators are understood, it will be possible to cultivate enough numbers of stem cells. Thus, master stem cell lines can be generated for further connected studies.

It is known that senescence and cell aging are also seen in stem cells, along with the risk of loss of self-renewal and differentiation abilities, which are the two main features of stem cells <sup>240-241</sup>. In other words, stem cells age due to telomere shortening due to unfavorable external factors (reactive oxygen species, DNA damage, disruption of protein homeostasis, systemic factors, etc.) and genetic factors <sup>242-243</sup>. For this reason, it is necessary to increase the resistance of stem cells to *in vitro* conditions and to eliminate the adverse effects of replicative stress for use in clinical applications <sup>3, 244-245</sup>. In this context, when stem cell physiology is closely examined, it has been reported that adult human MSCs grown *in vitro* do not show detectable telomerase activity <sup>246-248</sup>. When the *in vitro* osteoblast differentiation of MSCs from telomerase-negative mice was examined, it was observed that the proliferation of the cells was reduced, the doubling times were prolonged, and sufficient mineral accumulation could not be achieved <sup>249</sup>.

#### 2.2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.1. Cell Culture

Human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells MSCs), obtained from KÖGEM -Stem Cell and Gene Therapies Research and Application Center- (Kocaeli, Turkey), were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM, Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA) supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco) without

antibiotics, and cultured in a humidified incubator with 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> at 37 °C. The medium was refreshed every 3-4 days until 80-90 % confluence was achieved.

## 2.2.2. Molecules and Treatment

Cycloastragenol **1** (>98 % purity) was kindly provided by Bionorm Natural Product Co. (İzmir, Turkey). The derivatives of **1**, E-CG-01 (**2**), E-AG-01 (**3**), and E-AG-02 (**4**) were produced and purified as described previously <sup>250</sup>. The chemical structures of the molecules are shown in Figure 2.1. Stock solutions (5 mM) in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) were prepared with lyophilized powders of the molecules and stored at -20 °C until use. Before the experiment, each stock solution was diluted in DMSO as appropriate concentrations and final molecule concentrations were achieved with 0.1% DMSO (v/v) <sup>251</sup>.

## **2.2.3.** Cell Viability

Cell viability of MSCs under specific concentrations of telomerase activators was investigated. For this purpose, cells were seeded to the 96-well plates with  $5\times10^3$  cells/well in DMEM (with 10% FBS) and incubated overnight at 37 °C in a humidified incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After cells were attached to the surface, media including molecules (0.1 to 10000 nM concentrations) was added to the wells as triplicates and incubated for up to 28 days. At certain time points, the MTT (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide) (Sigma, Cat# M2128-1G) procedure was applied according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the existing medium was replaced with 100 µl medium supplemented with 5 % MTT; after three hours of incubation, the MTT solution was discarded, formed formazan crystals were dissolved with DMSO (100 µl/well), and measured by reading absorbance at 570 nm via a micro-plate reader (Synergy<sup>TM</sup> HTX- BioTek, Winooski, VT, ABD). The metabolic activity of viable cells

was calculated by normalization of absorbances to the DMSO control group and represented as percentages.



Figure 2.1. Chemical structures of the telomerase activator molecules used in the studies

## 2.2.4. Wound Repair (*in vitro* Scratch Assay)

The wound-healing effect of telomerase activators was studied using the method adapted from Karaman *et al.* (2017). Briefly, cells were cultivated with standard culture methods (DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% L-glutamine, without antibiotics). The cells were seeded on 48-well plates ( $5x10^4$  cells/ml) and incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours in the 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. Afterward, a linear scratch was created in the confluent monolayer by gently scraping with a sterile 200 µl pipette tip, and the cellular debris was removed by washing the cell surface twice with PBS. The serum-free medium (SFM)

containing the compounds at concentrations ranging from 0.5 to 100 nM (0.5, 2, 10, 30, and 100 nM) was applied to the wells, and SFM with 0.1% DMSO was used as a control group for calculations, and EGF (10 ng/mL,~1.67 nM) was used as positive control. The promotion of wound closure was observed by capturing micrographs with a light microscope (Euromex Oxion Inverso, OX.2003-PL, Holland) at 0h, 24h, 48h, and 72h, respectively. The percentage of healed wound area at each time point was analyzed by using the ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD, http://www.rsb.info.nih.gov/ij) <sup>252-253</sup> and wound closure at each time point was quantified (Eq. 1-2) and to DMSO control.

In order to evaluate the effects of the molecules on cell migration, the same procedure was applied after Mitomycin C (MMC, 25  $\mu$ M) treatment for two hours prior to scratching to suppress cell proliferation.

% of wound area at $t(x) = b/a * 100$	Equation 1
% of wound closure after $xh = 100$ -(b/a *100)	Equation 2

Where, x: time point, a: cell-free area of the initial, b: cell-free area after x hour.

#### 2.2.5. Growth Kinetics

MSCs cells were seeded on 6-well plates with  $3x10^4$  cells/well and cultured for up to 40 days. During incubation, randomly selected 3 wells were subjected to cell counting with a Neubauer hemacytometer after trypsinization every other day. The cell numbers and appropriate days of incubation were used to draw a growth curve for the calculation of population doubling time according to the following equation (Eq. 3).

$$t_d = \ln 2/\mu$$
 Equation 3

Where,  $t_d$ : doubling time,  $\mu$ : specific cell growth rate.

#### **2.2.6.** Population Doubling Level

MSCs, at earliest passage number (P4), were cultivated with standard culture methods (DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% L-glutamine, without antibiotics) incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours in the 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere until 70-80% confluency. Then, the cells were detached via trypsinization and seeded on 12-well plates ( $3x10^4$  cells/ml). After 24 hours of incubation, cells were treated with molecules and cultivated with medium renewal and molecule treatment every other day until cells reached approximately 80% confluency. Before reaching full confluency, cells were passed into new 12-well plates after cell counting for every condition separately and continued until the cells were no longer attached to the plate surface and proliferated. The cell number for every passage, the population doubling length (PDL), was calculated according to the formula PDL = PDL<sub>0</sub> + 3.322(log C<sub>f</sub> – log C<sub>i</sub>) where PDL<sub>0</sub>: population doubling length of the passage number at the start, C<sub>i</sub>: the initial cell number that seeded into the plates, C<sub>f</sub>: the final cell number counted at the end of the passage  $^{254-255}$ :

#### 2.2.7. β-Galactosidase Staining

 $\beta$ -Galactosidase Staining Kit (BioVision, Cat. No. K802-250) was used for this purpose according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, cells were washed once with 1 mL of 1X PBS and fixed with 500 µl of fixative solution for 15 minutes at room temperature. The staining solution mix was prepared while the cells were in the fixative solution. After fixation, the fixative solution was aspirated, and cells were washed (×2) with PBS. Afterward, stained with 500 µl of staining solution mix was added to each well. The plate was covered and incubated overnight at 37 °C. The development of the blue color was observed under the microscope. The staining solution was removed for longterm storage of the stained plates, and the plate was overlayed with 70% glycerol and stored at 4°C. The development of the blue color was observed under the light microscope.

#### 2.2.8. Osteogenic Differentiation

MSC (HMSC-AD-500, CLS cell lines Service, Lot #102, Eppelheim, Germany) was cultivated based on standard cell culture techniques using basal medium DMEM (supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% L-Gln) in a humidified incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at  $37 \,^{\circ}$ C.

The cells grown with serial sub-cultivation with or without molecule treatment were subjected to osteogenic differentiation. For this purpose, cells from each condition were seeded on well plates. After 24 h incubation for cell adhesion, the medium was replaced with osteogenic medium (DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 nM dexamethasone, 50  $\mu$ g/mL ascorbic acid, 10 mM  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate) including different concentrations of telomerase activators (1 to 1000 nM) and cultured up to 21 days. To observe osteogenic differentiation, Alizarin red S (ARS) staining was applied. Briefly, cells were rinsed with PBS (×3) and then fixed with ice-cold MeOH for 15 minutes at room temperature. Afterward, MeOH was removed, and cells were washed (×2) with deionized water and stained with Alizarin red S dye solution (ARS, 2% w/v) at 37 °C for 15 min. Afterward, stained cells were rinsed (×2) with PBS and incubated in PBS at room temperature for 15 min with rotation to remove nonspecific dye binding.

## 2.2.9. Immunoblotting

Preparation of cell extracts and western blot scraped monolayer cells for 48 h were collected at 1,500 g for 5 min, washed twice with ice-cold PBS, and whole protein lysates were extracted using RIPA buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 5 mM ethylene glycol tetra-acetic acid, 1% Triton X-100, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 2 mM phenylmethanesulfonyl, 2 mM iodoacetamide, and 1x protease inhibitor cocktail) (Roche, Indianapolis, IN, USA). Cell extracts were centrifuged at 16,000 g for 10 min at 4°C. Supernatants were used for protein quantification using the Pierce1 BCA Protein Assay Kit, followed by denaturation of the sample with Laemmli buffer.

For the Western Blot analysis, 60  $\mu$ g proteins were loaded per lane on sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gels (SDS-PAGE). Following electrophoresis and transfer to polyvinylidene fluoride membranes (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), the blots were incubated in 5% nonfat milk in TBS-T (20 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, Tween 0.2%, pH 7.6). Membranes were then incubated with rabbit anti-Galectin1 1:5,000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific), rabbit antiGLUT1 1:1,000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and rabbit antiβ-actin 1:1,000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) antibodies. After washing, the membranes were incubated with IRDye1 800CW antiRabbit IgG 1:15,000 (LI-COR Biosciences, Lincoln, NE, USA) and imaged on the Odyssey Infrared Imaging System (LI-COR Biosciences) followed by densitometric analysis.

Table 2.1.	Preparation	of resolving	and stacking	gels
	1	0	0	$\boldsymbol{\omega}$

Resolving Gel				Stacking Gel	
Gel percentage	10%	12%	15%	Gel percentage	
Acrylamide (30%)	3.33 ml	4 ml	5 ml	Acrylamide (30%)	0.35 ml
4x Resolving buffer	2.5 ml	2.5 ml	2.5 ml	4x Stacking buffer	0.75 ml
Distilled water	4.1 ml	3.5 ml	2.5 ml	Distilled water	1.9 ml
AP (10%)		75 µl		AP (10 %)	25 µl

#### **2.2.10. Statistical Analysis**

All experiments were conducted at least in triplicates, and GraphPad Prism 6.0 software (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA) was used for statistical analyses. Data were presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Statistical significance was determined by Student's t-test (two-tail) or two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Sidak's post hoc correction through GraphPad Prism version 6.0 (GraphPad Software), and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Significance on the graphs was indicated with \*, where p < 0.05; \*\*, where p < 0.01; \*\*\*, where p < 0.001; \*\*\*\*, where p < 0.0001. Non-significant correlations (p > 0.05) were not indicated on the graphs.

## 2.3. Results

#### 2.3.1. The Effects on the Proliferation of MSCs

One of this thesis's primary goals is to define the role of telomerase activators in the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells to investigate their improved usage in research and clinical applications. Based on this purpose, firstly, MTT assays were constructed in order to determine the effective concentration range for each molecule.



Figure 2.2. Effect of CG and E-CG-01 molecules on cell proliferation (concentration range 0.5 - 1000 nM, 48 h treatment). Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3) (significant differences were determined by one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's test) and significance levels are presented as \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.0001 compared to vehicle control, DMSO</p>



Figure 2.3. Effect of E-AG-01 and E-AG-02 molecules on cell proliferation (concentration range 0.5 - 1000 nM, 48 h treatment). Error bars mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (n = 3) (significant differences were determined by oneway analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's test) and significance levels are presented as \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.0001 compared to vehicle control, DMSO

# 2.3.2. Wound Healing

In order to evaluate the effect of the molecule on wound healing in cells, an *in vitro* wound model was created, and the behavior of the cells in closing the wound area was examined. For this purpose, the effect of molecule application at different concentrations (0.5 - 1000 nM) on cell proliferation/viability after 48 hours was evaluated, and the results are presented in Figure 2.4. When the results are considered, it is seen that the molecules increase cell proliferation in competition with the growth factor EGF. On the other hand, the MMC molecule, which is planned to be used in migration experiments, has been shown not to kill cells at the applied concentration but only to stop proliferation.



Figure 2.4. Effects of CG on *in vitro* wound healing. Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3) (significant differences were determined by one-way ANOVA, Tukey's test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.001</p>



Figure 2.5. Effects of E-CG-01 on *in vitro* wound healing. Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3) (significant differences were determined by one-way ANOVA, Tukey's test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.0001 ns: not statistically significant compared to vehicle control, DMSO</p>



Figure 2.6. Effects of E-AG-01 on *in vitro* wound healing. Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3) (significant differences were determined by one-way ANOVA, Tukey's test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.001</p>



Figure 2.7. Effects of E-AG-02 on *in vitro* wound healing. Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3) (significant differences were determined by one-way ANOVA, Tukey's test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.0001 ns: not statistically significant compared to vehicle control, DMSO</p>

#### 2.3.3. Growth Kinetics and Senescence Condition of MSCs

In differentiation studies of stem cells, it was thought that differentiation should be initiated by applying differentiation-inducing factors in the period when the growth is in the exponential phase. For this reason, the growth behavior of MSCs used in the project was examined. Looking at the cell number versus time graph (Figure 2.4) obtained by cell counting at certain time intervals, it is seen that the cells enter the exponential phase on the 2nd to 3rd day after the lag phase and remain in this phase until the 15th day. After day 15, the stationary phase, in which the number of cells remained constant, lasted until day 28, and then the death phase started. Therefore, in osteogenic differentiation studies, it was decided to replace the medium with osteogenic differentiation medium on the 2nd or 3rd day of cultivation, considering the confluency of the cells.



Figure 2.8. The Growth curve of MSCs under standard culture conditions

By preventing cellular senescence through telomerase activation, it is aimed to extend the manipulation time of stem cells *in vitro* and to improve stem cell therapies by transferring their differentiation properties to advanced passages. In this direction, firstly, the senescence status of MSCs was cultured and carried to further passages by subcultivation,  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity and the levels of telomerase-associated hTERT protein levels were examined (Figure 2.9).



Figure 2.9. Senescence markers of MSCs at different passages. Images of β-galactosidase staining (A and B, senescent cells were indicated with blue arrows) and Western blot analysis of senescence markers and hTERT levels (C) of MSCs for different passages (left). The change in osteogenic marker proteins and p27 levels of vehicle controls during osteogenic differentiation of MSCs (right)

#### 2.3.4. Population Doubling Length

In order to evaluate the effects of the molecules on the population doubling length (PDL) of MSCs during continuous sub-cultivation, molecule administration was started

at the earliest passage (P4) with a concentration range between 1 to 1000 nM. At every passage, cells were counted via a hemocytometer, and PDL was calculated for each condition separately. Since overgrowth may cause senescence, sub-cultivation was performed before cells reached full confluency. The sub-cultivation was continued until P15 and the morphology of the MSCs at P15 was given in Figure 2.10. The results of PDL of MSC at passages between P4 to P15 were represented for each molecule in Figures 2.11 - 2.14.



Figure 2.10. Light microscopy images of MSCs at P15 (10x objective, Scale bar 100 µm)



Figure 2.11. The effects of CG on population doubling length of MSC during serial subcultivation with continuous treatment



Figure 2.12. The effects of E-CG-01 on population doubling length of MSC during serial sub-cultivation with continuous treatment



Figure 2.13. The effects of E-AG-01 on population doubling length of MSC during serial sub-cultivation with continuous treatment



Figure 2.14. The effects of E-AG-02 on population doubling length of MSC during serial sub-cultivation with continuous treatment
## 2.3.5. β-Galactosidase Staining

The senescence conditions of MSCs were evaluated via -galactosidase staining during continuous sub-cultivation. For this purpose, cells at P15 where the blue-colored senescent cells were observed for the first time. The overgrowth and starved MSCs were used as the positive control for the staining procedure (Figure 2.15). Light microscopy images of  $\beta$ -gal stained MSCs at P15 via sub-cultivation with continuous molecule treatment were given in Figures 2.16 – 2.19.



Figure 2.15. Light microscopy images of β-gal positive MSCs at high and low densities



Figure 2.16. Light microscopy images of β-gal stained MSCs at P15 via sub-cultivation with continuous CG treatment. Micrographs represent randomly selected 3 replicates for each condition



Figure 2.17. Light microscopy images of β-gal stained MSCs at P15 via sub-cultivation with continuous E-CG-01 treatment. Micrographs represent randomly selected 3 replicates for each condition



Figure 2.18. Light microscopy images of β-gal stained MSCs at P15 via sub-cultivation with continuous E-AG-01 treatment. Micrographs represent randomly selected 3 replicates for each condition





Figure 2.19. Light microscopy images of  $\beta$ -gal stained MSCs at P15 via sub-cultivation with continuous E-AG-02 treatment. Micrographs represent randomly selected areas of 3 replicates for each condition

#### **2.3.6.** Osteogenic Differentiation

In order to evaluate the osteogenic differentiation potential of MSC at further passages, cells were serially passaged starting from P4, and after P10, cells were subjected to osteogenic differentiation at every other passage. At the end of 21 days, differentiation was checked with ARS staining. The photographs of stained wells for P10 to P14 were given in Figure 2.20 for each condition.



Figure 2.20. The images of AR-S stained MSCs at different passages (P10, P12 and P14) via sub-cultivation with or without continuous compound treatment for 21 days. Serial passaging without treatment (A) serial passaging with continuous molecule (1 to 1000 nM) treatment (B). Non-diff. and DMSO controls represent undifferentiated control group and vehicle control group, respectively

Continuous sub-cultivation was carried out until P20. However, osteogenic differentiation was not observed after P14. The ARS staining results of P15 are given in Figure 2.21.



Figure 2.21. The images of AR-S stained MSCs at P15 via sub-cultivation with or without continuous compound treatment for 21 days. Serial passaging without treatment (A) serial passaging with continuous molecule (1 to 1000 nM) treatment (B). Non-diff. and DMSO controls represent undifferentiated control group and vehicle control group, respectively

#### 2.4. Discussion

In a study by Zhou and colleagues, telomerase activation was shown to increase the lifespan and reproductive capacity of stem cells significantly. Similarly, within the scope of the project, the molecules were found to act in competition with the growth factor EGF, given the data obtained from cell proliferation and wound healing experiments. Another study showed that ectopic expression of telomerase in stem cells isolated from adipose tissue does not negatively affect the normal metabolism of the cells, increases the sustainability of the osteogenic cell pool *in vitro* and helps to maintain the multipotent properties of the cells. In the same study, it was found that control group cells without telomerase expression lost their self-renewal properties at the end of 12 passages. In comparison, telomerase-expressing cells maintained their differentiation ability for 50 passages, and there was no change in growth kinetics during this period (Zhou et al., 2020). While CG, the starting molecule, increased cell proliferation by 10%, it was observed that E-AG-01, one of the CG derivatives, increased proliferation above 20% at all applied concentrations. Similarly, E-CG-01 and E-AG-01 molecules also increased proliferation by up to 20%. In wound healing experiments, unlike previous studies (Sevimli-Gür et al., 2011), cell proliferation was stopped by mitomycin C application, and the migration effect of the molecules was also examined. When the migration results were examined, it was seen that the molecules provided wound closure with a migration effect rather than a proliferative effect. Thus, while CG (300 nM) provided 50% wound closure in mesenchymal stem cell wound healing, CG derivatives carried this rate above 50% in the 2-300 nM concentration range and especially E-CG-01 (100 nM) molecule was the most effective molecule in wound closure. Cao and colleagues reported that CG (300 nM) increased proliferation and migration in human epidermal stem cells (Cao et al., 2019). Specifically, E-CG-01 has a lactone framework in the ring A of CG, whereas E-AG-01 and E-AG-02 are 3,4-seco forms of the same ring in astragenol skeleton (AG; cyclopropane ring cleaved form of CG obtained upon strong acid treatment). Both groups significantly increased the activities in comparison to starting molecule CG. On the other hand, our results indicated that telomerase activators provide cell-specific responses that need to be evaluated case by case since a similar trend was not evident in all cell types in terms of concentration and molecule type.

As a result of our studies, it has been shown that the doubling times are prolonged with the increase in senescence-related protein (p16, p27 and K48) levels with increasing passage numbers. Histochemical staining for  $\beta$ -galactosidase ( $\beta$ -gal), which is closely related to senescence, was performed on cell samples taken by skipping one passage from P8, and the prepared cell preparations were examined under a light microscope. It was observed that the number of blue cells was almost negligible until P12; this number started to increase from P14, and at P16, the number of cells stained blue due to  $\beta$ -gal activity was at high levels. In a study on stem cell senescence conducted by Gruber and colleagues with adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal cells, it was similarly reported that the doubling time of cells increased with increasing passage number, and this value exceeded 200 hours at P8. Since stem cell metabolism can vary according to the health status and age of the isolated donor <sup>256</sup>, it is thought that the data obtained within the scope of the thesis are consistent with the literature <sup>257-258</sup>.

According to MTT assay results, it has been shown that telomerase activators caused an increase in cell proliferation by up to 80% compared to the control group (DMSO control, 0.1%). Additionally, results demonstrated that the effect of telomerase activators is higher for P10 and P12 compared to early and late passages (P8 and P14).

Our results showed that telomerase activators significantly ameliorated *in vitro* wound repair. These findings were compatible with previous works by Sevimli-Gür *et al.* with *Astragalus* cyclobutane-type saponins, in which 2nM of CG was the most effective concentration for *in vitro* (HS2 cells) wound healing. Specifically, E-CG-01 has a lactone framework in the ring A of CG, whereas E-AG-01 and E-AG-02 are 3,4-seco forms of the same ring in astragenol skeleton (AG; cyclopropane ring cleaved form of CG obtained upon strong acid treatment). Both groups significantly increased the activities in comparison to starting molecule CG. On the other hand, our results indicated that telomerase activators provide cell-specific responses that need to be evaluated case by case since a similar trend was not evident in all cell types in terms of concentration and molecule type.

Senescent cells were determined in different passage numbers via the  $\beta$ galactosidase staining procedure, and senescent cells (blue) were investigated under the light microscope. A few numbers of senescent cells were observed first at P12, and it was seen that blue-colored senescent cells dominated the culture after P14. Furthermore, we performed an immunoblotting assay, Western blot analysis, to investigate senescentassociated proteins and hTERT protein levels, closely related to telomerase activity. The Western blot results showed that during long-term incubation periods, senescenceassociated protein levels increase starting from P10. Also, it can be concluded that there is no significant hTERT protein secretion in MSCs. Thus, we expect the telomerase activator molecules to increase the hTERT expression and prevent stem cells from senescence during *in vitro* cultivation.

Based on these results, we continue to incubate cells (P4) with small telomerase activator molecules to identify the effects of the molecules on the senescence and differentiation capacity of MSCs during long-term cultivation. The cell samples from every other passage were tested separately for their senescence condition and differentiation ability through  $\beta$ -galactosidase and ARS staining, respectively.

It has been reported that adult human MSCs and osteoblasts propagated *in vitro* show no detectable telomerase activity. When telomerase enzyme was expressed in bone marrow stromal stem cells, their lifespan and reproductive capacity were significantly increased, and their bone formation potential was increased *in vitro* <sup>247-248</sup>. When these studies were examined, it was seen that genetic interventions provided telomerase enzyme expression.

The decrease in the ossification and bone healing process with aging and the decrease in the regenerative potential of MSCs as the age of the donor increases in stem cell therapy are the most significant problems to be overcome for cellular clinical treatments <sup>259</sup>. In addition, the amount of MSC in the bone marrow decreases with age; during *in vitro* propagation, it is lost because they enter a phase called senescence (cell cycle arrest), or tissue loss may occur shortly after transplantation due to the lack of tissue integration <sup>260-261</sup>.

Telomerase activation in MSC is predicted to improve tissue engineering studies and accelerate the transition to clinical applications. The literature has reported that telomerase activation in stem cells significantly increases the lifespan and reproductive capacity of cells while increasing their bone formation potential in vitro<sup>245</sup>. Telomerase activation accelerates osteogenic differentiation both in vitro and in vivo by causing an increase in the expression of genes directly related to bone development, such as osterix and osteocalcin, accelerates the process by increasing calcium accumulation, and is 6 times more likely than the control group in the 2-6 weeks post-transplantation period. It has been shown that more bone formation is provided <sup>262</sup>. Another study showed that ectopic telomerase expression in stem cells isolated from adipose tissue does not adversely affect the normal metabolism of cells, increases the in vitro sustainability of the osteogenic cell pool, and helps preserve the multipotent properties of the cells. The same study determined that the control group cells without telomerase expression lost their selfrenewal properties at the end of 12 passages. In contrast, telomerase-expressing cells retained their differentiation ability for 50 passages, and there was no change in their growth kinetics during this period. The fact that no malignant transformation was observed with the increase in telomerase activity also proves that the method has a high potential for tissue engineering and regeneration studies <sup>263</sup>.

## 2.5. Conclusion

The fate of both stem cells is hardly regulated by also their niche, the local microenvironment. The determination of the regulatory factors from the niche and their biological targets is an important aspect to understand and guide cell biology <sup>240</sup>. Due to their dependence on unknown regulatory factors, stem cells mostly need feeder cells and serum-containing media to survive *in vitro*. Unfortunately, using feeder cells and serum results in an increasing number of undefined regulatory factors related to stem cell differentiation, self-renewal, and pluripotency <sup>237, 264</sup>. To overcome the complexity owing to secretions of feeder cells or unknown ingredients from serum, chemically defined xeno- and feeder-cell-free media compositions can be used by supporting small molecules instead of growth factors <sup>237</sup>. These chemically defined media and small molecules provide not only defined conditions to discover certain molecular mechanism effects but also result in decreased cost due to the use of growth factors to control and investigate cells and, importantly, decrease rejection of transplanted stem cells <sup>264-265</sup>.

## **CHAPTER 3**

# EVALUATION OF THE EFFECTS OF TELOMERASE ACTIVATORS ON OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION OF HUMAN ADIPOSE-DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

#### 3.1. Background

Strong evidence has shown that osteodegenerative diseases such as osteoporosis are associated with short telomeres. When the *in vitro* osteoblast differentiation of MSCs from telomerase-negative mice was examined, it was observed that the proliferation of the cells was reduced, the doubling times were prolonged, and the mineral deposition could not be achieved <sup>249</sup>.

Obtaining MSC from bone marrow has been possible for many years. However, obtaining it from bone marrow is a challenging method for regenerative medicine as it is an invasive and painful procedure for patients. In addition, the amount of MSC in the bone marrow decreases with age. It is lost during *in vitro* propagation, mainly because they enter senescence or are lost shortly after transplantation <sup>260-261, 266</sup>. It is known that it can also be isolated from other tissues such as adipose tissue, skin, amniotic fluid, amniotic membrane, placenta, umbilical cord, cord blood, etc. <sup>236, 267</sup>. Among these tissues that are the source of MSCs, the fact that adipose tissue contains higher amounts of MSCs and can be easily obtained with a simple surgical procedure has increased the use of adipose MSCs for therapeutic purposes in recent years <sup>268</sup>.

Increasing the TERT gene's co-ectopic expression, the telomerase's catalytic subunit and VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor) have been shown to prolong the *in vitro* cultivation time and accelerate vascularization both *in vitro* and *in vivo* in bone marrow stromal stem cells from aged donors. In the karyotype analysis, no chromosomal

differences were observed, and no tumorigenic risk was detected <sup>166</sup>. In studies on increasing telomerase activity, it is concluded that in addition to increasing telomere length, telomerase also positively affects and accelerates stem cell differentiation. When the multipotent properties of mesenchymal stem cells are added, it is possible to obtain similar results for more than one tissue type.

In the study by Shi *et al.* in 2002, hTERT expression of human bone marrow stem cells was increased by retroviral transduction. As a result, the number of passages could be increased above 80 by prolonging the lifespan of cells that showed senescence after 30 passages and were known to lose their osteogenic differentiation capacity. It has been reported that cells subjected to osteogenic differentiation showed twice as much calcium accumulation as the control group at the end of 4 weeks. In addition, the effect of telomerase expression on bone tissue formation was examined in an *in vivo* study. It was determined that telomerase active stem cells transplanted in the 20th passage formed 5 times more bone tissue than the control group. The effect of telomerase expression on preserving osteogenic differentiation capacity was tested by transplanting cells of differentiation capacity. However, it was stated that the cells with the best bone-forming capacity were telomerase-active cells in the 40th passage. In the experiment on whether telomerase activity causes tumor formation, oncogenic transformation was not found *in vivo* <sup>247</sup>.

In 2003, Gronthos *et al.* conducted a study with bone marrow stromal cells to investigate the functional role of telomerase during osteogenesis. It has been shown to accelerate both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In the *in vitro* study, it was observed that a significant amount of calcium accumulation took 4 weeks in the control group without telomerase activity. The exact amount of calcium accumulation could be achieved in only 2 weeks in cells with increased telomerase expression. It has been reported that the number of viable cells is higher than the control group in transplantation with telomerase-activated cells, and 6 times more bone formation is achieved in the 2-6 weeks post-transplantation period than in the control group  $^{262}$ . In the study published by Kang *et al.* in 2004, the effect of telomerase on the *in vitro* lifespan of stromal cells isolated from adipose tissue and its effect on osteogenic differentiation were investigated. *İn vitro* sustainability of the osteogenic cell pool of ectopic expression of telomerase.

#### **3.2.** Materials and Methods

#### **3.2.1.** Osteogenic Differentiation

MSC (HMSC-AD-500, CLS cell lines Service, Lot #102, Eppelheim, Germany) was cultivated based on standard cell culture techniques using basal medium DMEM (supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% L-Gln) in a humidified incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37 °C.

After 24 h incubation for cell adhesion, the medium was replaced with osteogenic medium (DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 nM dexamethasone, 50 µg/mL ascorbic acid, 10 mM  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate) including different concentrations of telomerase activators (0.1, 2, 10 30, 100, 300 and 1000 nM) and cultured up to 28 days. To observe osteogenic differentiation of MSCs, total DNA content, alkaline phosphatase (ALPase), and calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) assays were evaluated every week according to manufacturer's instructions (QuantiChrom ALPase Assay Kit Cat# and QuantiChrom Calcium Assay Kit Cat#). ALPase activity and Ca<sup>2+</sup> contents were normalized to DNA content for comparison groups.

### 3.2.1.1. Alizarin Red S Staining and Quantification

Cells were rinsed with PBS ( $\times$ 3) and then fixed with ice-cold MeOH for 15 minutes at room temperature. Afterward, MeOH was removed, and cells were washed ( $\times$ 2) with deionized water and stained with Alizarin red S dye solution (ARS, 2% w/v) at 37 °C for 15 min. Afterward, stained cells were rinsed ( $\times$ 2) with PBS and incubated in PBS at room temperature for 15 min with rotation to remove nonspecific dye binding. After taking micrographs under the light microscope, cells were destained with 10% cetylpyridinium chloride (CPC, in 10mM potassium phosphate buffer pH 7.0) solution with rotation at room temperature for 20 min. The samples were transferred into 96-well

plates, and absorbance was measured at 562 nm via a micro-plate reader (Synergy<sup>TM</sup>, HTX- BioTek, Winooski, VT, ABD). Quantification of calcium deposits was performed by using the equation from the ARS standard graph (absorbance vs ARS amount) given in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1. Quantification of ARS-stained calcium deposits at 14, 21 and 28 days of differentiation of MSC. Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3). The change in calcium deposits of MSC during four weeks of differentiation (A), photographs of the differentiated (lower) and undifferentiated (upper) MSC for each week (B), and the standard curve graph and equation for the ARS quantification (C)

#### 3.2.1.2. Calcium Assay

The total calcium amount was determined by using the QuantiChrom calcium assay kit (DICA-250, BioAssay Systems, Hayward, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the cell pellets were lysed on ice using 10 mM Tris-HCl with 0.1 % Triton X-100 in PBS by shaking at room temperature at 150 rpm for 20

min and centrifuged at 21,000 g (4 °C) for 10 minutes. The supernatants were used for the calcium assay. Total protein concentration and double-stranded DNA amount were determined by bicinchoninic acid (BCA) method by using Pierce protein assay kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and DNA Quantification Kit (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) respectively according to the manufacturer's instructions.

#### 3.2.1.3. Alkaline Phosphatase Activity Assay

ALP activity assays were performed using a QuantiChrom ALP assay kit (DALP-250, BioAssay Systems, Hayward, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the cell pellets were lysed on ice using 10 mM Tris-HCl with 0.1 % Triton X-100 in PBS by shaking at room temperature at 150 rpm for 20 min and centrifuged at 21,000 g (4 °C) for 10 minutes. The supernatants were used for the ALP activity assay. Total protein concentration and double-stranded DNA amount were determined by bicinchoninic acid (BCA) method by using Pierce protein assay kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and DNA Quantification Kit (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) respectively according to the manufacturer's instructions.

#### **3.2.1.4. Immunofluorescence**

Following the treatment with molecules for 28 days, cells were rinsed with PBS and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) for 30 minutes at 4 °C and washed three times with ice-cold PBS. The samples were immersed with 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 1 hour and blocked with 1% BSA in PBS for 1 hour. After removal of BSA solution, the samples were incubated with primary antibodies in 1% BSA overnight at 4 °C. Primary antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., California, USA) mouse monoclonal antibody against OC (1:100; #365797), mouse monoclonal antibody

against COL I (1:100, #59772;), and mouse monoclonal antibody against ALP (1:100, #365765,) were used for osteogenic markers. After washing primary antibodies, the samples were incubated with secondary antibody m-IgG kappa BP-FITC (1:500, #516140; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., California, USA) in 1% BSA for 90 min at 37 °C. At the end of the incubation, the samples were stained with 4,6-diamidino- 2-phenylindole (DAPI, Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) for 5 min at room temperature. The images were captured with the same exposure time and light intensity via an inverted fluorescence microscope (Axio observer Z1, Zeiss, Jena, Germany).

#### **3.2.1.5 Telomerase Activity Assay**

Telomerase activity was quantified with a TeloTAGGG Telomerase PCR ELISA<sup>PLUS</sup> kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Roche Diagnostics, Meylan, France).

#### **3.2.2. Statistical Analysis**

All experiments were conducted at least in triplicates, and GraphPad Prism 6.0 software (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA) was used for statistical analyses. Data were presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Statistical significance was determined by Student's t-test (two-tail) or two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Sidak's post hoc correction through GraphPad Prism version 6.0 (GraphPad Software), and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Significance on the graphs was indicated with \*, where p < 0.05; \*\*, where p < 0.01; \*\*\*, where p < 0.001; \*\*\*\*, where p < 0.001. Non-significant correlations (p > 0.05) were not indicated on the graphs.

### **3.3. Results**

### 3.3.1. Alizarin Red S Staining

In order to follow the formation of extracellular calcium deposits, which is one of the important markers of osteogenic differentiation, i.e., bone tissue-specific mineralization, osteogenic differentiation studies were performed with molecule application to stem cells seeded in 48-well culture dishes. AR-S staining was performed on the 7, 14, 21 and 28 days of differentiation. The images of the differentiation in control groups are presented in Figure 3.2. The quantification of AR-S stained calcium deposits of experimental groups is given in Figure 3.3. Accordingly, it is seen that the molecules used significantly increased mineralization during osteogenic differentiation.



Figure 3.2. The images of ARS-stained calcium deposits at 14, 21 and 28 days of differentiation of MSC



Figure 3.3. Quantification of ARS-stained calcium deposits at 14, 21 and 28 days of differentiation of MSC with molecule treatment (10, 30, 100 and 300 nM). Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3). DMSO, vehicle control; ODM, osteogenic differentiation medium only

## 3.3.2. DNA Amount, ALP Activity and Total Calcium Content

In order to follow the changes in ALP activity and calcium content, which are important markers of osteogenic differentiation, osteogenic differentiation studies were performed with molecule application to stem cells seeded in 12-well culture dishes. On the 7th, 14th, 21st and 28th days of differentiation, the total DNA amount was determined. ALP activity and calcium content were ratioed to the total DNA amount and the results are presented in Figure 3.4 - 3.7.



Figure 3.4. Effect of CG on DNA amount (A), ALP activity (B) and calcium content (C) during osteogenic differentiation. Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3) (significant differences were determined by one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA, Sidak test), \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.001 compared to vehicle control, DMSO</li>



Figure 3.5. Effect of E-CG-01 on DNA amount (A), ALP activity (B) and calcium content (C) during osteogenic differentiation. Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3) (significant differences were determined by one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA, Sidak test), \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.0001 compared to vehicle control, DMSO</p>



Figure 3.6. Effect of E-AG-01 on DNA amount (A), ALP activity (B) and calcium content (C) during osteogenic differentiation. Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3) (significant differences were determined by one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA, Sidak test), \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.0001 compared to vehicle control, DMSO</p>



Figure 3.7. Effect of E-AG-02 on DNA amount (A), ALP activity (B) and calcium content (C) during osteogenic differentiation. Error bars mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (n = 3) (significant differences were determined by one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA, Sidak test), \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.0001 compared to vehicle control, DMSO

#### 3.3.3. Immunofluorescence

Before immunofluorescence staining, a control group of cells subjected to osteogenic differentiation was stained with Alizarin red (AR-S) to confirm that osteogenic differentiation had occurred, and fluorescence staining was started. The mineralized nodules initiated by osteogenic differentiation and formed as a result of alkaline phosphatase (ALP) enzyme activity are shown in Figure 3.8. Immunofluorescence staining was performed after it was shown that osteogenic differentiation was performed smoothly. Cells were subjected to osteogenic differentiation with molecule application, and in the third week of differentiation, cytoskeleton (actin, phalloidin), collagen type 1 (COL-1), osteopontin (OPN) and osteocalcin (OCN) were visualized under fluorescence microscope by immunofluorescence staining method. The obtained actin filament images are presented in Figure 3.9, COL-1 in Figure 3.10, OPN in Figure 3.11 and OCN in Figure 3.12.



Figure 3.8. The images of ARS staining of differentiated (left) and non-differentiated (right) MSC at 21 days of incubation for immunofluorescence staining (objective 4x, scale bars left 500 µm and right 200 µm)



Figure 3.9. Cytoskeleton images from the third week of differentiation (100  $\mu$ M treatment). Actin filaments were stained with phalloidin (red) and the cell nucleus with DAPI (blue) (20x objective, scale 20  $\mu$ m)



Figure 3.10. Immunofluorescence staining images from the third week of differentiation (100 μM treatment). COL-1 (green) and cell nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue) (20x objective, scale 50 μm)



Figure 3.11. Immunofluorescence staining images from the third week of differentiation (100 μM treatment). OPN (green) and cell nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue) (20x objective, scale 50 μm)



Figure 3.12. Immunofluorescence staining images from the third week of differentiation (100 μM treatment). OCN (green) and cell nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue) (20x objective, scale 50 μm)

#### **3.3.4.** Telomerase Activity

To examine the changes in telomerase activity during osteogenic differentiation, MHK (P8) was seeded in 12-well culture dishes, and after two days of incubation, differentiation was initiated by replacing the medium with an osteogenic differentiation medium. Simultaneously with the initiation of differentiation, the cells were treated with molecules, and the medium exchange and molecule treatment were repeated every three days. Cell pellets collected on days 7, 14 and 21 of differentiation were stored at -80°C for telomerase activity assay.

Telomerase activity was determined from the stored cell pellets using the Telotagg kit (Roche, 1203789001) according to the manufacturer's instructions and the change in activity was calculated and presented as a fold increase compared to the control group (Figure 3.13).



Figure 3.13. Effects of molecules on relative telomerase activity (RTA) during osteogenic differentiation. Error bars mean ± standard deviation (n = 3)

Molecules	Conc., nM	Time, days	Activity/µg protein ml <sup>-1</sup>	Activity/ng DNA ml <sup>-1</sup>
MSC at t <sub>0</sub>	-	0	$2.175\pm0.116$	$2.089 \pm 0.029$
Control)	-	7	$1.000\pm0.011$	$1.000\pm0.013$
CG	1	7	$0.680\pm0.164$	$0.639 \pm 0.025$
CG	10	7	$0.658 \pm 0.009$	$0.619\pm0.005$
CG	100	7	$0.735\pm0.011$	$0.672\pm0.009$
E-CG-01	1	7	$0.910\pm0.035$	$0.802\pm0.022$
E-CG-01	10	7	$1.003\pm0.007$	$0.926\pm0.034$
E-CG-01	100	7	$0.404\pm0.013$	$0.389 \pm 0.006$
E-AG-01	1	7	$1.015\pm0.006$	$0.972\pm0.009$
E-AG-01	10	7	$0.846 \pm 0.036$	$0.804 \pm 0.006$
E-AG-01	100	7	$0.874 \pm 0.006$	$0.806 \pm 0.005$
E-AG-02	1	7	$1.235\pm0.012$	$1.135\pm0.077$
E-AG-02	10	7	$0.636\pm0.013$	$0.577\pm0.011$
E-AG-02	100	7	$1.114\pm0.017$	$1.028\pm0.028$
Control	-	14	$2.133 \pm 0.030$	$1.925\pm0.025$
CG	1	14	$2.812\pm0.065$	$2.424\pm0.248$
CG	10	14	$3.468 \pm 0.109$	$3.075\pm0.020$
CG	100	14	$0.996\pm0.043$	$0.897 \pm 0.049$
E-CG-01	1	14	$4.127\pm0.057$	$3.504 \pm 0.062$
E-CG-01	10	14	$2.319\pm0.099$	$2.087\pm0.032$
E-CG-01	100	14	$2.764\pm0.031$	$2.490\pm0.091$
E-AG-01	1	14	$3.943 \pm 0.114$	$3.290\pm0.059$
E-AG-01	10	14	$4.778\pm0.112$	$4.207\pm0.085$
E-AG-01	100	14	$4.428\pm0.113$	$4.102\pm0.183$
E-AG-02	1	14	$3.101\pm0.061$	$2.665\pm0.024$
E-AG-02	10	14	$4.972\pm0.223$	$4.335\pm0.033$
E-AG-02	100	14	$3.105\pm0.161$	$2.896 \pm 0.064$
Control	-	21	$1.811\pm0.034$	$1.615\pm0.019$
CG	1	21	$2.016\pm0.156$	$1.834\pm0.031$
CG	10	21	$2.891 \pm 0.046$	$2.612\pm0.049$
CG	100	21	$3.006\pm0.159$	$2.569 \pm 0.006$
E-CG-01	1	21	$1.216\pm0.032$	$1.154\pm0.010$
E-CG-01	10	21	$2.299 \pm 0.025$	$2.005\pm0.303$
E-CG-01	100	21	$2.788 \pm 0.242$	$2.653 \pm 0.039$
E-AG-01	1	21	$2.052\pm0.107$	$1.961\pm0.025$
E-AG-01	10	21	$2.630\pm0.037$	$2.299 \pm 0.313$
E-AG-01	100	21	$2.697 \pm 0.050$	$2.426\pm0.030$
E-AG-02	1	21	$1.818\pm0.050$	$1.667\pm0.038$
E-AG-02	10	21	$2.084\pm0.155$	$1.998\pm0.084$
E-AG-02	100	21	$2.312\pm0.065$	$2.114 \pm 0.195$

Table 3.2. Relative telomerase activity (RTA) during osteogenic differentiation

#### **3.4. Discussion**

It is noteworthy that there have been many studies in recent years to investigate/increase the application areas of telomerase activators, especially cycloastragenol (CG), in regenerative medicine. It is seen that these studies are primarily aimed at the treatment or prevention of diseases (Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, osteoarthritis, osteoporosis, etc.) that occur with aging and are associated with age-related telomere shortening. Szychlinska team carried out a critical analysis, pointing out that the loss of the ability to synthesize the ECM during long-term culture of the three-dimensional cartilage tissue created for the treatment of osteoarthritis (calcification), one of these diseases, is the biggest problem in stem cell treatments. In this study, the effect of CG was investigated, and it was reported that after a prolonged culture period (28 days), cells preserved their chondrocyte phenotypes and regenerative properties. In addition, mechanical properties were improved, and tissue integration was ameliorated <sup>269-270</sup>. In another study conducted by Yu et al., it was shown that in both aging and chemicalinduced bone loss models, CG application not only increases cell viability but also supports osteoblastic differentiation and suppresses osteoclast formation that leads to bone formation. The same study reported that CG increases osteo-activin secretion and mineralization, which resulted in improved biomechanical properties of bone tissue <sup>271</sup>. As a result of the studies conducted by Wu and his team examining the effect of CG on osteoporosis disease, it was reported that telomerase activation after CG administration showed a protective effect on glucocorticoid-induced osteogenic differentiation inhibition in rats <sup>272</sup>.

In light of all this information, it is seen that telomerase activators have a high potential in the prevention/treatment of many diseases that occur due to aging, as they provide telomere homeostasis and delay aging. Apart from using naturally derived telomerase activators as food supplements, their high potential for clinical applications, primarily stem cell therapies, should be addressed.

In studies conducted to increase telomerase activity, it is concluded that in addition to increasing telomere length, telomerase also positively affects and accelerates stem cell differentiation. In the literature, it has been shown that telomerase activation accelerates osteogenic differentiation both *in vitro* and in vivo by causing an increase in the expression of genes directly related to bone development, such as osterix and osteocalcin, accelerates the process by increasing calcium accumulation and provides 6 times more bone formation than the control group in the 2-6 week period after transplantation <sup>245, 262</sup>. In another study conducted by Yu and colleagues, it was shown that CG administration supported bone formation to increasing cell viability in both aging-induced and chemical stimuli-induced bone loss models. In the same study, it was reported that CG increased osteoactivin secretion and mineralization and also improved the biomechanical properties of the formed bone tissue <sup>273</sup>. Similarly, our results obtained by alizarin staining showed that the molecules increased mineralization to much higher levels compared to the control group from the second week of osteogenic differentiation.

In a study conducted by Szychlinska and colleagues, the effect of CG on stem cell morphology was examined, and it was reported that the cells retained stable chondrocyte phenotypes and regenerative properties as a result of chondrogenic differentiation at the end of a long culture period (28 days), in addition to improved mechanical properties and better tissue integration <sup>269-270</sup>. As a result of the studies conducted by Wu and colleagues examining the effect of CG on osteoporosis disease, it was reported that rats with telomerase activation following CG administration showed a protective effect against glucocorticoid-induced osteogenic differentiation inhibition <sup>272</sup>. As a result of the studies conducted within the scope of the project, it was observed that molecule administration increased ALP activity in a statistically significant manner. It was determined that the mineralization expected to occur in the extracellular matrix due to increased ALP activity also increased with molecule application as expected.

As a result of the analyses, the relative telomerase activity was calculated as 5.34 in the MSCs (P8) obtained before osteogenic differentiation was initiated (t=0). In the first week of differentiation, this value decreased to 2.39 (Table 3.1). In other words, at the beginning of differentiation, MSCs lost almost half of their telomerase activity. It has been reported that telomerase activity is effective in maintaining self-renewal and pluripotency in stem cells but gradually decreases with differentiation <sup>274-275</sup>. In our studies, in the first week of differentiation, E-AG-01 caused a 1.2 and 1.1-fold increase

in telomerase activity at 1 nM and 100 nM concentrations compared to the control group, respectively. In contrast, other molecules did not cause any increase in telomerase activity. In this respect, the fact that telomerase activity remained at lower levels in the first week compared to the control group leads us to conclude that the molecules may have accelerated differentiation. In the second week of differentiation, our origin molecule, CG, increased telomerase activity by 2.4 and 3-fold at concentrations of 1 and 10 nM, respectively; E-CG-01 increased telomerase activity by 3. 5, 2 and 2.5-fold; E-AG-01, 3.29, 4.2 and 4.1-fold at 1, 10 and 100 nM concentrations, respectively; and E-AG-02, 2.6, 4.3 and 2.9-fold at 1, 10 and 100 nM concentrations, respectively. In the third week of differentiation, all molecules increased activity by 1.1 to 2.6-fold over the applied concentration range (Figure 3.13). While a gradual decrease in telomerase activity was expected in the later days of differentiation, fluctuations in telomerase activity were observed in both the control group and the other experimental groups. When the literature was examined, it was found that there were similar increases and decreases in telomerase activity in a study conducted by Zhang et al. In this study, it was reported that telomerase activity increased on the 14th day of differentiation and again in the following days in parallel with the results we obtained within the scope of this project <sup>276</sup>. As a result of the studies conducted within the scope of the project, it was concluded that the molecules improve osteogenic differentiation by increasing ALP activity, as mentioned before. Similarly, the observation of a high increase in telomerase activity, especially on day 14 with molecule administration, indicates that there may be a positive interaction between telomerase and ALP, which peaks on day 14. As a matter of fact, studies in telomerase overexpressing mice have shown that many components in the insulin-like growth factor (IGF) pathway are synthesized in high amounts in these mice, and IGF-induced AKT phosphorylation and ALP activity are significantly increased <sup>249, 277</sup>. Although the effect of the molecules used in the project on osteogenic differentiation has been partially elucidated, further studies are required to fully elucidate the mechanism of action of the molecules at the molecular level.

It was observed that all molecules used in the applied concentration range caused an increase in the relevant mRNA levels compared to the controls; ALP expression reached the maximum level on day 14 in accordance with the ALP activity result, as well as the expression of structural proteins at the mRNA level continued during differentiation. On the other hand, structural proteins were visually examined by immunofluorescent staining and the results obtained as a result of differentiation studies were visually supported. When all the results obtained are evaluated together, it can be concluded that all four molecules used improve osteogenic differentiation at the applied concentrations. When all the results obtained are evaluated together, considering the effects of the molecules, especially on ALP activity and mineralization, it can be concluded that E-CG-01 and E-AG-01 molecules support osteogenic differentiation at lower concentrations (100 nM) compared to our starting molecule CG.

#### **3.5.** Conclusion

Stem cell therapy is promising for the elimination/prevention of degenerative bone diseases or accidental bone tissue damage that reduces quality of life. However, in most applications that require the cultivation of stem cells in vitro, stem cells experience a loss of chromosomal stability and lose their proliferation and differentiation potential <sup>259</sup>. At this point, the use of telomerase activator small molecules has come to the fore in recent years for the treatment of degenerative diseases associated with telomere shortening or telomere dysfunction, especially aging-related degenerative diseases (e.g., osteoporosis)<sup>200, 278</sup>. Previous studies emphasized that the accumulation of senescent cells in tissues with age due to the disruption in senescent cell clearance mechanisms causes degenerative diseases, and degeneration spreads progressively to surrounding tissue due to the senescence-associated secretory phenotype factors. Therefore, maintaining TL is essential for cellular integrity, and a specific enzyme called telomerase is primarily responsible for providing TL. Therefore, possible therapeutic effects of telomerase reactivation have been evaluated in different cellular backgrounds to cure various diseases that are found to be linked to short telomeres or telomere deficiencies. The treatment approaches providing telomere homeostasis, and natural small compounds are some of the available approaches to increase telomerase activity, which might be effective candidates for treating and preventing degenerative diseases.

## **CHAPTER 4**

# EVALUATION OF THE EFFECT OF CYCLOASTRAGENOL ON THE PRODUCTIVITY OF MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY PRODUCING CHINESE HAMSTER OVARY CELLS

#### 4.1. Background

Immortalized Chinese Hamster ovary cell (CHO) lineages are the most preferred mammalian host cells to produce biopharmaceuticals owing to their ability to perform post-translational modifications like those in human cells. Indeed, CHOs can be adapted to serum-free and suspension culture conditions, which are more effective and advantageous for large-scale production processes. Suspension culture is required for large-scale commercial bioreactor culture, and serum-free conditions guaranties to avoid of serum-originated infectious agents <sup>279</sup>.

Until today, significant improvements have been made in the production, characterization, and stabilization of mAbs after the successful production of the first therapeutic protein, Activase, by the subclone CHO-DG44 isolated in 1983 <sup>149</sup> in terms of genetic engineering approaches for new cell lines, effective expression systems, decreased immunogenicity, optimized bioprocess etc. <sup>279</sup>. As a result of these improvements, production techniques have evolved over the past few decades from the use of mouse ascites fluid to large-scale manufacturing. Today, the majority of large-scale applications are developed in disposable stirred tank bioreactors, maintaining a sterile environment for both manufacturing and downstream processing. However, current manufacturing and purification processes have limitations and thus need to be improved by decreasing overall production costs and increasing productivity <sup>152-154</sup>.

One of the drawbacks of mAb production is the chromosomal instability of CHOs. Thus, they undergo genomic instability and senescence due to their chromosomal instability, which leads to shortened lifespan and decreased production in prolonged culture periods <sup>155, 280</sup>. Normal Chinese hamster cells have telomere repeats sequences (TTAGGG) at the end of chromosomes and pericentromeric regions <sup>281</sup>. The study by Slijepcevic and Bryant exerted that the telomeric sequences are shorter than 1 kb in chromosomes of immortal CHO lines, including CHO-K1 subtypes CHO-K1a, CHO-K1b, CHO-K1c, and also human-hamster hybrid cell line R342A4 carrying human chromosome 10 <sup>156</sup>.

Therefore, telomerase activation may have some advantages in mAb production by CHO-K1 line that has extremely short telomeres <sup>156, 282</sup>, in terms of increased productivity by providing chromosomal stability which may lead to improved cell growth and physiology. Indeed, it has been demonstrated that hTERT over-expression in CHO cells increased cell proliferation and protected cells from stress-induced apoptosis during recombinant protein production, which resulted in higher productivity <sup>283-284</sup>.

The expected benefits of telomerase activation in mAb productions primarily include (i) enhancing cell line development of robust CHO cell lines by enabling the selection of high-producing clones that maintain their productivity over extended culture periods <sup>280</sup>, (ii) maintaining telomere length, which is crucial for genomic stability, may reduce the rate of mutations and chromosomal aberrations that might occur during the extensive cell culture periods required for biopharmaceuticals, thereby maintaining the integrity of the generated cell line <sup>285</sup>, (iii) extending the lifespan of CHOs by delaying senescence and allowing for longer production runs, (iv) reducing the frequency of developing new production cell lines <sup>286-287</sup>, and (v) providing a healthier state of the cells can support optimal metabolic and biosynthetic activities necessary for the efficient production of monoclonal antibodies <sup>288</sup>.

On the other hand, various media compositions, including some of the natural small molecules, have been tested in order to protect mammalian cells against various stress factors during cultivation and recombinant protein production and have been shown to exert higher protein titer in CHOs. In general, it was observed that the studies used natural small molecules owing to their antioxidant properties. For example, polyphenolic flavonoids (e.g., catechin, resveratrol, and rosmarinic acid) with high antioxidant
properties were used as additives in CHO media composition <sup>289</sup>. They resulted in increased viability and productivity of cells without causing any change in product quality and functionality <sup>290-291</sup>. For example, resveratrol was patented with many other polyphenolic compounds (catechin, chlorogenic acid, pelargonidin, quercetin, rosmarinic acid and silibinin) in 2016 as a successful additive for recombinant protein production in CHO cells (Tian 2016, US20230002800A1) <sup>290</sup>. However, none of these studies examines whether this enhancement is related to telomerase activation or not. Thus, we aimed to use cycloastragenol (CG) as an additive in mAb production for the first time since CG is a natural telomerase activator compound, exerting various health benefits with its tremendous protective and therapeutic properties.

#### 4.2. Materials and Methods

### 4.2.1. Cell line and Culture

Humanized recombinant mAb (HUMIRA<sup>®</sup> biosimilar) producing stable CHO-K1 cells with a glutamine synthetase gene expression system was purchased from Creative Dynamic Inc., USA. CHO-K1 cells were grown in T-75 tissue culture flasks with chemically defined CD Opti-CHO medium (Gibco, Invitrogen, ABD) in a humidified incubator at 37°C with %5 CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### 4.2.2. Growth Kinetics of CHO-K1

CHO-K1 cells were seeded  $(3x10^5 \text{ cells/ml})$  in 50ml Erlenmeyer Flasks with 10 ml of the working volume and cultured for 10 days at 37°C for 24 hours in the 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere with 150 rpm shaking speed. After constructing the growth curve, the

exponential growth phase and kinetic parameters were calculated by using the standard curve obtained from the exponential growth phase.

Cell Proliferation Reagent WST-1 (Roche, Cat# 11644807001) was used to determine the cell viability of the cells cultured in 96-well plates at different time points. 100  $\mu$ l/well (1:10 final dilution). The assay was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Luminescence was read using a multi-scan plate reader (Fisher, Waltham, MA).

#### 4.2.3. Monoclonal Antibody Production

For monoclonal antibody production, CHO-K1 cells were grown in OPTI-CHO medium (GİBCO) at 3x10<sup>5</sup> cell/ml starting concentration. Both cell growth and mAb production were examined during 11 days of cultivation.

## 4.2.4. The enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

Wells of 96-well plates (Thermo Maxisorp NC-442404) were coated with Fcspecific anti-human IgG capture antibody (Sigma, I2136), then blocked with a 2% solution of bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma, A2153) and washed between steps with wash buffer (1x DPBS supplemented with 0.5% Tween 20). Assay buffer (1x DPBS supplemented with 1% BSA, 0.5% Tween 20) was used for diluting the samples. Captured protein from samples was detected with Fc-specific anti-human IgG–peroxidase detection antibody (Sigma, A0170), and TMB (3,3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine, Sigma T0440) was used as a substrate. Stopping the reaction with 2N sulfuric acid solution resulted in the formation of a yellow reaction product. Absorbance could then be measured with Tecan Ultra 384 Multimode Microplate Reader at 450 nm. Product concentration in each sample was calculated based on the standard curve generated with the original assayed protein or human IgG (Sigma, I2511). **Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS), 1 L** (0.01 M, pH 7.2-7.4, w/o Ca<sup>2+</sup> - Mg<sup>2+</sup>) 8.5 g NaCl (Merck, Germany), 1.44 g Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> (Merck, Germany), 0.2 g K<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (Merck, Germany) and 0.2 g KCl (Merck, Germany). **Carbonate Coating Buffer, 1 L** (pH 9.5) 3.56 g Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (Merck, Germany) and 8.4 g NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (Merck, Germany) **Wash Buffer (T-PBS)** 0.05% Tween-20 (Merck, Germany) in PBS (1X) **Blocking Solution** 10% FBS (Gibco, ABD) or 1% BSA (Sigma, ABD) in T-PBS (1X). 0.5% (w/v) BSA (Sigma-Aldrich A9647-100G, Germany) in PBS (1X). **Stop Solution** 3 M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (97-98%) (Merck, Germany)

### 4.2.5. Statistical Analysis

All experiments were conducted at least in triplicates, and GraphPad Prism 6.0 software (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA) was used for statistical analyses. Data were presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Statistical significance was determined by Student's t-test (two-tail) or two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Sidak's post hoc correction through GraphPad Prism version 6.0 (GraphPad Software), and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Significance on the graphs was indicated with \*, where p < 0.05; \*\*, where p < 0.01; \*\*\*, where p < 0.001; \*\*\*\*, where p < 0.0001. Non-significant correlations (p > 0.05) were not indicated on the graphs.

### 4.3. Results

## 4.3.1. Growth Kinetics of CHO-K1

In static culture experiments, it was observed that CHO-K1 cells tend to attach to the tissue culture plate surface. For equal sampling every other day, submerged cultivation

in Erlenmeyer flasks was used for growth kinetics studies. Based on the results, specific growth rate ( $\mu$ ) and doubling time (td) were calculated via the data from the exponential growth phase (Figure 4.1). Thus,  $\mu$  and td were calculated as  $0.63\pm0.14$  d<sup>-1</sup> and  $1.15\pm0.14$  d<sup>-1</sup>, respectively.



Figure 4.1. The growth curve of CHO-K1 cells

## 4.3.2. mAb Production

Monoclonal antibody production during 11 days of static cultivation of CHO-K1 cells was determined via the indirect ELISA method, and the results are given in Figure 4.2. The results indicate that mAb production increased at 5 days of incubation, where cells go through the stationary phase and continue to increase exponentially until day 7, then reach the maximum level.

Batch and fed-batch productions were constructed for 7 days of production in order to determine the effects of CG on mAb production. For this purpose, CG (0.5 to 5000 nM) was applied at the beginning of the production and added to the fed-batch

operation every other day, together with a 10% culture medium. The samples were collected and subtracted to ELISA for the quantification of the produced mAb amount for each condition (Figure 4.3 - 4.4). There are no significant differences were observed between batch and fed-batch operation modes (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.2. mAb production of CHO-K1 cells during batch cultivation with different concentrations of CG (0.5 to 5000 nM)



Figure 4.3. Production Batch operation: CG applied once simultaneously with cell seeding. Data represented by mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (n = 3)



Figure 4.4. Production Fed-Batch operation: CG applied every other day with fresh medium. Data represented by mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (n = 3)



Figure 4.5. The comparison of mAb production in batch and fed-batch operation modes. Data represented by mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (n = 3)

Based on the results from batch and fed-batch operation studies, we decided to continue mAb production in batch operation; in other words, static culture cultivation was used in further investigations. For this purpose, CHO cells were seeded in 24-well plates in 1 ml medium supplemented with CG (the concentration range between 1 to 1000 nM) and incubated for 5 days. However, the mAb production yields were not affected by either DMSO or CG exposure in terms of productivity since a significant effect was not observed in both calculations as mAb amount in percentages or specific productivity (pg mAb/cell.day) compared to control groups (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.6. The productivity of mAb production. Data represented by mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (n = 3)

## 4.4. Discussion

Recombinant proteins are widely used for therapeutic and diagnostic purposes. Despite the fact that there are several alternatives, both in vitro and in vivo production methods, including using *E. coli* as host cells to produce recombinant protein fragments and plant cells <sup>292</sup>, the CHO lineages are still the most common mammalian cells for the large-scale production of high-valued biopharmaceuticals. In 2021, excepting drug-conjugated or multi-specific antibodies, a total of 93 therapeutic mAbs among 1437 candidates have been approved by the FDA 296; a steady rise continues in the number of new antibody product companies. Based on successful trends in previous years, it can be concluded that mAbs are more successful in achieving FDA approval compared to the other pharmaceutical products <sup>293</sup>. The mAb production scale mainly depends on the area that will be used; while micrograms to grams would be enough for experimental or diagnostic purposes, grams to kilogram production capacities are needed for approved

and licensed manufacturing. As a result of their success and high market share, mAb production techniques have improved over the past few decades. However, current manufacturing and purification processes have limitations and thus need to be enhanced by decreasing overall production costs and increasing productivity <sup>294</sup>.

As mentioned previously, CHO cells need to be improved in terms of genomic stability during long-term production without losing their production capacity. Thus, telomerase activation may help to avoid apoptosis of the cells by protecting their chromosomes from further deterioration or fusion to neighbor chromosomes since they already have extremely short telomeres <sup>156, 282</sup>. It has been demonstrated that hTERT over-expression in CHO cells resulted in improved cell growth and physiology by protecting cells from stress-induced apoptosis during recombinant protein production <sup>283-284</sup>. The study by Crea *et al.* revealed evidence that telomerase has a relationship with cell attachment pathways since telomerase caused a 10-fold increase in the expression of collagen type III and V in CHO cells, which leads to reduced serum dependency of the cells. Also, they showed that telomerase activation caused decreased apoptosis <sup>283</sup>.

On the other hand, another important frequent problem during mAb production is the accumulation of toxic and inhibitory metabolites such as ROS, lactate and ammonia, which are negatively affecting cell growth and production. To overcome this problem, several media combinations and supplements have been developed, including the ones taking advantage of the antioxidant properties of some natural small molecules, which are mostly phenolic compounds such as catechin, rosmarinic acid and resveratrol <sup>291, 295-296.</sup>

From this point of view, in the scope of this thesis, we primarily suggested that cycloastragenol (CG) might be a promising supplement as a telomerase activator exerting antioxidant properties (see section 1.4.3) that could improve the mAb production via protecting both cells and the product from environmental stress, toxic byproducts during the production process. For this purpose, time course mAb production via CHO-K1 was constructed under static cultures in 24-well plates and cells treated with different concentrations of CG. However, there was a significant increase in mAb amounts in terms of percentages compared to the control group. Unfortunately, a significant effect neither on cell growth/viability nor specific mAb productivity during 11 days of cultivation was observed in our studies.

The data obtained from our studies, if CG increased telomerase activity in CHO-K1 cells, we could suggest that exogenous hTERT is advantageous in mAb production of CHO cell's endogenous telomerase activity. Based on the results from the study conducted by Akiyama *et al.*, which revealed exogenous hTERT over-expression together with minimal endogenous activity results in robust chromosomal stability via stabilizing DNA break repair in damaged chromosomes <sup>297</sup>.

Other possible problems could be raised from the disturbed balance between heavy and light chain amounts, over-expressed protein or over-growth cell toxicity. It is important to protect this balance during mAb production because such a condition can be toxic and might cause the production of dysfunctional chains <sup>298</sup>. If we had such a misbalance of the chains, this may have led to misinterpretation of the ELISA results.

Based on our latest literature review, as mentioned previously, polyphenolic flavonoids (e.g., catechin, resveratrol, and rosmarinic acid) with high antioxidant properties were used as additives in CHO media composition <sup>289</sup> and resulted in increased viability and productivity of cells without causing any change in product quality and functionality <sup>290-291</sup>. In 2016, resveratrol was patented with many other polyphenolic compounds (catechin, chlorogenic acid, pelargonidin, quercetin, rosmarinic acid and silibinin) as a successful additive for recombinant protein production in CHO cells (Tian 2016, US20230002800A1). Other studies showed that rosmarinic acid <sup>291</sup> and resveratrol <sup>299</sup> addition to the culture media during mAb production with CHOs prevented cells from apoptosis and resulted in approximately 2-fold and 1.44-fold increase in specific mAb productivities, respectively. In these studies, these compounds caused cells to get stuck in the S and G2/M phases, similar to the results in the case of increased telomerase activity <sup>286</sup>. Still, none of these research evaluated the change in the telomerase activity during cultivation.

The titer of the production is the overriding cost driver factor for mAb production 304. However, the usage of CG as an additive to culture media under our experimental conditions did not result in an increased titer. Therefore, further investigations are needed to clarify whether CG does not exert positive or negative effects on mAb production or not.

### 4.5. Conclusion

Antibodies, antibody fragments and antibody-conjugated products will be continuously developed for diagnostic or therapeutic purposes, many of them expected to move through and gain FDA approval, and a few of those will be manufactured as licensed high-valued biopharmaceuticals.

In the scope of this thesis, we made basic and cost-effective trials to evaluate the effects of CG in CHOs in terms of cell growth/viability and produced mAb amount. The wide range of therapeutic potential of CG is related to several biological interactions through numerous signaling pathways that need to be further investigated in CHO cells in order to enlighten possible effects on CHO cell metabolism and mAb production. We believe that CG should be considered and further studied for use in recombinant protein production, since our experimental design and analyzing methods were not enough to make a certain conclusion at this point.

Indeed, it is well known that small molecules exert their effects in a dosedependent manner and can also be completely reversed due to small differences in the administration dose. Thus, the molecule-specific feeding regime should be taken into account when designing media additives, such as small molecules, in order to determine the production strategies. In addition to feeding strategies, the accumulation of proteolytic enzymes and other protein-degrading by-products or any other components that could affect post-translational modification of the product in the broth must be analyzed. Furthermore, cell debris removal methods should be designed to avoid additional host cell components.

# **CHAPTER 5**

# **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

In the last two decades, researchers have been focused on the relationship between TL and age-related diseases to develop novel prevention and treatment strategies. Based on the latest literature search, one can state that the growing evidence points out that short TL not only increases the risk of diseases but also accelerates their progression, especially in age-related diseases. On the other hand, in some cases, short TL can be observed as only a symptom because of disease pathology. Nevertheless, considering the relation between telomerase and complex cellular pathways, it is reasonable to expect telomerase activators to have enhanced survival effects on the course of the disease. Therefore, telomerase activators are substantial to cope with age-related diseases, which are a big burden on the economy and social life. In this regard, natural products have gathered attention as a source of novel telomerase activators. As a result of intensive studies, several natural products have been discovered to be potent telomerase activators, and many of them have already been known to be effective against age-related diseases. Although studies on age-related diseases investigate the effects of these molecules, we realized that their properties towards telomerase activation were ignored most of the time. In the thesis, we aimed to report the benefits of natural telomerase activators on agingassociated degenerative diseases, thus drawing attention to the important role of telomere/telomerase activator small molecules for further studies.

In this doctoral thesis, the main goal was to investigate the efficacy of the usage of the telomerase activator small molecules in stem cell research in terms of their biological characteristics and osteogenic differentiation potential. Furthermore, the possible usage of these molecules in mAb production via CHO-K1 cells was evaluated. In the first part of the study, the effects on the biological characteristics such as cell viability, proliferation/migration and senescence condition were determined for the first time. Additionally, the osteogenic differentiation capacity of MSCs was identified and compared at high passage numbers and under serial sub-cultivation with continuous molecule administration. In the second part of the study, the efficacy of these selected molecules on osteogenic differentiation was evaluated for the first time, and the relation between osteogenic markers and telomerase activity was enlightened. In the third part of the study, the benefits of the molecules in mAb production via CHO-K1 cells were studied for the first time. Based on the outcomes of this thesis, novel telomerase activators deriving from natural resources of our country have significant potential in stem cell research, thus regenerative medicine, since promising results were obtained for the clinical use of these novel molecules. Our data also suggest that molecules simultaneously promote osteogenic differentiation and telomerase activation. In order to confirm these findings, parallel studies with higher budgets, wider dose ranges in mono/co-culture conditions and *in vivo* studies would be appropriate for further studies.

Lastly, within the scope of this thesis, strong evidence has shown that telomerase activators are useful agents for maintaining the self-renewal and differentiation capacity of stem cells during *in vitro* expansion. In the near future, it seems rational to utilize telomerase activators as adjuvants for stem cell transplantation in age-related diseases.

# REFERENCES

1. Saul, D.; Kosinsky, R. L. Epigenetics of aging and aging-associated diseases. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 2021, 22, 1, 401

2. Li, Z.; Zhang, Z.; Ren, Y.; Wang, Y.; Fang, J.; Yue, H.; Ma, S.; Guan, F. Aging and agerelated diseases: from mechanisms to therapeutic strategies. *Biogerontology* 2021, 22, 2, 165-187

3. Hernandez-Segura, A.; Nehme, J.; Demaria, M. Hallmarks of cellular senescence. *Trends in cell biology* 2018, 28, 6, 436-453

4. Lemoine, M. The evolution of the hallmarks of aging. *Frontiers in Genetics* 2021, 12, 693071

5. Chakravarti, D.; LaBella, K. A.; DePinho, R. A. Telomeres: history, health, and hallmarks of aging. *Cell* 2021, 184, 2, 306-322

6. Kaushik, S.; Tasset, I.; Arias, E.; Pampliega, O.; Wong, E.; Martinez-Vicente, M.; Cuervo, A. M. Autophagy and the hallmarks of aging. *Ageing research reviews* 2021, 72, 101468

7. Cummings, J.; Lee, G.; Ritter, A.; Sabbagh, M.; Zhong, K. Alzheimer's disease drug development pipeline: 2020. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions* 2020, 6, 1, e12050

8. van Uden, S.; Silva-Correia, J.; Oliveira, J. M.; Reis, R. L. Current strategies for treatment of intervertebral disc degeneration: substitution and regeneration possibilities. *Biomaterials research* 2017, 21, 1, 1-19

9. Fragkiadaki, P.; Nikitovic, D.; Kalliantasi, K.; Sarandi, E.; Thanasoula, M.; Stivaktakis, P. D.; Nepka, C.; Spandidos, D. A.; Tosounidis, T.; Tsatsakis, A. Telomere length and telomerase activity in osteoporosis and osteoarthritis (Review). *Exp Ther Med* 2020, 19, 3, 1626-1632

10. Drake, R.; Vogl, A. W.; Mitchell, A. W. Gray's anatomy for students E-book. 2009

11. Nordin, M.; Frankel, V. H. Basic biomechanics of the musculoskeletal system. *Lippincott Williams & Wilkins* 2001

12. Neumann, D. A. Kinesiology of the musculoskeletal system. *Foundations for Rehabilitation* 2016

13. Zhu, G.; Zhang, T.; Chen, M.; Yao, K.; Huang, X.; Zhang, B.; Li, Y.; Liu, J.; Wang, Y.; Zhao, Z. Bone physiological microenvironment and healing mechanism: Basis for future bone-tissue engineering scaffolds. *Bioactive materials* 2021, 6, 11, 4110-4140

14. Zhou, R.; Guo, Q.; Xiao, Y.; Guo, Q.; Huang, Y.; Li, C.; Luo, X. Endocrine role of bone in the regulation of energy metabolism. *Bone Research* 2021, 9, 1, 25

15. Hart, N. H.; Newton, R. U.; Tan, J.; Rantalainen, T.; Chivers, P.; Siafarikas, A.; Nimphius, S. Biological basis of bone strength: anatomy, physiology and measurement. *Journal of musculoskeletal & neuronal interactions* 2020, 20, 3, 347

16. Safari, B.; Aghazadeh, M.; Roshangar, L.; Aghanejad, A.; Davaran, S. A bioactive porous scaffold containing collagen/phosphorous-modified polycaprolactone for osteogenesis of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *European Polymer Journal* 2022, 171, 111220

17. Zhao, Y.; Xie, L. Unique bone marrow blood vessels couple angiogenesis and osteogenesis in bone homeostasis and diseases. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 2020, 1474, 1, 5-14

18. Comazzetto, S.; Shen, B.; Morrison, S. J. Niches that regulate stem cells and hematopoiesis in adult bone marrow. *Developmental cell* 2021, 56, 13, 1848-1860

19. Koons, G. L.; Diba, M.; Mikos, A. G. Materials design for bone-tissue engineering. *Nature Reviews Materials* 2020, 5, 8, 584-603

20. Mizoguchi, T.; Ono, N. The diverse origin of bone-forming osteoblasts. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2020, 36, 8, 1432-1447

21. Wang, L.; You, X.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, C.; Zou, W. Mechanical regulation of bone remodeling. *Bone Research* 2022, 10, 1, 16

22. Kahla, R. B.; Barkaoui, A.; Salah, F. Z. B.; Chafra, M. Cell Interaction and Mechanobiological Modeling of Bone Remodeling Process. *Biomechanics and Functional Tissue Engineering* 2020

23. Salhotra, A.; Shah, H. N.; Levi, B.; Longaker, M. T. Mechanisms of bone development and repair. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* 2020, 21, 11, 696-711

24. Abou-Khalil, R.; Yang, F.; Lieu, S.; Julien, A.; Perry, J.; Pereira, C.; Relaix, F.; Miclau, T.; Marcucio, R.; Colnot, C. Role of muscle stem cells during skeletal regeneration. *Stem Cells* 2015, 33, 5, 1501-1511

25. Bonewald, L. F. The amazing osteocyte. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2011, 26, 2, 229-238

26. Jilka, R. L.; Weinstein, R. S.; Bellido, T.; Parfitt, A. M.; Manolagas, S. C. Osteoblast programmed cell death (apoptosis): modulation by growth factors and cytokines. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 1998, 13, 5, 793-802

27. Franz-Odendaal, T. A.; Hall, B. K.; Witten, P. E. Buried alive: how osteoblasts become osteocytes. *Developmental dynamics: an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists* 2006, 235, 1, 176-190

28. Qin, L.; Liu, W.; Cao, H.; Xiao, G. Molecular mechanosensors in osteocytes. *Bone Research* 2020, 8, 1, 23

29. Florencio-Silva, R.; Sasso, G. R. d. S.; Sasso-Cerri, E.; Simões, M. J.; Cerri, P. S. Biology of bone tissue: structure, function, and factors that influence bone cells. *BioMed Research International* 2015, 2015,

30. Matic, I.; Matthews, B. G.; Wang, X.; Dyment, N. A.; Worthley, D. L.; Rowe, D. W.; Grcevic, D.; Kalajzic, I. Quiescent bone lining cells are a major source of osteoblasts during adulthood. *Stem Cells* 2016, 34, 12, 2930-2942

31. Everts, V.; Delaisse, J.; Korper, W.; Jansen, D.; Tigchelaar-Gutter, W.; Saftig, P.; Beertsen, W. The bone lining cell: its role in cleaning Howship's lacunae and initiating bone formation. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2002, 17, 1, 77-90

32. Lerner, U. H.; Kindstedt, E.; Lundberg, P. The critical interplay between bone resorbing and bone forming cells. *Journal of clinical periodontology* 2019, 46, 33-51

33. Chahal, S.; Kumar, A.; Hussian, F. S. J. Development of biomimetic electrospun polymeric biomaterials for bone tissue engineering. A review. *Journal of biomaterials science, polymer edition* 2019, 30, 14, 1308-1355

34. Yahara, Y.; Nguyen, T.; Ishikawa, K.; Kamei, K.; Alman, B. A. The origins and roles of osteoclasts in bone development, homeostasis and repair. *Development* 2022, 149, 8, dev199908

35. Ono, T.; Nakashima, T. Recent advances in osteoclast biology. *Histochemistry and cell biology* 2018, 149, 325-341

36. Chen, X.; Wang, Z.; Duan, N.; Zhu, G.; Schwarz, E. M.; Xie, C. Osteoblast–osteoclast interactions. *Connective tissue research* 2018, 59, 2, 99-107

37. Kim, J. H.; Kim, N. Signaling pathways in osteoclast differentiation. *Chonnam medical journal* 2016, 52, 1, 12-17

38. Anam, A. K.; Insogna, K. Update on osteoporosis screening and management. *Medical Clinics* 2021, 105, 6, 1117-1134

39. Ikeda, K.; Takeshita, S. The role of osteoclast differentiation and function in skeletal homeostasis. *The journal of biochemistry* 2016, 159, 1, 1-8

40. Kitaura, H.; Marahleh, A.; Ohori, F.; Noguchi, T.; Shen, W.-R.; Qi, J.; Nara, Y.; Pramusita, A.; Kinjo, R.; Mizoguchi, I. Osteocyte-related cytokines regulate osteoclast formation and bone resorption. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 2020, 21, 14, 5169

41. Sims, N. A.; Martin, T. J. Osteoclasts provide coupling signals to osteoblast lineage cells through multiple mechanisms. *Annual review of physiology* 2020, 82, 507-529

42. Boyce, B.; Yao, Z.; Xing, L. Osteoclasts have multiple roles in bone in addition to bone resorption. *Critical Reviews*<sup>TM</sup> *in Eukaryotic Gene Expression* 2009, 19, 3,

43. Murshed, M. Mechanism of bone mineralization. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine* 2018, 8, 12, a031229

44. Fonseca, H.; Moreira-Gonçalves, D.; Coriolano, H.-J. A.; Duarte, J. A. Bone quality: the determinants of bone strength and fragility. *Sports medicine* 2014, 44, 37-53

45. Bonucci, E. Bone mineralization. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) 2012, 17, 100-128

46. Betts, F.; Blumenthal, N. C.; Posner, A. S. Bone mineralization. *Journal of Crystal Growth* 1981, 53, 1, 63-73

47. Burr, D. B. Changes in bone matrix properties with aging. Bone 2019, 120, 85-93

48. Hart, N. H.; Nimphius, S.; Rantalainen, T.; Ireland, A.; Siafarikas, A.; Newton, R. Mechanical basis of bone strength: influence of bone material, bone structure and muscle action. *Journal of musculoskeletal & neuronal interactions* 2017, 17, 3, 114

49. Ramesh, N.; Moratti, S. C.; Dias, G. J. Hydroxyapatite–polymer biocomposites for bone regeneration: A review of current trends. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B: Applied Biomaterials* 2018, 106, 5, 2046-2057

50. Boskey, A. L.; Robey, P. G. The regulatory role of matrix proteins in mineralization of bone. *Osteoporosis* 2013

51. Alcorta-Sevillano, N.; Macías, I.; Infante, A.; Rodríguez, C. I. Deciphering the relevance of bone ECM signaling. *Cells* 2020, 9, 12, 2630

52. Alford, A. I.; Kozloff, K. M.; Hankenson, K. D. Extracellular matrix networks in bone remodeling. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology* 2015, 65, 20-31

53. Kaur, J.; Reinhardt, D. P. Chapter 3 - Extracellular Matrix (ECM) Molecules. *Stem Cell Biology and Tissue Engineering in Dental Sciences* 2015

54. Huang, W.; Yang, S.; Shao, J.; Li, Y.-P. Signaling and transcriptional regulation in osteoblast commitment and differentiation. *Frontiers in bioscience: a journal and virtual library* 2007, 12, 3068

55. Fontcuberta-Rigo, M.; Nakamura, M.; Puigbò, P. Phylobone: a comprehensive database of bone extracellular matrix proteins in human and model organisms. *Bone Research* 2023, 11, 1, 44

56. Saito, M.; Marumo, K. Effects of collagen crosslinking on bone material properties in health and disease. *Calcified tissue international* 2015, 97, 242-261

57. Dhand, C.; Ong, S. T.; Dwivedi, N.; Diaz, S. M.; Venugopal, J. R.; Navaneethan, B.; Fazil, M. H.; Liu, S.; Seitz, V.; Wintermantel, E. Bio-inspired in situ crosslinking and mineralization of electrospun collagen scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. *Biomaterials* 2016, 104, 323-338

58. Varma, S.; Orgel, J. P.; Schieber, J. D. Nanomechanics of type I collagen. *Biophysical journal* 2016, 111, 1, 50-56

59. Yang, S.; Wei, D.; Wang, D.; Phimphilai, M.; Krebsbach, P. H.; Franceschi, R. T. In Vitro and In Vivo Synergistic Interactions Between the Runx2/Cbfa1 Transcription Factor and Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2 in Stimulating Osteoblast Differentiation\*. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2009, 18, 4, 705-715

60. Ge, C.; Yang, Q.; Zhao, G.; Yu, H.; Kirkwood, K. L.; Franceschi, R. T. Interactions between extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 and P38 Map kinase pathways in the control of RUNX2 phosphorylation and transcriptional activity. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2011, 27, 3, 538-551

61. Carvalho, M. S.; Cabral, J. M.; da Silva, C. L.; Vashishth, D. Bone matrix noncollagenous proteins in tissue engineering: Creating new bone by mimicking the extracellular matrix. *Polymers* 2021, 13, 7, 1095

62. Roach, H. Why does bone matrix contain non-collagenous proteins? The possible roles of osteocalcin, osteonectin, osteopontin and bone sialoprotein in bone mineralisation and resorption. *Cell biology international* 1994, 18, 6, 617-628

63. Lin, X.; Patil, S.; Gao, Y.-G.; Qian, A. The bone extracellular matrix in bone formation and regeneration. *Frontiers in Pharmacology* 2020, 11, 757

64. Al-Bari, A. A.; Al Mamun, A. Current advances in regulation of bone homeostasis. *Faseb Bioadvances* 2020, 2, 11, 668

65. Ortega, N.; Behonick, D.; Stickens, D.; Werb, Z. How proteases regulate bone morphogenesis. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 2003, 995, 1, 109-116

66. Paiva, K. B. S.; Granjeiro, J. M. Bone tissue remodeling and development: focus on matrix metalloproteinase functions. *Archives of biochemistry and biophysics* 2014, 561, 74-87

67. Paiva, K. B.; Granjeiro, J. M. Matrix metalloproteinases in bone resorption, remodeling, and repair. *Progress in molecular biology and translational science* 2017, 148, 203-303

68. Vimalraj, S. Alkaline phosphatase: Structure, expression and its function in bone mineralization. *Gene* 2020, 754, 144855

69. Eriksen, E. F. Cellular mechanisms of bone remodeling. *Reviews in Endocrine and Metabolic Disorders* 2010, 11, 219-227

70. Bolamperti, S.; Villa, I.; Rubinacci, A. Bone remodeling: An operational process ensuring survival and bone mechanical competence. *Bone Research* 2022, 10, 1, 48

71. Caetano-Lopes, J.; Canhao, H.; Fonseca, J. Osteoimmunology—the hidden immune regulation of bone. *Autoimmunity reviews* 2009, 8, 3, 250-255

72. Manolagas, S. C. Birth and death of bone cells: basic regulatory mechanisms and implications for the pathogenesis and treatment of osteoporosis. *Endocrine reviews* 2000, 21, 2, 115-137

73. Clynes, M. A.; Harvey, N. C.; Curtis, E. M.; Fuggle, N. R.; Dennison, E. M.; Cooper, C. The epidemiology of osteoporosis. *British medical bulletin* 2020, 133, 1, 105-117

74. Abdi, S. Animal Models for the Study of Osteoporosis. *Animal Models in Experimental Medicine*, 221

75. Niedzwiedzki, T.; Filipowska, J. Bone remodeling in the context of cellular and systemic regulation: the role of osteocytes and the nervous system. *J Mol Endocrinol* 2015, 55, 2, R23-36

76. Sauhta, R.; Makkar, D.; Siwach, P. S. The Sequential Therapy in Osteoporosis. *Indian Journal of Orthopaedics* 2023, 57, 1, 150-162

77. Binder, N. B.; Niederreiter, B.; Hoffmann, O.; Stange, R.; Pap, T.; Stulnig, T. M.; Mack, M.; Erben, R. G.; Smolen, J. S.; Redlich, K. Estrogen-dependent and CC chemokine receptor-2–dependent pathways determine osteoclast behavior in osteoporosis. *Nature medicine* 2009, 15, 4, 417-424

78. Boyce, B. F.; Xing, L. Functions of RANKL/RANK/OPG in bone modeling and remodeling. *Archives of biochemistry and biophysics* 2008, 473, 2, 139-146

79. Yasuda, H. Discovery of the RANKL/RANK/OPG system. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism* 2021, 39, 1, 2-11

80. Ferbebouh, M.; Vallières, F.; Benderdour, M.; Fernandes, J. The pathophysiology of immunoporosis: innovative therapeutic targets. *Inflammation Research* 2021, 70, 859-875

81. Kong, Y.-Y.; Penninger, J. Molecular control of bone remodeling and osteoporosis. *Experimental Gerontology* 2000, 35, 8, 947-956

82. De Leon-Oliva, D.; Barrena-Blázquez, S.; Jiménez-Álvarez, L.; Fraile-Martinez, O.; García-Montero, C.; López-González, L.; Torres-Carranza, D.; García-Puente, L. M.; Carranza, S. T.; Álvarez-Mon, M. Á. The RANK–RANKL–OPG System: A Multifaceted Regulator of Homeostasis, Immunity, and Cancer. *Medicina* 2023, 59, 10, 1752

83. Raggatt, L. J.; Partridge, N. C. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of bone remodeling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2010, 285, 33, 25103-25108

84. Ponzetti, M.; Rucci, N. Updates on osteoimmunology: what's new on the cross-talk between bone and immune system. *Frontiers in endocrinology* 2019, 10, 449545

85. Yang, N.; Liu, Y. The role of the immune microenvironment in bone regeneration. *International journal of medical sciences* 2021, 18, 16, 3697

86. Wu, M.; Chen, G.; Li, Y.-P. TGF- $\beta$  and BMP signaling in osteoblast, skeletal development, and bone formation, homeostasis and disease. *Bone Research* 2016, 4, 1, 1-21

87. Zimmermann, L.-M. A.; Correns, A.; Furlan, A. G.; Spanou, C. E.; Sengle, G. Controlling BMP growth factor bioavailability: The extracellular matrix as multi skilled platform. *Cellular signalling* 2021, 85, 110071

88. Lee, B.; Oh, Y.; Jo, S.; Kim, T.-H.; Ji, J. D. A dual role of TGF-β in human osteoclast differentiation mediated by Smad1 versus Smad3 signaling. *Immunology Letters* 2019, 206, 33-40

89. Song, D.; He, G.; Shi, Y.; Ni, J.; Long, F. Functional interaction between Wnt and Bmp signaling in periosteal bone growth. *Scientific Reports* 2021, 11, 1, 10782

90. Zou, M.-L.; Chen, Z.-H.; Teng, Y.-Y.; Liu, S.-Y.; Jia, Y.; Zhang, K.-W.; Sun, Z.-L.; Wu, J.-J.; Yuan, Z.-D.; Feng, Y.; et al. The Smad Dependent TGF- $\beta$  and BMP Signaling Pathway in Bone Remodeling and Therapies. *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences* 2021, 8,

91. Crane, J. L.; Cao, X. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells and TGF- $\beta$  signaling in bone remodeling. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2014, 124, 2, 466-472

92. Marcadet, L.; Bouredji, Z.; Argaw, A.; Frenette, J. The roles of RANK/RANKL/OPG in cardiac, skeletal, and smooth muscles in health and disease. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology* 2022, 10, 903657

93. Visweswaran, M.; Pohl, S.; Arfuso, F.; Newsholme, P.; Dilley, R.; Pervaiz, S.; Dharmarajan, A. Multi-lineage differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells–To Wnt, or not Wnt. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology* 2015, 68, 139-147

94. Cawthorn, W. P.; Bree, A. J.; Yao, Y.; Du, B.; Hemati, N.; Martinez-Santibañez, G.; MacDougald, O. A. Wnt6, Wnt10a and Wnt10b inhibit adipogenesis and stimulate osteoblastogenesis through a  $\beta$ -catenin-dependent mechanism. *Bone* 2012, 50, 2, 477-489

95. Almeida, M.; Laurent, M. R.; Dubois, V.; Claessens, F.; O'Brien, C. A.; Bouillon, R.; Vanderschueren, D.; Manolagas, S. C. Estrogens and androgens in skeletal physiology and pathophysiology. *Physiological reviews* 2017, 97, 1, 135-187

96. Sharma, D.; Larriera, A. I.; Palacio-Mancheno, P. E.; Gatti, V.; Fritton, J. C.; Bromage, T. G.; Cardoso, L.; Doty, S. B.; Fritton, S. P. The effects of estrogen deficiency on cortical bone microporosity and mineralization. *Bone* 2018, 110, 1-10

97. Drake, M. T.; Clarke, B. L.; Lewiecki, E. M. The Pathophysiology and Treatment of Osteoporosis. *Clinical Therapeutics* 2015, 37, 8, 1837-1850

98. Anjum, S.; Rahman, F.; Pandey, P.; Arya, D. K.; Alam, M.; Rajinikanth, P. S.; Ao, Q. Electrospun biomimetic nanofibrous scaffolds: a promising prospect for bone tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 2022, 23, 16, 9206

99. Sridharan, R.; Cameron, A. R.; Kelly, D. J.; Kearney, C. J.; O'Brien, F. J. Biomaterial based modulation of macrophage polarization: a review and suggested design principles. *Materials Today* 2015, 18, 6, 313-325

100. Evans, C. H.; Huard, J. Gene therapy approaches to regenerating the musculoskeletal system. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology* 2015, 11, 4, 234-242

101. Faienza, M. F.; Chiarito, M.; D'amato, G.; Colaianni, G.; Colucci, S.; Grano, M.; Brunetti, G. Monoclonal antibodies for treating osteoporosis. *Expert opinion on biological therapy* 2018, 18, 2, 149-157

102. Rodop, B. B.; Bora, E. S.; Erbaş, O. Stem Cell Applications in Orthopedics. *Journal of Experimental and Basic Medical Sciences* 2024, 5, 1, 112-124

103. Arrighi, N. Stem Cells at the Core of Cell Therapy. Stem Cells 2018, 73-100

104. Signer, Robert A. J.; Morrison, Sean J. Mechanisms that Regulate Stem Cell Aging and Life Span. *Cell Stem Cell* 2013, 12, 2, 152-165

105. Arrighi, N. 1 - Definition and Classification of Stem Cells. Stem Cells 2018

106. Trivanović, D.; Jauković, A.; Popović, B.; Krstić, J.; Mojsilović, S.; Okić-Djordjević, I.; Kukolj, T.; Obradović, H.; Santibanez, J. F.; Bugarski, D. Mesenchymal stem cells of different origin: Comparative evaluation of proliferative capacity, telomere length and pluripotency marker expression. *Life Sciences* 2015, 141, 61-73

107. Alt, E. U.; Senst, C.; Murthy, S. N.; Slakey, D. P.; Dupin, C. L.; Chaffin, A. E.; Kadowitz, P. J.; Izadpanah, R. Aging alters tissue resident mesenchymal stem cell properties. *Stem Cell Research* 2012, 8, 2, 215-225

108. Ludin, A.; Gur-Cohen, S.; Golan, K.; Kaufmann, K. B.; Itkin, T.; Medaglia, C.; Lu, X. J.; Ledergor, G.; Kollet, O.; Lapidot, T. Reactive oxygen species regulate hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal, migration and development, as well as their bone marrow microenvironment. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 2014, 21, 11, 1605-1619

109. Bianco, P.; Riminnucci, S.; Robey, P. S tem C ells. Stem Cells 2001, 19, 180-192

110. Bianco, P.; Cao, X.; Frenette, P. S.; Mao, J. J.; Robey, P. G.; Simmons, P. J.; Wang, C.-Y. The meaning, the sense and the significance: translating the science of mesenchymal stem cells into medicine. *Nature medicine* 2013, 19, 1, 35-42

111. Ng, H.-H.; Surani, M. A. The transcriptional and signalling networks of pluripotency. *Nature Cell Biology* 2011, 13, 490

112. Liu, X.; Huang, J.; Chen, T.; Wang, Y.; Xin, S.; Li, J.; Pei, G.; Kang, J. Yamanaka factors critically regulate the developmental signaling network in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Cell Research* 2008, 18, 1177

113. Krinner, A.; Roeder, I. Quantification and modeling of stem cell-niche interaction. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 2014, 844, 11-36

114. Rufer, N.; Brümmendorf, T. H.; Chapuis, B.; Helg, C.; Lansdorp, P. M.; Roosnek, E. Accelerated telomere shortening in hematological lineages is limited to the first year following stem cell transplantation. *Blood* 2001, 97, 2, 575-577

115. Brümmendorf, T.; Balabanov, S. Telomere length dynamics in normal hematopoiesis and in disease states characterized by increased stem cell turnover. *Leukemia* 2006, 20, 10, 1706-1716

116. Sugihara, M.; Ohshima, K.; Nakamura, H.; Suzumiya, J.; Nakayama, Y.; Kanda, M.; Haraoka, S.; Kikuchi, M. Decreased expression of telomerase-associated RNAs in the proliferation of stem cells in comparison with continuous expression in malignant tumors. *International journal of oncology* 1999, 15, 6, 1075-1155

117. Sarin, K. Y.; Cheung, P.; Gilison, D.; Lee, E.; Tennen, R. I.; Wang, E.; Artandi, M. K.; Oro, A. E.; Artandi, S. E. Conditional telomerase induction causes proliferation of hair follicle stem cells. *Nature* 2005, 436, 7053, 1048-1052

118. Wright, L. S.; Prowse, K. R.; Wallace, K.; Linskens, M. H. K.; Svendsen, C. N. Human progenitor cells isolated from the developing cortex undergo decreased neurogenesis and eventual senescence following expansion in vitro. *Experimental Cell Research* 2006, 312, 11, 2107-2120

119. Moriscot, C.; De Fraipont, F.; Richard, M. J.; Marchand, M.; Savatier, P.; Bosco, D.; Favrot, M.; Benhamou, P. Y. Human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells can express insulin and key transcription factors of the endocrine pancreas developmental pathway upon genetic and/or microenvironmental manipulation in vitro. *Stem Cells* 2005, 23, 4, 594-603

120. Dan, Y. Y.; Riehle, K.; Lazaro, C.; Teoh, N.; Haque, J.; Campbell, J. S.; Fausto, N. Isolation of multipotent progenitor cells from human fetal liver capable of differentiating into liver and mesenchymal lineages. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2006, 103, 26, 9912-9917

121. Hiyama, E.; Hiyama, K. Telomere and telomerase in stem cells. *British journal of cancer* 2007, 96, 7, 1020

122. George, B.; Barade, A.; Korula, A.; Nisham, P.; Lakshmi, K.; Kulkarni, U.; Devasia, A.; Abraham, A.; Srivastava, A.; Sindhuvi, E. J. B. o. B.; et al. Donor Telomere Length Influences Engraftment and Outcome in Aplastic Anemia Patients Undergoing Matched Related Stem Cell Transplantation. 2018, 24, 3, S294-S295

123. Marques, B. L.; Carvalho, G. A.; Freitas, E. M. M.; Chiareli, R. A.; Barbosa, T. G.; Di Araújo, A. G. P.; Nogueira, Y. L.; Ribeiro, R. I.; Parreira, R. C.; Vieira, M. S.; et al. The role of neurogenesis in neurorepair after ischemic stroke. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology* 2019,

124. Hou, Y.; Dan, X.; Babbar, M.; Wei, Y.; Hasselbalch, S. G.; Croteau, D. L.; Bohr, V. A. Ageing as a risk factor for neurodegenerative disease. *Nature Reviews Neurology* 2019, 15, 10, 565-581

125. Lee, J.; Kook, H.; Chung, I.; Kim, H.; Park, M.; Kim, C.; Nah, J.; Hwang, T. Telomere length changes in patients undergoing hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Bone marrow transplantation* 1999, 24, 4, 411-415

126. Waldmann, T. A. Monoclonal antibodies in diagnosis and therapy. *Science* 1991, 252, 5013, 1657-1662

127. Reichert, J. M.; Rosensweig, C. J.; Faden, L. B.; Dewitz, M. C. Monoclonal antibody successes in the clinic. 2005, 23, 9, 1073-1078

128. Shpilberg, O.; Jackisch, C. Subcutaneous administration of rituximab (MabThera) and trastuzumab (Herceptin) using hyaluronidase. *British journal of cancer* 2013, 109, 6, 1556-1561

129. Lordick, F. Trastuzumab: a new treatment option for HER2-positive metastatic gastric and gastroesophageal junction cancer. *Future Oncology* 2011, 7, 2, 187-199

130. Elgundi, Z.; Reslan, M.; Cruz, E.; Sifniotis, V.; Kayser, V. The state-of-play and future of antibody therapeutics. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 2017, 122, 2-19

131. Arron, J. R.; Choi, Y. Bone versus immune system. *Nature* 2000, 408, 6812, 535-536

132. Srivastava, R. K.; Dar, H. Y.; Mishra, P. K. Immunoporosis: immunology of osteoporosis—role of T cells. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2018, 9, 333748

133. Scott, L. J. Tocilizumab: a review in rheumatoid arthritis. *Drugs* 2017, 77, 1865-1879

134. Tanaka, T.; Hishitani, Y.; Ogata, A. Monoclonal antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis: comparative effectiveness of tocilizumab with tumor necrosis factor inhibitors. *Biologics: Targets and Therapy* 2014, 141-153

135. Weinblatt, M. E.; Keystone, E. C.; Furst, D. E.; Moreland, L. W.; Weisman, M. H.; Birbara, C. A.; Teoh, L. A.; Fischkoff, S. A.; Chartash, E. K. Adalimumab, a fully human anti–tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  monoclonal antibody, for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis in patients taking concomitant methotrexate: the ARMADA trial. *Arthritis & Rheumatism* 2003, 48, 1, 35-45

136. Mazumdar, S.; Greenwald, D. Golimumab. mAbs 2009, 1, 5, 422-431

137. Pelechas, E.; Voulgari, P. V.; Drosos, A. A. Golimumab for rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 2019, 8, 3, 387

138. Dempster, D. W.; Lambing, C. L.; Kostenuik, P. J.; Grauer, A. Role of RANK ligand and denosumab, a targeted RANK ligand inhibitor, in bone health and osteoporosis: a review of preclinical and clinical data. *Clinical Therapeutics* 2012, 34, 3, 521-536

139. Papapoulos, S.; Lippuner, K.; Roux, C.; Lin, C.; Kendler, D.; Lewiecki, E.; Brandi, M. L.; Czerwiński, E.; Franek, E.; Lakatos, P. The effect of 8 or 5 years of denosumab treatment in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: results from the FREEDOM Extension study. *Osteoporosis international* 2015, 26, 2773-2783

140. Chavassieux, P.; Chapurlat, R.; Portero-Muzy, N.; Roux, J. P.; Garcia, P.; Brown, J. P.; Libanati, C.; Boyce, R. W.; Wang, A.; Grauer, A. Bone-forming and antiresorptive effects of romosozumab in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: bone histomorphometry and microcomputed tomography analysis after 2 and 12 months of treatment. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2019, 34, 9, 1597-1608

141. Cosman, F.; Crittenden, D. B.; Ferrari, S.; Khan, A.; Lane, N. E.; Lippuner, K.; Matsumoto, T.; Milmont, C. E.; Libanati, C.; Grauer, A. FRAME study: the foundation effect of building bone with 1 year of romosozumab leads to continued lower fracture risk after transition to denosumab. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2018, 33, 7, 1219-1226

142. Kohler, G.; Milstein, C. Pillars Article: Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. Nature, 1975, 256 (5517): 495–497. *The Journal of Immunology* 2005, 174, 5, 2453-2455

143. Sgro, C. Side-effects of a monoclonal antibody, muromonab CD3/orthoclone OKT3: bibliographic review. *Toxicology* 1995, 105, 1, 23-29

144. Todd, P. A.; Brogden, R. N. Muromonab CD3: a review of its pharmacology and therapeutic potential. *Drugs* 1989, 37, 871-899

145. Parray, H. A.; Shukla, S.; Samal, S.; Shrivastava, T.; Ahmed, S.; Sharma, C.; Kumar, R. Hybridoma technology a versatile method for isolation of monoclonal antibodies, its applicability across species, limitations, advancement and future perspectives. *International immunopharmacology* 2020, 85, 106639

146. Kao, F.-T.; Chasin, L.; Puck, T. T. Genetics of somatic mammalian cells, X. Complementation analysis of glycine-requiring mutants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1969, 64, 4, 1284-1291

147. Flintoff, W. F.; Davidson, S. V.; Siminovitch, L. Isolation and partial characterization of three methotrexate-resistant phenotypes from Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Somatic cell genetics* 1976, 2, 245-261

148. Szkudlinski, M.; Thotakura, N.; Bucci, I.; Joshi, L.; Tsai, A.; East-Palmer, J.; Shiloach, J.; Weintraub, B. Purification and characterization of recombinant human thyrotropin (TSH) isoforms produced by Chinese hamster ovary cells: the role of sialylation and sulfation in TSH bioactivity. *Endocrinology* 1993, 133, 4, 1490-1503

149. Urlaub, G.; Käs, E.; Carothers, A. M.; Chasin, L. A. Deletion of the diploid dihydrofolate reductase locus from cultured mammalian cells. *Cell* 1983, 33, 2, 405-412

150. Gibbons, J. B. Humira: the first \$20 billion drug. *The American Journal of Managed Care* 2023, 29, 2,

151. Makurvet, F. D. Biologics vs. small molecules: Drug costs and patient access. *Medicine in Drug Discovery* 2021, 9, 100075

152. Goswami, S.; Wang, W.; Arakawa, T.; Ohtake, S. Developments and Challenges for mAb-Based Therapeutics. 2013, 89, 452-500

153. Sewell, F.; Chapman, K.; Couch, J.; Dempster, M.; Heidel, S.; Loberg, L. Challenges and opportunities for the future of monoclonal antibody development : Improving safety assessment and reducing animal use. *mAbs* 2017, 9, 5, 742-755

154. Kennedy, P. J.; Oliveira, C.; Granja, P. L.; Sarmento, B.; Kennedy, P. J.; Oliveira, C.; Granja, P. L.; Sarmento, B. Critical Reviews in Biotechnology Monoclonal antibodies : technologies for early discovery and engineering. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology* 2018, 0, 0, 394-408

155. Slijepcevic, P.; Xiao, Y.; Natarajan, A.; Bryant, P. E. Instability of CHO chromosomes containing interstitial telomeric sequences originating from Chinese hamster chromosome 10. *Cytogenetic and Genome Research* 1997, 76, 1-2, 58-60

156. Slijepcevic, P.; Bryant, P. Absence of terminal telomeric FISH signals in chromosomes from immortal Chinese hamster cells. *Cytogenetic and Genome Research* 1995, 69, 1-2, 87-89

157. Ivankovic, M.; Cukusic, A.; Gotic, I.; Skrobot, N.; Matijasic, M.; Polancec, D.; Rubelj, I. Telomerase activity in HeLa cervical carcinoma cell line proliferation. *Biogerontology* 2007, 8, 2, 163-172

158. Greider, C. W.; Blackburn, E. H. Identification of a specific telomere terminal transferase activity in Tetrahymena extracts. *Cell* 1985, 43, 2, 405-413

159. Vaziri, H.; Benchimol, S. Reconstitution of telomerase activity in normal human cells leads to elongation of telomeres and extended replicative life span. *Current Biology* 1998, 8, 5, 279-282

160. Kim, N. W.; Piatyszek, M. A.; Prowse, K. R.; Harley, C. B.; West, M. D.; Ho, P. L.; Coviello, G. M.; Wright, W. E.; Weinrich, S. L.; Shay, J. W. Specific association of human telomerase activity with immortal cells and cancer. *Science* 1994, 266, 5193, 2011-2015

161. Calvin, B. H. Telomerase Therapeutics for Degenerative Diseases. *Current Molecular Medicine* 2005, 5, 2, 205-211

162. Caplan, A. I. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. *J Cell Physiol* 2007, 213, 2, 341-347

163. Urquidi, V.; Tarin, D.; Goodison, S. Role of telomerase in cell senescence and oncogenesis. *Annu Rev Med* 2000, 51, 65-79

164. Counter, C. M.; Avilion, A. A.; LeFeuvre, C. E.; Stewart, N. G.; Greider, C. W.; Harley, C. B.; Bacchetti, S. Telomere shortening associated with chromosome instability is arrested in immortal cells which express telomerase activity. *The EMBO journal* 1992, 11, 5, 1921-1929

165. Günes, C.; Rudolph, K. L. The Role of Telomeres in Stem Cells and Cancer. *Cell* 2013, 152, 3, 390-393

166. Tang, H.; Xiang, Y.; Jiang, X.; Ke, Y.; Xiao, Z.; Guo, Y.; Wang, Q.; Du, M.; Qin, L.; Zou, Y.; et al. Dual expression of hTERT and VEGF prolongs life span and enhances angiogenic ability of aged BMSCs. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2013, 440, 4, 502-508

167. Harley, C. Telomerase Therapeutics for Degenerative Diseases. *Current Molecular Medicine* 2005, 5, 2, 205-211

168. Kuru, G.; Üner, G.; Bedir, E. Is telomerase a hidden player? Therapeutic potential of natural telomerase activators against age-related diseases. *Phytochemistry Reviews* 2023, 22, 1, 35-72

169. Miwa, S.; Czapiewski, R.; Wan, T.; Bell, A.; Hill, K. N.; von Zglinicki, T.; Saretzki, G. Decreased mTOR signalling reduces mitochondrial ROS in brain via accumulation of the telomerase protein TERT within mitochondria. *Aging (Albany NY)* 2016, 8, 10, 2551-2567

170. Wick, M.; Zubov, D.; Hagen, G. Genomic organization and promoter characterization of the gene encoding the human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT). *Gene* 1999, 232, 1, 97-106

171. Haendeler, J.; Dröse, S.; Büchner, N.; Jakob, S.; Altschmied, J.; Goy, C.; Spyridopoulos, I.; Zeiher, A. M.; Brandt, U.; Dimmeler, S. Mitochondrial telomerase reverse transcriptase binds to and protects mitochondrial DNA and function from damage. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* 2009, 29, 6, 929-935

172. Singhapol, C.; Pal, D.; Czapiewski, R.; Porika, M.; Nelson, G.; Saretzki, G. C. Mitochondrial telomerase protects cancer cells from nuclear DNA damage and apoptosis. *PLoS ONE* 2013, 8, 1, e52989

173. Iannilli, F.; Zalfa, F.; Gartner, A.; Bagni, C.; Dotti, C. G. Cytoplasmic TERT Associates to RNA Granules in Fully Mature Neurons: Role in the Translational Control of the Cell Cycle Inhibitor p15INK4B. *PLoS ONE* 2013, 8, 6, e66602

174. Sharma, N. K.; Reyes, A.; Green, P.; Caron, M. J.; Bonini, M. G.; Gordon, D. M.; Holt, I. J.; Santos, J. H. Human telomerase acts as a hTR-independent reverse transcriptase in mitochondria. *Nucleic Acids Research* 2011, 40, 2, 712-725

175. Miwa, S.; Saretzki, G. Telomerase and mTOR in the brain: the mitochondria connection. *Neural Regeneration Research* 2017, 12, 3, 358

176. Eitan, E.; Braverman, C.; Tichon, A.; Gitler, D.; Hutchison, E. R.; Mattson, M. P.; Priel, E. Excitotoxic and Radiation Stress Increase TERT Levels in the Mitochondria and Cytosol of Cerebellar Purkinje Neurons. *Cerebellum* 2016, 15, 4, 509-517

177. Indran, I. R.; Hande, M. P.; Pervaiz, S. hTERT overexpression alleviates intracellular ROS production, improves mitochondrial function, and inhibits ROS-mediated apoptosis in cancer cells. *Cancer research* 2011, 71, 1, 266-276

178. Chung, H. K.; Cheong, C.; Song, J.; Lee, H.-W. Extratelomeric functions of telomerase. *Current Molecular Medicine* 2005, 5, 2, 233-241

179. Ovando-Roche, P.; Yu, J. S. L.; Testori, S.; Ho, C.; Cui, W. TRF2-Mediated Stabilization of hREST4 Is Critical for the Differentiation and Maintenance of Neural Progenitors. *Stem Cells* 2014, 32, 8, 2111-2122

180. Saretzki, G. Extra-telomeric functions of human telomerase: cancer, mitochondria and oxidative stress. *Curr Pharm Des* 2014, 20, 41, 6386-6403

181. Wolkowitz, O. M.; Mellon, S. H.; Epel, E. S.; Lin, J.; Dhabhar, F. S.; Su, Y.; Reus, V. I.; Rosser, R.; Burke, H. M.; Kupferman, E. Leukocyte telomere length in major depression: correlations with chronicity, inflammation and oxidative stress-preliminary findings. *PLoS ONE* 2011, 6, 3, e17837

182. Ishaq, A.; Hanson, P. S.; Morris, C. M.; Saretzki, G. Telomerase Activity is Downregulated Early During Human Brain Development. *Genes* 2016, 7, 6, 27

183. Nassour, J.; Radford, R.; Correia, A.; Fusté, J. M.; Schoell, B.; Jauch, A.; Shaw, R. J.; Karlseder, J. Autophagic cell death restricts chromosomal instability during replicative crisis. *Nature* 2019, 565, 7741, 659-663

184. Martínez, P.; Blasco, M. A. Telomeric and extra-telomeric roles for telomerase and the telomere-binding proteins. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2011, 11, 3, 161

185. Wan, M.; Gray-Gaillard, E. F.; Elisseeff, J. H. Cellular senescence in musculoskeletal homeostasis, diseases, and regeneration. *Bone Research* 2021, 9, 1, 41

186. Benazzo, F.; Perticarini, L.; Padolino, A.; Castelli, A.; Gifuni, P.; Lovato, M.; Manzini, C.; Giordan, N. A multi-centre, open label, long-term follow-up study to evaluate the benefits of a new viscoelastic hydrogel (Hymovis®) in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* 2016, 20, 5, 959-968

187. Hunter, D. J.; Bierma-Zeinstra, S. Osteoarthritis. The Lancet 2019, 393, 10182, 1745-1759

188. Blinova, E. A.; Zinnatova, E. V.; Barkovskaya, M. S.; Borisov, V. I.; Sizikov, A. E.; Kozhevnikov, V. S.; Rubtsov, N. B.; Kozlov, V. A. Telomere Length of Individual Chromosomes in Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine* 2016, 160, 6, 779-782

189. Harbo, M.; Bendix, L.; Bay-Jensen, A.-C.; Graakjaer, J.; Søe, K.; Andersen, T. L.; Kjaersgaard-Andersen, P.; Koelvraa, S.; Delaisse, J.-M. The distribution pattern of critically short telomeres in human osteoarthritic knees. *Arthritis research & therapy* 2012, 14, 1-9

190. Hou, G.; Lu, H.; Chen, M.; Yao, H.; Zhao, H. Oxidative stress participates in agerelated changes in rat lumbar intervertebral discs. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics* 2014, 59, 3, 665-669

191. Saberi, M.; Zhang, X.; Mobasheri, A. Targeting mitochondrial dysfunction with small molecules in intervertebral disc aging and degeneration. *GeroScience* 2021, 43, 2, 517-537

192. Feng, C.; Liu, H.; Yang, M.; Zhang, Y.; Huang, B.; Zhou, Y. Disc cell senescence in intervertebral disc degeneration: causes and molecular pathways. *Cell cycle* 2016, 15, 13, 1674-1684

193. Chen, H.-W.; Zhang, G.-Z.; Liu, M.-Q.; Zhang, L.-J.; Kang, J.-H.; Wang, Z.-H.; Liu, W.-Z.; Lin, A.-X.; Kang, X.-W. Natural Products of Pharmacology and Mechanisms in Nucleus Pulposus Cells and Intervertebral Disc Degeneration. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine* 2021, 2021,

194. Valdes, A. M.; Richards, J. B.; Gardner, J. P.; Swaminathan, R.; Kimura, M.; Xiaobin, L.; Aviv, A.; Spector, T. D. Telomere length in leukocytes correlates with bone mineral density and is shorter in women with osteoporosis. *Osteoporosis International* 2007, 18, 9, 1203-1210

195. Gamal, R. M.; Hammam, N.; Zakary, M. M.; Abdelaziz, M. M.; Razek, M. R. A.; Mohamed, M. S. E.; Emad, Y.; Elnaggar, M. G.; Furst, D. E. Telomere dysfunction-related serological markers and oxidative stress markers in rheumatoid arthritis patients: correlation with diseases activity. *Clinical Rheumatology* 2018, 37, 12, 3239-3246

196. Pignolo, R. J.; Suda, R. K.; McMillan, E. A.; Shen, J.; Lee, S.-H.; Choi, Y.; Wright, A. C.; Johnson, F. B. Defects in telomere maintenance molecules impair osteoblast differentiation and promote osteoporosis. *Aging Cell* 2008, 7, 1, 23-31

197. Wu, J.; Wang, D.; Ruan, D.; He, Q.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, C.; Xin, H.; Xu, C.; Liu, Y. Prolonged expansion of human nucleus pulposus cells expressing human telomerase reverse transcriptase mediated by lentiviral vector. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research* 2014, 32, 1, 159-166

198. Chung, S. A.; Wei, A. Q.; Connor, D. E.; Webb, G. C.; Molloy, T.; Pajic, M.; Diwan, A. D. Nucleus Pulposus Cellular Longevity by Telomerase Gene Therapy. *Spine* 2007, 32, 11, 1188-1196

199. Ip, F. C. F.; Ng, Y. P.; An, H. J.; Dai, Y.; Pang, H. H.; Hu, Y. Q.; Chin, A. C.; Harley, C. B.; Wong, Y. H.; Ip, N. Y. Cycloastragenol Is a Potent Telomerase Activator in Neuronal Cells: Implications for Depression Management. *Neurosignals* 2014, 22, 1, 52-63

200. Le Saux, C. J.; Davy, P.; Brampton, C.; Ahuja, S. S.; Fauce, S.; Shivshankar, P.; Nguyen, H.; Ramaseshan, M.; Tressler, R.; Pirot, Z. A novel telomerase activator suppresses lung damage in a murine model of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *PloS one* 2013, 8, 3, e58423

201. Aslanipour, B.; Gülcemal, D.; Nalbantsoy, A.; Yusufoglu, H.; Bedir, E. Secondary metabolites from Astragalus karjaginii BORISS and the evaluation of their effects on cytokine release and hemolysis. *Fitoterapia* 2017, 122, 26-33

202. Harley, C. B.; Liu, W.; Blasco, M.; Vera, E.; Andrews, W. H.; Briggs, L. A.; Raffaele, J. M. A natural product telomerase activator as part of a health maintenance program. *Rejuvenation Res* 2011, 14, 1, 45-56

203. Nalbantsoy, A.; Nesil, T.; Yılmaz-Dilsiz, Ö.; Aksu, G.; Khan, S.; Bedir, E. Evaluation of the immunomodulatory properties in mice and in vitro anti-inflammatory activity of cycloartane type saponins from Astragalus species. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* 2012, 139, 2, 574-581

204. Valenzuela, H. F.; Fuller, T.; Edwards, J.; Finger, D.; Molgora, B. Cycloastragenol extends T cell proliferation by increasing telomerase activity. *Journal of Immunology* 2009, 182, 1

205. Povedano, J. M.; Martinez, P.; Serrano, R.; Tejera, Á.; Gómez-López, G.; Bobadilla, M.; Flores, J. M.; Bosch, F.; Blasco, M. A. Therapeutic effects of telomerase in mice with pulmonary fibrosis induced by damage to the lungs and short telomeres. *Elife* 2018, 7, e31299

206. Jaskelioff, M.; Muller, F. L.; Paik, J.-H.; Thomas, E.; Jiang, S.; Adams, A. C.; Sahin, E.; Kost-Alimova, M.; Protopopov, A.; Cadiñanos, J.; et al. Telomerase reactivation reverses tissue degeneration in aged telomerase-deficient mice. *Nature* 2011, 469, 7328, 102-106

207. Yung, L. Y.; Lam, W. S.; Ho, M. K. C.; Hu, Y.; Ip, F. C. F.; Pang, H.; Chin, A. C.; Harley, C. B.; Ip, N. Y.; Wong, Y. H. Astragaloside IV and Cycloastragenol Stimulate the Phosphorylation of Extracellular Signal-Regulated Protein Kinase in Multiple Cell Types. *Planta Med* 2012, 78, 02, 115-121

208. Takaoka, M. Resveratrol, a new phenolic compound, from Veratrum grandiflorum. *Nippon Kagaku Kaishi* 1939, 60, 1090-1100

209. Lee, S.-Y.; Chang, W.-L.; Li, Z.-X.; Kirkby, N. S.; Tsai, W.-C.; Huang, S.-F.; Ou, C.-H.; Chang, T.-C. Astragaloside VI and cycloastragenol-6-O-beta-D-glucoside promote wound healing in vitro and in vivo. *Phytomedicine* 2018, 38, 183-191

210. Baur, J. A.; Sinclair, D. A. Therapeutic potential of resveratrol: the in vivo evidence. *Nature reviews Drug discovery* 2006, 5, 6, 493

211. Harikumar, K. B.; Aggarwal, B. B. Resveratrol: A multitargeted agent for ageassociated chronic diseases. *Cell cycle* 2008, 7, 8, 1020-1035

212. Xia, L.; Wang, X.; Hu, X.; Guo, X.; Shang, Y.; Chen, H.; Zeng, C.; Zhang, F.; Chen, J. Resveratrol reduces endothelial progenitor cells senescence through augmentation of telomerase activity by Akt-dependent mechanisms. *British journal of pharmacology* 2008, 155, 3, 387-394

213. WANG, X.-b.; ZHU, L.; HUANG, J.; YIN, Y.-g.; KONG, X.-q.; RONG, Q.-f.; SHI, A.-w.; CAO, K.-j. Resveratrol-induced augmentation of telomerase activity delays senescence of endothelial progenitor cells. *Chinese Medical Journal* 2011, 124, 24, 4310-4315

214. Zhai, X. X.; Ding, J. C.; Tang, Z. M.; Li, J. G.; Li, Y. C.; Yan, Y. H.; Sun, J. C.; Zhang, C. X. Effects of resveratrol on the proliferation, apoptosis and telomerase ability of human A431 epidermoid carcinoma cells. *Oncology letters* 2016, 11, 5, 3015-3018

215. Lanzilli, G.; Fuggetta, M. P.; Tricarico, M.; Cottarelli, A.; Serafino, A.; Falchetti, R.; Ravagnan, G.; Turriziani, M.; Adamo, R.; Franzese, O. Resveratrol down-regulates the growth and telomerase activity of breast cancer cells in vitro. *International journal of oncology* 2006, 28, 3, 641-648

216. Rusin, M.; Zajkowicz, A.; Butkiewicz, D. Resveratrol induces senescence-like growth inhibition of U-2 OS cells associated with the instability of telomeric DNA and upregulation of BRCA1. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development* 2009, 130, 8, 528-537

217. Kunnumakkara, A. B.; Harsha, C.; Banik, K.; Vikkurthi, R.; Sailo, B. L.; Bordoloi, D.; Gupta, S. C.; Aggarwal, B. B. Is curcumin bioavailability a problem in humans: lessons from clinical trials. *Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism & Toxicology* 2019, 15, 9, 705-733

218. Taka, T.; Changtam, C.; Thaichana, P.; Kaewtunjai, N.; Suksamrarn, A.; Lee, T. R.; Tuntiwechapikul, W. Curcuminoid derivatives enhance telomerase activity in an in vitro TRAP assay. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters* 2014, 24, 22, 5242-5246

219. Lee, J. H.; Chung, I. K. Curcumin inhibits nuclear localization of telomerase by dissociating the Hsp90 co-chaperone p23 from hTERT. *Cancer Letters* 2010, 290, 1, 76-86

220. Ramachandran, C.; Fonseca, H. B.; Jhabvala, P.; Escalon, E. A.; Melnick, S. J. Curcumin inhibits telomerase activity through human telomerase reverse transcritpase in MCF-7 breast cancer cell line. *Cancer Letters* 2002, 184, 1, 1-6

221. Xiao, Z.; Zhang, A.; Lin, J.; Zheng, Z.; Shi, X.; Di, W.; Qi, W.; Zhu, Y.; Zhou, G.; Fang, Y. Telomerase: a target for therapeutic effects of curcumin and a curcumin derivative in A $\beta$ 1-42 insult in vitro. *PLoS ONE* 2014, 9, 7, e101251

222. Kim, J.-H.; Park, S.-H.; Nam, S.-W.; Kwon, H.-J.; Kim, B.-W.; Kim, W.-J.; Choi, Y. H. Curcumin stimulates proliferation, stemness acting signals and migration of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *International journal of molecular medicine* 2011, 28, 3, 429-435

223. Tsoukalas, D.; Fragkiadaki, P.; Docea, A. O.; Alegakis, A. K.; Sarandi, E.; Thanasoula, M.; Spandidos, D. A.; Tsatsakis, A.; Razgonova, M. P.; Calina, D. Discovery of potent telomerase activators: Unfolding new therapeutic and anti-aging perspectives. *Molecular Medicine Reports* 2019, 20, 4, 3701-3708

224. Karsono, A. H.; Tandrasasmita, O. M.; Berlian, G.; Tjandrawinata, R. R. Potential antiaging effects of DLBS1649, a centella asiatica bioactive extract. *Journal of Experimental Pharmacology* 2021, 781-795

225. Tsoukalas, D.; Buga, A. M.; Docea, A. O.; Sarandi, E.; Mitrut, R.; Renieri, E.; Spandidos, D. A.; Rogoveanu, I.; Cercelaru, L.; Niculescu, M.; et al. Reversal of brain aging by targeting telomerase: A nutraceutical approach. *Int J Mol Med* 2021, 48, 5, 199

226. Jacobs, B. P.; Browner, W. S. J. T. A. j. o. m. Ginkgo biloba: a living fossil. 2000, 108, 4, 341-342

227. Leistner, E.; Drewke, C. J. J. o. n. p. Ginkgo biloba and ginkgotoxin. 2010, 73, 1, 86-92

228. Dong, X. X.; Hui, Z. J.; Xiang, W. X.; Rong, Z. F.; Jian, S.; Zhu, C. J. Ginkgo Biloba Extract Reduces Endothelial Progenitor-Cell Senescence Through Augmentation of Telomerase Activity. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology* 2007, 49, 2,

229. Sheng, R.; Gu, Z.-L.; Xie, M.-L. Epigallocatechin gallate, the major component of polyphenols in green tea, inhibits telomere attrition mediated cardiomyocyte apoptosis in cardiac hypertrophy. *International journal of cardiology* 2013, 162, 3, 199-209

230. Geng, L.; Liu, Z.; Zhang, W.; Li, W.; Wu, Z.; Wang, W.; Ren, R.; Su, Y.; Wang, P.; Sun, L.; et al. Chemical screen identifies a geroprotective role of quercetin in premature aging. *Protein & Cell* 2019, 10, 6, 417-435

231. Wang, J.; Zhang, P.; TU, Z. J. J. o. T. M. M. U. Effects of quercetin on proliferation of lung cancer cell line A549 by down-regulating hTERT gene expression. 2003,

232. Sharma, H.; Sen, S.; Singh, N. J. C. b.; therapy. Molecular pathways in the chemosensitization of cisplatin by quercetin in human head and neck cancer. 2005, 4, 9, 949-955

233. Vaziri, H.; Benchimol, S. Reconstitution of telomerase activity in normal human cells leads to elongation of telomeres and extended replicative life span. *Current Biology* 1998, 8, 5, 279-282

234. Amaroli, A.; Agas, D.; Laus, F.; Cuteri, V.; Hanna, R.; Sabbieti, M. G.; Benedicenti, S. The effects of photobiomodulation of 808 nm diode laser therapy at higher fluence on the in vitro osteogenic differentiation of bone marrow stromal cells. *Frontiers in physiology* 2018, 9, 123

235. Horwitz, E. M.; Gordon, P. L.; Koo, W. K.; Marx, J. C.; Neel, M. D.; McNall, R. Y.; Muul, L.; Hofmann, T. Isolated allogeneic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells engraft and stimulate growth in children with osteogenesis imperfecta: Implications for cell therapy of bone. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2002, 99, 13, 8932-8937

236. Marquez-Curtis, L. A.; Janowska-Wieczorek, A.; McGann, L. E.; Elliott, J. A. Mesenchymal stromal cells derived from various tissues: biological, clinical and cryopreservation aspects. *Cryobiology* 2015, 71, 2, 181-197

237. Desai, N.; Rambhia, P.; Gishto, A. Human embryonic stem cell cultivation: historical perspective and evolution of xeno-free culture systems. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2015, 13, 9

238. Serakinci, N.; Graakjaer, J.; Kolvraa, S. Telomere stability and telomerase in mesenchymal stem cells. *Biochimie* 2008, 90, 1, 33-40

239. Fehrer, C.; Lepperdinger, G. Mesenchymal stem cell aging. *Experimental Gerontology* 2005, 40, 12, 926-930

240. Morrison, S. J.; Spradling, A. C. Stem Cells and Niches: Mechanisms That Promote Stem Cell Maintenance throughout Life. *Cell* 2008, 132, 4, 598-611

241. Ng, H.-H.; Surani, M. A. The transcriptional and signalling networks of pluripotency. *Nature cell biology* 2011, 13, 5, 490-496

242. Bertolo, A.; Baur, M.; Guerrero, J.; Pötzel, T.; Stoyanov, J. Autofluorescence is a reliable in vitro marker of cellular senescence in human mesenchymal stromal cells. *Scientific Reports* 2019, 9, 1, 2074

243. Whittemore, K.; Derevyanko, A.; Martinez, P.; Serrano, R.; Pumarola, M.; Bosch, F.; Blasco, M. A. Telomerase gene therapy ameliorates the effects of neurodegeneration associated to short telomeres in mice. *Aging (Albany NY)* 2019, 11, 10, 3280-3297

244. Desai, N.; Rambhia, P.; Gishto, A. Human embryonic stem cell cultivation: historical perspective and evolution of xeno-free culture systems. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology* 2015, 13, 1-15

245. Zhou, X.; Hong, Y.; Zhang, H.; Li, X. Mesenchymal stem cell senescence and rejuvenation: current status and challenges. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology* 2020, 8, 364

246. Yudoh, K.; Matsuno, H.; Nakazawa, F.; Katayama, R.; Kimura, T. Reconstituting telomerase activity using the telomerase catalytic subunit prevents the telomere shorting and replicative senescence in human osteoblasts. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2001, 16, 8, 1453-1464

247. Shi, S.; Gronthos, S.; Chen, S.; Reddi, A.; Counter, C. M.; Robey, P. G.; Wang, C. Y. Bone formation by human postnatal bone marrow stromal stem cells is enhanced by telomerase expression. *Nature Biotechnology* 2002, 20, 6, 587-591

248. Simonsen, J. L.; Rosada, C.; Serakinci, N.; Justesen, J.; Stenderup, K.; Rattan, S. I.; Jensen, T. G.; Kassem, M. Telomerase expression extends the proliferative life-span and maintains the osteogenic potential of human bone marrow stromal cells. *Nature Biotechnology* 2002, 20, 6, 592-596

249. Saeed, H.; Iqtedar, M. Aberrant gene expression profiles, during in vitro osteoblast differentiation, of telomerase deficient mouse bone marrow stromal stem cells (mBMSCs). *Journal of Biomedical Science* 2015, 22, 1, 1-10

250. Ekiz, G. n.; Yılmaz, S.; Yusufoglu, H.; Kırmızıbayrak, P. B.; Bedir, E. Microbial transformation of cycloastragenol and astragenol by endophytic fungi isolated from astragalus species. *Journal of natural products* 2019, 82, 11, 2979-2985

251. Fronza, M.; Heinzmann, B.; Hamburger, M.; Laufer, S.; Merfort, I. Determination of the wound healing effect of Calendula extracts using the scratch assay with 3T3 fibroblasts. *Journal of ethnopharmacology* 2009, 126, 3, 463-467

252. Karaman, O.; Onak, G.; Demirci, E. A.; Kahraman, E. J. T. E. R. J. Integrin binding peptide promotes in vitro wound closure in the L929 mouse fibroblasts. 2017, 3, 3, 207-213

253. Liang, C.-C.; Park, A. Y.; Guan, J.-L. In vitro scratch assay: a convenient and inexpensive method for analysis of cell migration in vitro. *Nature protocols* 2007, 2, 2, 329-333

254. Wiese, D. M.; Ruttan, C. C.; Wood, C. A.; Ford, B. N.; Braid, L. R. Accumulating transcriptome drift precedes cell aging in human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stromal cells serially cultured to replicative senescence. *Stem cells translational medicine* 2019, 8, 9, 945-958

255. Guan, Y. T.; Xie, Y.; Li, D. S.; Zhu, Y. Y.; Zhang, X. L.; Feng, Y. L.; Chen, Y. P.; Xu, L. J.; Liao, P. F.; Wang, G. Comparison of biological characteristics of mesenchymal stem cells derived from the human umbilical cord and decidua parietalis. *Molecular Medicine Reports* 2019, 20, 1, 633-639

256. Mohamad Kamal, N. S.; Safuan, S.; Shamsuddin, S.; Foroozandeh, P. Aging of the cells: Insight into cellular senescence and detection Methods. *European Journal of Cell Biology* 2020, 99, 6, 151108

257. Gruber, H.; Somayaji, S.; Riley, F.; Hoelscher, G.; Norton, H.; Ingram, J.; Hanley Jr, E. Human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells: serial passaging, doubling time and cell senescence. *Biotechnic & Histochemistry* 2012, 87, 4, 303-311

258. Legzdina, D.; Romanauska, A.; Nikulshin, S.; Kozlovska, T.; Berzins, U. Characterization of senescence of culture-expanded human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *International journal of stem cells* 2016, 9, 1, 124-136

259. Fafián-Labora, J.; Fernández-Pernas, P.; Fuentes, I.; De Toro, J.; Oreiro, N.; Sangiao-Alvarellos, S.; Mateos, J.; Arufe, M. Influence of age on rat bone-marrow mesenchymal stem cells potential. *Scientific Reports* 2015, 5, 1, 16765

260. Caplan, A. I. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. *Journal of cellular physiology* 2007, 213, 2, 341-347

261. Li, Y.; Charif, N.; Mainard, D.; Bensoussan, D.; Stoltz, J.-F.; de Isla, N. Donor's age dependent proliferation decrease of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells is linked to diminished clonogenicity. *Bio-medical materials and engineering* 2014, 24, s1, 47-52

262. Gronthos, S.; Chen, S.; Wang, C. Y.; Robey, P. G.; Shi, S. Telomerase accelerates osteogenesis of bone marrow stromal stem cells by upregulation of CBFA1, osterix, and osteocalcin. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2003, 18, 4, 716-722

263. Kang, S. K.; Putnam, L.; Dufour, J.; Ylostalo, J.; Jung, J. S.; Bunnell, B. A. Expression of Telomerase Extends the Lifespan and Enhances Osteogenic Differentiation of Adipose Tissue-Derived Stromal Cells. *Stem Cells* 2004, 22, 7, 1356-1372

264. Schmole, A. C.; Hubner, R.; Beller, M.; Rolfs, A.; Frech, M. J. Small molecules in stem cell research. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol* 2013, 14, 1, 36-45

265. Beattie, G. M.; Lopez, A. D.; Bucay, N.; Hinton, A.; Firpo, M. T.; King, C. C.; Hayek, A. Activin A maintains pluripotency of human embryonic stem cells in the absence of feeder layers. *Stem Cells* 2005, 23, 4, 489-495

266. Wynn, R. F.; Cross, M. A.; Hatton, C.; Will, A. M.; Lashford, L. S.; Dexter, T. M.; Testa, N. G. Accelerated telomere shortening in young recipients of allogeneic bonemarrow transplants. *Lancet* 1998, 351, 9097, 178-181

267. Bianco, P.; Robey, P. G.; Simmons, P. J. Mesenchymal stem cells: revisiting history, concepts, and assays. *Cell Stem Cell* 2008, 2, 4, 313-319

268. Malhotra, S.; Hu, M. S.; Marshall, C. D.; Leavitt, T.; Cheung, A.; Gonzalez, J. G.; Kaur, H.; Lorenz, H. P.; Longaker, M. T. Mesenchymal stromal cells as cell-based therapeutics for wound healing. *Stem cells international* 2016, 2016,

269. Szychlinska, M. A.; Calabrese, G.; Ravalli, S.; Parrinello, N. L.; Forte, S.; Castrogiovanni, P.; Pricoco, E.; Imbesi, R.; Castorina, S.; Leonardi, R. Cycloastragenol as an exogenous enhancer of chondrogenic differentiation of human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. A morphological study. *Cells* 2020, 9, 2, 347

270. Szychlinska, M. A.; Stoddart, M. J.; D'Amora, U.; Ambrosio, L.; Alini, M.; Musumeci, G. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Based Cartilage Regeneration Approach and Cell Senescence: Can We Manipulate Cell Aging and Function? *Tissue Engineering Part B: Reviews* 2017, 23, 6, 529-539

271. Yu, T.; Wang, Z.; You, X.; Zhou, H.; He, W.; Li, B.; Xia, J.; Zhu, H.; Zhao, Y.; Yu, G.; et al. Resveratrol promotes osteogenesis and alleviates osteoporosis by inhibiting p53. *Aging* 2020, 12, 11, 10359-10369

272. Wu, J.; Zeng, Z.; Li, Y.; Qin, H.; Zuo, C.; Zhou, C.; Xu, D. Cycloastragenol protects against glucocorticoid-induced osteogenic differentiation inhibition by activating telomerase. *Phytotherapy Research* 2021, 35, 4, 2034-2044

273. Yu, Y.; Wu, J.; Li, J.; Liu, Y.; Zheng, X.; Du, M.; Zhou, L.; Yang, Y.; Luo, S.; Hu, W.; et al. Cycloastragenol prevents age-related bone loss: Evidence in d-galactose-treated and aged rats. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy* 2020, 128, 110304

274. Mirsaidi, A.; Kleinhans, K. N.; Rimann, M.; Tiaden, A. N.; Stauber, M.; Rudolph, K. L.; Richards, P. J. Telomere length, telomerase activity and osteogenic differentiation are maintained in adipose-derived stromal cells from senile osteoporotic SAMP6 mice. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine* 2012, 6, 5, 378-390

275. Zhou, Y.; Zhou, P.; Xin, Y.; Wang, J.; Zhu, Z.; Hu, J.; Wei, S.; Ma, H. Trend of telomerase activity change during human iPSC self-renewal and differentiation revealed by a quartz crystal microbalance based assay. *Scientific Reports* 2014, 4, 1, 6978
276. Zhang, J.; Zhao, J.; Dahan, P.; Lu, V.; Zhang, C.; Li, H.; Teitell, M. A. Metabolism in Pluripotent Stem Cells and Early Mammalian Development. *Cell Metabolism* 2018, 27, 2, 332-338

277. Saeed, H.; Qiu, W.; Li, C.; Flyvbjerg, A.; Abdallah, B. M.; Kassem, M. Telomerase activity promotes osteoblast differentiation by modulating IGF-signaling pathway. *Biogerontology* 2015, 16, 6, 733-745

278. Ip, F. C.; Ng, Y. P.; An, H. J.; Dai, Y.; Pang, H. H.; Hu, Y. Q.; Chin, A. C.; Harley, C. B.; Wong, Y. H.; Ip, N. Y. Cycloastragenol is a potent telomerase activator in neuronal cells: implications for depression management. *Neurosignals* 2014, 22, 1, 52-63

279. Kunert, R.; Reinhart, D. Advances in recombinant antibody manufacturing. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 2016, 100, 3451-3461

280. Spahn, P. N.; Zhang, X.; Hu, Q.; Lu, H.; Hamaker, N. K.; Hefzi, H.; Li, S.; Kuo, C. C.; Huang, Y.; Lee, J. C. Restoration of DNA repair mitigates genome instability and increases productivity of Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 2022, 119, 3, 963-982

281. Tjio, J. H.; Puck, T. T. Genetics of somatic mammalian cells: II. Chromosomal constitution of cells in tissue culture. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 1958, 108, 2, 259

282. Krutilina, R. I.; Oei, S. L.; Buchlow, G.; Yau, P. M.; Zalensky, A. O.; Zalenskaya, I. A.; Bradbury, E. M.; Tomilin, N. V. A negative regulator of telomere-length protein TRF1 is associated with interstitial (TTAGGG)n blocks in immortal Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2001, 280, 2, 471-475

283. Crea, F.; Sarti, D.; Falciani, F.; Al-Rubeai, M. Over-expression of hTERT in CHO K1 results in decreased apoptosis and reduced serum dependency. *Journal of biotechnology* 2006, 121, 2, 109-123

284. Crea, F.; Sarti, D.; Falciani, F.; Al-Rubeai, M. Growth, Apoptosis and Functional Genomics Analysis of CHO-K1 Over-Expressing Telomerase. *Cell Technology for Cell Products* 2007, 41-45

285. Turilova, V. I.; Goryachaya, T. S.; Yakovleva, T. K. Chinese hamster ovary cell line DXB-11: chromosomal instability and karyotype heterogeneity. *Molecular Cytogenetics* 2021, 14, 1-12

286. Hande, M. P.; Balajee, A. S.; Natarajan, A. T. Induction of telomerase activity by UV-irradiation in Chinese hamster cells. *Oncogene* 1997, 15, 14, 1747-1752

287. Pereira, S.; Kildegaard, H. F.; Andersen, M. R. Impact of CHO metabolism on cell growth and protein production: An overview of toxic and inhibiting metabolites and nutrients. *Biotechnology Journal* 2018, 13, 3, 1700499

288. Bandyopadhyay, A. A.; O'Brien, S. A.; Zhao, L.; Fu, H. Y.; Vishwanathan, N.; Hu, W. S. Recurring genomic structural variation leads to clonal instability and loss of productivity. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 2019, 116, 1, 41-53

289. He, Q.; Xu, J.; Vandermark, E.; Tian, J.; Qian, Y.; Chelius, C.; Lee, J.; Borys, M. C.; Li, Z. J.; Pendse, G. High throughput screening data for a case study of CHO cell culture process development. *Data in Brief* 2021, 39, 107491

290. Tian, J. Use of phenolic antioxidants in cell culture for the production of proteins. 2018,

291. Xu, J.; Rehmann, M. S.; Tian, J.; He, Q.; Chen, J.; Lee, J.; Borys, M. C.; Li, Z. J. Rosmarinic acid, a new raw material, doubled monoclonal antibody titer in cell culture manufacturing. *Biochemical Engineering Journal* 2020, 160, 107637

292. Boehm, R. Bioproduction of therapeutic proteins in the 21st century and the role of plants and plant cells as production platforms. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 2007, 1102, 1, 121-134

293. Wong, C. H.; Siah, K. W.; Lo, A. W. Estimation of clinical trial success rates and related parameters. *Biostatistics* 2019, 20, 2, 273-286

294. Martin, K. P.; Grimaldi, C.; Grempler, R.; Hansel, S.; Kumar, S. Trends in industrialization of biotherapeutics: a survey of product characteristics of 89 antibodybased biotherapeutics. *mAbs* 2023, 15, 1, 2191301

295. Toronjo-Urquiza, L.; James, D. C.; Nagy, T.; Falconer, R. J. Screening naturally occurring phenolic antioxidants for their suitability as additives to CHO cell culture media used to produce monoclonal antibodies. *Antioxidants* 2019, 8, 6, 159

296. Yun, Z.; Takagi, M.; Yoshida, T. Effect of antioxidants on the apoptosis of CHO cells and production of tissue plasminogen activator in suspension culture. *Journal of bioscience and bioengineering* 2001, 91, 6, 581-585

297. Akiyama, M.; Yamada, O.; Kanda, N.; Akita, S.; Kawano, T.; Ohno, T.; Mizoguchi, H.; Eto, Y.; Anderson, K. C.; Yamada, H. Telomerase overexpression in K562 leukemia cells protects against apoptosis by serum deprivation and double-stranded DNA break inducing agents, but not against DNA synthesis inhibitors. *Cancer letters* 2002, 178, 2, 187-197

298. Samaranayake, H.; Wirth, T.; Schenkwein, D.; Räty, J. K.; Ylä-Herttuala, S. Challenges in monoclonal antibody-based therapies. *Annals of Medicine* 2009, 41, 5, 322-331

299. Toronjo-Urquiza, L.; Acosta-Martin, A. E.; James, D. C.; Nagy, T.; Falconer, R. J. Resveratrol addition to Chinese hamster ovary cell culture media: The effect on cell growth, monoclonal antibody synthesis, and its chemical modification. *Biotechnology progress* 2020, 36, 3, e2940

# VITA

# Gülten KURU

ORCID ID: 0000-0001-5286-4933

#### **Education:**

MSc., Biotechnology (2013), İzmir Institute of Technology, İzmir – Turkey Thesis: Investigations on The Effects of Carbon Sources and pH on Exopolygalacturonase Production by *Aspergillus Sojae* Advisor: Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ali Oğuz Büyükkileci

B.Eng, Bioengineering (2010), Ege University, İzmir –Turkey
Thesis: Variation of Oleuropein Amount in Olive Leaves (*Olea Europaea* L.)
Depending on Harvesting Time
Advisor: Prof. Dr. Erdal Bedir

### Scholarships:

2020-2023: TÜBİTAK, Project No: 119Z870, Scholarship Student 2018-2022: 100/2000 YOK Doctoral Scholarship in Priority Areas (Biotechnology)

## **Publications and Conference Papers:**

**Kuru, G.**, Üner, G., Bedir, E. (2023) "Is telomerase a hidden player? Therapeutic potential of natural telomerase activators against age-related diseases". Phytochem Rev 22, 35–72. doi: 10.1007/s11101-022-09829-w

**Kuru G.**, Küçüksolak M., Pulat G., Karaman O., Bedir E. (2022) "The effects of novel telomerase activators on human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) proliferation and osteogenic differentiation" Planta Med 88(15): 1500 <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1055/s-0042-1759158.</u>